
 
 
 
 
 
 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY MANAGEMENT BOARD 
 
Wednesday 14 November 2012 
4.30 pm 
Warspite Room, Council House 
 
Members: 
Councillor Mrs Aspinall, Chair 
Councillor Tuffin, Vice Chair 
Councillors Bowie, Bowyer, Casey, Philippa Davey, James, Monahan, Murphy, Mrs Nelder, 
Nicholson and Wigens. 
 
Members are invited to attend the above meeting to consider the items of business overleaf. 
 
 
Tracey Lee 
Chief Executive 

 

 

 Tracey Lee 
Chief Executive 
 
Plymouth City Council 
Civic Centre 
Plymouth  PL1 2AA 
 
Please ask for  Helen Wright, Democratic 
Support 
T 01752 304022 
E helen.wright@plymouth.gov.uk 
www.plymouth.gov.uk/democracy 
6 November 2012 

Public Document Pack



 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY MANAGEMENT BOARD 
 
 

AGENDA 
 
PART I – PUBLIC MEETING 
  
1. APOLOGIES    
  
 To receive apologies for non-attendance submitted by Overview and Scrutiny 

Management Board Members. 
  
2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST    
  
 Members will be asked to make any declarations of interest in respect of items on this 

agenda. 
  
3. MINUTES   (Pages 1 - 6) 
  
 The Management Board will be asked to agree the minutes of the meeting held on 3 

October 2012. 
  
4. CHAIR'S URGENT BUSINESS    
  
 To receive reports on business which, in the opinion of the Chair, should be brought 

forward for urgent consideration. 
  
5. TRACKING DECISIONS   (Pages 7 - 12) 
  
 The Overview and Scrutiny Management Board will monitor progress on previous 

decisions. 
  
6. CALL-INS    
  
 Members will be advised of any executive decisions that have been called in. 
  
7. URGENT EXECUTIVE DECISIONS   (Pages 13 - 14) 
  
 Members will receive a schedule of executive decisions that have been deemed urgent 

with the agreement of the Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Management Board. 
  
8. NOTICE OF FORTHCOMING KEY EXECUTIVE 

DECISIONS AND PRIVATE BUSINESS   
(Pages 15 - 24) 

  
 To receive new items from the Notice of Key Executive Decisions and Private Business. 
 
 

 

  



 

9. LEADER AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE    
  
 To hear from Councillor Evans, the Leader and Tracey Lee, Chief Executive on Council 

and city issues. 
  
10. CHILD POVERTY STRATEGY - PROGRESS UPDATE   (Pages 25 - 

126) 
  
 The Board will receive a progress update on the Child Poverty Strategy. 
  
11. FINANCE AND PERFORMANCE REPORTING   (Pages 127 - 

130) 
  
 To consider effective finance and performance reporting. 
  
12. FINANCE - CAPITAL AND REVENUE MONITORING 

REPORT (INCLUDING ADDITIONS TO THE CAPITAL 
PROGRAMME TO BE APPROVED AT COUNCIL)   

(Pages 131 - 
154) 

  
 To receive the Finance – Capital and Revenue Monitoring report (including additions to 

the capital programme to be approved at Council). 
  
13. RECOMMENDATIONS   (Pages 155 - 

156) 
  
 To receive and consider recommendations from panels, Cabinet or Council. 
  
14. WORK PROGRAMMES   (Pages 157 - 

168) 
  
 To consider and approve work programmes for each of the Panels, to include a progress 

update from each of the Chairs. 
  
15. PROJECT INITIATION DOCUMENTS (PIDS)   (Pages 169 - 

170) 
  
 To consider the proposal for a task and finish group on the Compact and relationship 

between Plymouth City Council and the voluntary and community sector submitted by 
the Customers and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Panel. 

  
16. TASK AND FINISH UPDATES/REPORTS    
  
 To receive task and finish updates/reports. 

 
 
 
 
 

  



 

17. EXEMPT BUSINESS    
  
 To consider passing a resolution under Section 100A (4) of the Local Government Act 

1972 to exclude the press and public from the meeting for the following item(s) of 
business on the grounds that it (they) involve(s) the likely disclosure of exempt 
information as defined in paragraph(s) … of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act, as 
amended by the Freedom of Information Act 2000. 

  
PART II (PRIVATE MEETING) 
 
AGENDA 
 
MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC TO NOTE 
that under the law, the Board is entitled to consider certain items in private.  Members of the 
public will be asked to leave the meeting when such items are discussed.  
 
NIL. 
  
 



����������	
����
��	����	�����	������
���
	��
������������������

����������	
����
��	����	�����	������
�
�

��
	��
������������������
�

������ !�
�
����������	
��	��
������	��	���	������	
����������	������	����	������	
�����������	�������	�����

�	������	���	�����	�����������	���	����������	����� �	!�����	
!�����	�����������	���	����������	"����� �	
��
���	
��	#��$���	#��������	��$	
��	���%����	
�����������	���	����������	&�%��� �	
	
�
���%���	���	�������'	�����������	������	"�����	�����	����� 	��$	&�%����	
	
����	��	�����$����'		������(	)����
	�������	�������	�����������	��$	����������
�	
*������ �	����������	+����	��������	
�����	���	,������ �	����$	#������	�)��$	��	
,������ �	-����	�������	�)��$	��	�������	�����������	��$	����������
� 	��$	)����	&��%��	
�����������	��

���	*������ �	
	
"��	������%	������$	��	.
�	��$	�������$	��	/�01
��	
	
�����������	
�
�������
������������
������
�������
�����������
������	����������	���
�
��������
�������������
������������������������������������
�
�����	����������
���������	
�����������
�������
�
����������������������	
	

���� "���#� ��� ��$�%#&��&'"#����
	
2�	���	�������	��	���	����	�����	���	����$	�%���$	����	����������	�����	��	�

�����$	��	
����	�����	���	����	
���������	������%�	
	

���� (�&)"�" #�����$�#� ���� ���
	
"����	����	��	$�����������	��	��������	��$�	��	�����������	��	�����$����	����	���	��$�	��	
���$����	
	

���� �#�* �����
	
�%���$	����	���	�������	��	���	������%�	���$	��	0	!���	��$	/	��
������	3143	���	
��������$	��	�	�������	�����$�	
	
"��	���5���	2���������	��������	���	���	�������	������%�	��$	����	$�����$	��$	����$	��	
��������$	��	���	�����	��$	����	�����	��	���	)�����	��$	�$���	������	����	*�������	��$	
��������	�����	��$	���	�

�������	���$	������	���	���	�����	��%�	���	�����	���	����$�����	
����	����	$����$	��������� �	
	

���� &'"#�+��*�,�� ��*�#�������
	
"����	����	��	�����	��	�����6�	��%���	���������	
	

Agenda Item 3Page 1



�����
����������
�
��� ����������!�����"���������#���������$%&$	

����  #����$���� #�,����
	
"��	�����	�$����$	����	���	�����$	��	�������	����	����$	�������	��%��$��%	���	�����	�����	
��	���	����$���$	������%��		*��	����������	����$	��	�7�������	$��������	��	�����$	���	
������%�	��	.
�	$��	��	�����	���(	������������	
	
����������	������	��%%����$	����	$��	��	���	���(	��	
�����	��������	��	���	
���%�����	
����$	������%��	���	�����	�����	�����$	��	�����$�	
	
"��	+��$	*������	�$����$	����	���	�������	���	��$	���	�

��������	��	�������	������%�	
����	����	���$	��	���	&���
���	8���	��	���	�������	��������		�����$�������	����$	��	
%����	��	���������%	������	����$	������%�	��	��$��	��	�����	�	��$��	��$�����	���	

����������	����	
��
��	����$	���(	��	���	�������	������	����	�����$��%	���	������% �	
�
"��	����$	�%���$	��	�����	���	������%�	��	.�01
�	������	����	.
�	���5���	��	�	��7����	
����	�����	���	����	������%	��	���	�����	������	
������� �	
	

����  �"&-#�,�(�&#�#������
	
"��	����$	�����$���$	���	����$���	��	$��������	��$�	��$	����$	���	������	
��������	
	
"��	��������$������	������%	����	���	����$	������%	���$	��	0	!���	3143	����$	��	
�����$�$	��	���	����(��%	������������	
	
"��	�����	�����$���$	����	���	
��	������%	���$	��	34	��
������	3143	��$	����	
�7�������	�����������		���	�����	��	���	����6�	
��	����$	��	������$	��	�����$	������	������%�	
��	���	
���%�����	����$�	"��	������%	����$	������	���	����	�������	��	���	
�������	
������%�	
	

�	�� &")).#�����
	
"����	����	��	����9���	���	�����$�������	��	����	������%�	
	

�
�� *�,�� ��/�&* #%��(�&#�#������
	
"����	����	��	��%���	�7�������	$��������	��	�����$��	��	����	������%�	
	

���� �� #&���$�$�� '&��#�,�-�0�(�&#�#���1��#%" ���*�#�������
	
"��	����$	����$	���	����������%	(��	$�������	:���	��������$	
��������	��	������	�����	��	
���������$	�������	
���	������	���$��%	
���	������	���$��%	������6�	
	

���� ��&�����(" #������
	
"����	����	��	��������$������	��	�����$��	��	����	������%�	
	
"��	+��$	*������	�$����$	����	���	)�����	��$	�$���	������	����	*�������	��$	��������	
�����	��$	����������$	#)�	��%�����	
���	��	���	������%	���$	��	3;	��
������	3143�			
	

Page 2



�����
����������
�
��� ����������!�����"���������#���������$%&$	

"��	������%	��$	����	����	�����$�$	����	��
������������	����	��������	)��
����	#)�	
"�����	�������	
�$����	������������	8����	�����%�	��	#�����%�	8����	�����%�	��	
�$������	
��������	<����������	��������	�������	��	��������	��$	��������	)��
�����	#)�	"����	
!�#��	
	
����������	!����	��=����$	�������	���	��������$�����	����	��	��$	
��	������$	
����	
����	��=�����$	����	�)#"	
��$���	��	���������	���(����>�������	����%�����	
������%�	��$	����	���	"����	�������	��	�	������	������%	��	���	
����	��	$������	
��%����	
�%�����	���	��������$������ 	��$	����	�����$�$	��	���	�����6�	�����	��������$�������	
	
"��	+��$	*������	%���	��	���������	����	���	��������$�����	����$	��	�����$�$�	
	

	��� $#�� �2*"� ���3�#� ����$���"�&��"�(�$#�"�&������� ���
	
"��	)��$	��	,������	��$	���	������	������	��$	�����������	*������	��������$	�	��
���	��	
���	
����������	��$	�������	��
���	������$��%	��
����	���%�����	�
$��� 	��$	���	
!���>��%���	���
�����	
��������%	�����������	+�����	�������	
�����	���	,������	���	����	

������ �	�����	��%���%���$	���	��������%	������	?	
	

�� 	 ���	
����������	��$	�������	��
���	������$��%	��
����	���%�����	
�
$��� 	���	���	�����	���������%	��
���	���	3143>40	��$	�������$	
���	
����������	��$	�������	���������%	
�������	��	���	�������	��	
��	���	��$	��	!���	3143@	
		

�� 	 ���	��
���	����$	��	���	����	��	���	�������	������	��	��	���	����%	
��
����$	��	�	��������	����	������$	��
���@	���	��
���	����$	
��������	��	�����	��	���	�������	���������	
�������	���	���	�������	
���	����$	�������	���(	���	���������	
�������	��������	��	���	���	
�$������������	
��$%��@	���	��
���	����$	����	���	���	���	���������	
��	���	��$%��	��$	�7
����	���	��
���	��	���	���������	��	���	����	
����	���������	
�������	��$	���	���	�������	��������@	
		

�� 	
		


����������	 ��$�������	 ���$	 ��	 ���	 ��
���	 ��
�������$	 ��������	
����	�������6�	 ������������	 ��	 $��������%	 ���	 ������$�	 
���������	 ��	
-������	��
��������	2��=��������	��$	�����	���	�����������@	
	

�$ 	 ���	�������	
����������	
�������	��	���	��$	��	���	�����	=������	���	
��	�������	?	
	

	 /1	 
��	 ����	 ��	 ���	 ��$�������	 ��������$	 ��	 ����	 ����	 ��	

����(@	
	


	 3/	
��	����	����	5���	���	����(@	
		


� A/	
��	����	��	���	
����������	��$�������	����	��	���%��@	
	

�� 	
		

���	���
�����	���������%	��
���	���	!���>��%���	�����$�$	9	

	 
� �������	���������%	
�������@	
	 
� (��	������	��$	����������	�������	���	��=����$ @	

Page 3



�����
����������
�
��� ����������!�����"���������#���������$%&$	

	 
� �������	$�������	
���	
�������@	
	 
� ��$�	������	��$	�������@	
	 
� ��
����	
�������@	
	 
� (��	������@	
	 
� ��
����	�����
��	
��������	����������	

	
"��	��������%	���
�����	����	
����$�$	��	=��������	�����$	��	���	����$	?	
	

�� 	 �$$�������	�����������	����$	��	
����$�$	��	���	��
���	$�������%	���	
��9����	%��$�	���	���	$�������	��	���	��
����	
��%�����@	
	

�% 	 ���5���	��	���	�

�����	��	��������	�	��
�����	��
���	$�������%	
�������%	��������	�������	������	��$	�%����	�����	�������	
��	
$����������	����$	��	
����$�$@	
	

�� 	 ���������	������	���	�����	������������	�
����������	���	������	��%����%	
����	$��	��	���	��������	��	�������	�����@	
	

�� 	 ���	�������	
�����	 ���	 ,������	 ��$	 ��$����(��	 �	 ������	 ��$%��	
�������%�	
������	��	������	����	���	��$%��	���	$�������$�	

	
"��	����$	�������$	���	���	������	���	���	!���>��%���	���
�����	���������%	��
����	
	
"��	�����	����(�$	����������	+����	��$	��������	���	�����$��%�	
	

�����������	�����	������$	���	����	��$	���	
������	���	���	��������%	����� �	
	

	��� ���-����,�"�������
	
"��	���(	
��%������	��	���	*�������	��$	��������	
���%�����	����$	��$	������	����	
��������$	���	�����$�������	��$	�

������	
	

�� 	 ����	��%��$	��	���������	��$	�����������	?	
			

	 ���	�����	������%	��	���	���(	��$	������	%���
	�����$����%	���	

������	���$	��$	��(��	
����@	
		


	 ����	���	���	�����%������	���	���	������	��$	�����	������	
�����$�������	����$	���$	��	��	%����	��	���	����	�

��
�����	

����	��	$������%�	���	���������	���
����������	���	���	�����	
��$	$����$��	��������@	
		

�� 	 ����	��%��$	��	-�����	��$	����
�����	?	
		

	 ���	 �����	 ��$	 ����	 �����$�$	 ������	 ���	 ���(	 
��%�����	

����$	 ������	 ����������	 ������	 �����%	 ��$	 ��������%	 ��$	
-���������	
��
�����	��	
������%	������ @	
	
	
	

Page 4



�����
����������
�
��� ����������!�����"���������#���������$%&$	


	 �	 ���
��%	 ������%	 ��$	 ����	 �����%�$	 ���	 ���	 ���(	 ��$	 ������	
%���
	��	�����$���$	���	�������	�����	���(����%�		
������%�	��$	
�������������@	
	

�� 	
		

����	��%��$	��	����$���	��$	B���%	���
��	9	

	 
	 ���	 �
�����	 �$�������	 ���$�	 ������%�>���$��%	 ��$	 ����	
$������$	��	�������	���(	���$�$	��	��	��$����(���	

	
&���	��%��$	��	��

���	���������	���	�����	�����$	�������	����	��	�����	����	��$	������	��	
���	������	������%	���$	��	4	*������	3143�	�������	�	��
���	����	��$	����	��=�����$	��$	
���	����	
����$�$	��	���	�����@	���	�����	�����$���$	����	���������	��	��	�������	
������
�����	��$	��%%����$	����	��	��
����	����	���	����%	
����$�$�	�����	������	�����$	
������	����	�����	�
	����	�����	+��$	*�������@	��	����	���������	�����	��	���	�������	�	������	
�������	�����$	��	��(�$	��	�����$	���	������%	��	�7
����	���	��	��
���	��$	����	
����$�$�	
	
�	�������	$���������	���(	
����	��%��$��%	���	��
�������	��	���	�����	��	��

���	
����$�$	
��	������	��������	���	���	��������	
�������	
	
�%���$	���	���(	
��%������	��	��������$	���5���	��	?	
	

�4 	 ���	��������	����	��$	���%����	8�
���	����	�������	
������	���	
�$$�$	 ��	 ���	 *�������	 ��$	 ��������	 
���%�����	 ����$6�	 ���(	

��%�����@	
	

�3 	 ���	 ���9���(	 ��	 ��������	 ����	 ��	 ������$	 ����	 ���	 ����$���	 ��$	
B���%	���
��	*�������	��$	��������	�����6�	���(	
��%������	

	
&���	��%��$	��	���	�������	�����$	��	���	�����	��	���	����$�	��	���	����	�%���$	����	���	
+��$	*������	����$	�����	����	���	���	�����	C7�������	���	��
�������	��	������	
����%�����	��

�����%	���	��������	
�������	
	

	��� ���3�& �#�# #" #���(�&*��� �4�#(5���
	
"��	����$	�%���$	���	+������	
�$����������	���5���	2���������	��������	���5���	��	���	
����$����	��	���	���������	��$	(��	$�����	��������%	���	�������	$�������	��	$����	����	����	
��	!������	3140�	
	

	��� �/��� ��*�#�������
	
"����	����	��	�����	��	�7��
�	���������	
	
	
	
	

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 6



Overview and Scrutiny Management Board 2012/13 
14 November 2012 
TRACKING DECISIONS 
Grey = Completed 
 
Minute 
number 

Decision Date 
agreed 

Action 
by 

Progress Target 
date 

Min 17. 
03/07/12 

Corporate Plan 2012-2015 
1. the progress of the task force for jobs is subject to a 
six month evaluation by the Growth and Prosperity 
Overview and Scrutiny Panel; 
 
2. the production of an action plan for increased voter 
registration, including joint work with the university, 
other higher education institutions and with schools; 
 
3. the Cabinet seek and publish partners’ agreed 
approaches to the cooperative council ethos, including 
those of service delivery partners, such as Amey; 
 
4. the Cabinet provide clarity about how the city will 
balance the needs of the nigh time economy against the 
health impacts of alcohol misuse; 
 
 
 
 
  

 Lead 
Officer/ 
HW 

Recommendations were submitted to 
Cabinet meeting on 12 July 2012 where 
all the recommendations were taken on 
board subject to an amendment to 
recommendation 6 ‘within nine months 
not six’. 
 
The recommendations were agreed at 
the Full Council on 30 July 2012 (as per 
minute 32). 
Completed 
 
 
 

 

A
genda Item

 5
P

age 7



 5. the Cabinet agree with the Overview and Scrutiny 
Management Board, a brief for its input into the 
development of the city’s child poverty strategy; 
 
6. within six months child poverty in Plymouth will be 
defined by Cabinet, following appropriate consultation 
including referral to the Children’s Trust Board and 
brought to council; this will allow measures to be taken 
that will record the incidence of child poverty; 
 
7. the Cabinet provide clarity that the Older Person’s 
Charter is a cross service, rather than a social care 
initiative; 
 
8. stronger impetus is given to the energy supply 
company initiative, to provide the earliest possible relief 
to those in fuel poverty; 
 
9. in the spirit of open government, Cabinet revisit the 
earlier recommendation of this Board, to bring forward 
proposals as to how as yet unfunded capital investment 
priorities can be considered in a transparent way prior to 
funding becoming available; 
 
10. the Cabinet is asked to demonstrate that plans are in 
place to ensure a smooth and seamless transition for 
vulnerable children to adulthood. 
 

    

Min 25. 
25.07.12 
 

Co-opted Representatives 
The Board agreed to seek information as to how the 
council supported people with disabilities when seeking 
advice at First Stop. 
 

 HW  Information was circulated to Board 
Members on 27 September 2012 
Completed 

September 
2012 

Min 39. 
05.09.12 

Forward Plan 
The Board agreed to receive a briefing paper on the 
school funding reform. 
 

 HW The information was circulated to Board 
Members on 25 September 2012 
Completed 

September
2012 

P
age 8



Min 41. 
05.09.12 

Community Right to Challenge 
The Board agreed to recommend approval of the 
following recommendations to Cabinet – 
 
1. the council receive expressions of interest for any 
service twice a year (in the months of February and 
August); 
 
2. the expressions of interest are approved, rejected or 
amended by the Monitoring Officer in consultation with 
the Cabinet Member for Cooperatives and Community 
Development; where the expression of interest has a 
particular impact on a specific ward, then the ward 
councillors should be consulted; 
 
3. the expression of interest should include the following 
additional requests for information – 
 

(a)  explain how a local (city based) workforce would 
be maintained and guaranteed; 
 

(b)  identify what are the positive impacts to be 
brought to the local economy; 
 

(c)  state where the contract would be managed from; 
 

(d)  how would the bid ensure compliance with the 
Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012; 
 

(e)  explain how you would support the council’s 
corporate plan and vision for the city; 
 

4. the maximum response time for responding to 
expressions of interest will be 30 days from the end of 
February/August; 
 
 

  The recommendations were agreed by 
Cabinet at its meeting held on 16 
October 2012. 
Completed 

16 
October 
2012 

P
age 9



 5. in setting the time for the commencement of the 
procurement exercise, the council follows its current 
procurement rules which are appropriate for the 
particular expression of interest; 
 
6. that the policy and process is reviewed after 12 
months.  
 

    

Min 48. 
21.09.12 

Members of Parliament for Plymouth Moorivew 
and Plymouth Sutton and Devonport 
The Management Board agreed to – 
 
1. ask MPs to press for an early response from the 
Department of Work and Pensions to the city council’s 
requires for data concerning crisis loan awards; 
 
2. ask MPs to seek early clarification on permitted 
development policy changes; 
 
3. request MPs to take every opportunity to press for 
apprenticeships and employment for young people within 
the city; 
 
4. provide information to MPs to look again at the impact 
of housing related benefits and tax changes relating to 
fosterers and carers. 

 Lead 
Officer 

  

Min 54. 
03.10.12 

Time of Meetings 
The Board agreed to start its meeting at 4.30pm rather 
than 4pm subject to a maximum time limit for each 
meeting of two hours (where possible). 
 

 HW Arrangements have been made to hold 
all future Board meetings at 4.30pm 
Completed  

14 
November 
2012 

Min 55. 
03.10.12 

MPs Meeting 
All three of the city’s MPs would be invited to attend a 
meeting of the Board in three months’ time (the meeting 
would follow the same format, as the meeting held in 
September 2012). 
 

 HW MPs have been invited to attend future 
meetings of the Board. 
Completed 

December 
2012 

P
age 10



Min 59. 
03.10.12 

Recommendations 
Councillor James enquired whether the recommendation 
that he had put forward (the panel requested that PHNT 
produce an effective sickness/absence management 
strategy and the Trust returns to a future meeting of the 
panel to discuss progress against the recommendations) 
had been included in the Panel’s final recommendation 
would be included. 
 

 Lead 
Officer/ 
HW 

The recommendation submitted by 
Councillor James had been included 
within the recommendations from the 
Health and Adult Social Care Panel 
Completed 

October 
2012 

Min 61. 
03.10.12 

Work Programme 
Agreed the work programmes as submitted subject to – 
 
1. the Plymouth Plan and attendance of Cabinet Members 
be added to the Overview and Scrutiny Management 
Board; 
 
2. the buy-back of services time is removed from the 
Children and Young People Panel’s work programme 

  
HW 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Fed back to Panel. 
Completed 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
October 
2012 

Min 61 
03.10.12 

Work Programme 
It was also agreed that the Lead Officer would raise with 
the new Chief Executive the importance of senior 
management supporting the scrutiny process. 
 

 Lead 
Officer 

 November 
2012 

Min 62. 
03/10.12 

Project Initiation Document (PID) 
The Board agreed that the Library Modernisation Project 
Initiation Document subject to the amendment of the 
timetable and key dates, following the Cabinet decision to 
defer this item to January 2013. 

 HW Fed back to Panel 
Completed 

October 
2012 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 11



P
age 12

T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
 

URGENT EXECUTIVE DECISION 
 

 
 
 
 
 
72. Challenge to English GCSE Results 2012   
 
The Director for People submitted a written report indicating that a request had been 
received from the Leaders of Leeds, Lewisham and Manchester City Councils to join a 
consortium to legally challenge the decisions of Ofqual and the examination boards Edexcel 
and AQA in respect of the June 2012 English GCSE results and recommending that 
Plymouth City Council also becomes a party to these proceedings.  
 
The report advised Members that the Council would be liable to part fund the costs of 
Counsel representing the consortium, with total likely costs between approximately 
£65,000, and £420,000 depending on the outcome of the challenge and the final number of 
members of the consortium.  At present nine Councils and two other authorities had 
agreed to become a party to the proceedings and two other parties had agreed to make a 
financial contribution to the costs of the consortium.  A further 36 Councils had already 
indicated their support and were seeking ratification through their democratic process, 
decreasing the potential liability significantly.   
 
Cabinet Members were advised that a sum of £24,000 had been set aside in the school 
intervention budget for this purpose.  
 
Cabinet was asked to deal with this matter as an urgent decision because Counsel needed 
to know which Councils would be parties to the proceedings in order to be able to lodge 
the court papers with the court.  This needed to happen as soon as possible to be able to 
comply with the court time limits.  Councillor Mrs Aspinall, Chair of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Management Board, had given her approval to the urgent decision. 
      
Alternative options considered and reasons for the decision – 
 
As set out in the report. 
 
Agreed that – 
 
(1) the Council becomes a party to the Judicial Review of the decisions of Ofqual, Edexel 
 and AQA in respect of the June 2012 English GCSE results; 
 
(2) the London Borough of Lewisham leads the legal action;  
 
(3) the Head of Law of the London Borough of Lewisham will act on behalf of the 
 Council in connection with this Judicial Review; 
 
(4) the Council understands and accepts the costs and consequences of participating in 
 these proceedings.   
 
Note: This item has been designated as urgent in accordance with the provisions of the 
Constitution and is not subject to the call in procedure 

Agenda Item 7Page 13



Page 14

This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

NOTICE OF FORTHCOMING KEY 
DECISIONS / PRIVATE BUSINESS 
 (15 OCTOBER 2012) 

 
 

LIST OF KEY DECISIONS 
 

Reference Title Decision Maker and Date of Decision 

I051057 NEW COOPERATIVE MODELS FOR 
ENERGY SOLUTIONS 

Cabinet (on the recommendation of 
Councillor Penberthy) 13 November 2012 

I051048 NEW MODELS FOR GREEN SPACE 
MANAGEMENT 

Cabinet (on the recommendation of 
Councillor Penberthy) 13 November 2012 

I053205 TRADED SERVICES WITH 
SCHOOLS 

Cabinet (on the recommendation of 
Councillor Williams) 13 November 2012 

I053381 MARINE ACADEMY FREE SCHOOL 
- INCLUSION IN CAPITAL 
PROGRAMME AND CONTRACT 
AWARD 

Cabinet (on the recommendation of 
Councillor Williams) 13 November 2012 

I053225 CAPITAL INVESTMENT FOR 
REPLACEMENT OF MINIBUSES 

Cabinet (on the recommendation of 
Councillors Vincent, Williams and 
McDonald) 13 November 2012 

I053226 CAPITAL INVESTMENT FOR THE 
REPLACEMENT OF PLANT AND 
EQUIPMENT 

Cabinet (on the recommendation of 
Councillor Vincent) 13 November 2012 

 
 

Agenda Item 8Page 15



   
PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 
LOCAL AUTHORITIES (EXECUTIVE ARRANGEMENTS) (ACCESS TO 

INFORMATION) (ENGLAND) REGULATIONS 2012 
 

NOTICE OF KEY DECISION 
 

Notice is hereby given that the Cabinet (on the recommendation of Councillor Penberthy) 
is to be asked to make a key decision on 13 November 2012 in respect of the following: 
 
TITLE: NEW COOPERATIVE MODELS FOR ENERGY SOLUTIONS 
 
PURPOSE OF DECISION:  
 
To enable the Council to develop an outline business case for an Energy Co-operative to 
deliver a range of cost and carbon saving initiatives for local communities. 
To enable the Council to see resources to deliver low carbon initiatives with other relevant 
Councils and external organisations.  
 
DECISION REFERENCE: I051057 
 
The Cabinet (on the recommendation of Councillor Penberthy) will be considering a report 
prepared by the Director for Place.   
 
Documents to be considered by the decision maker are – 

• Association for Public Service Excellence briefing: Collective energy purchasing and 
switching working group recommendations; 

• Department for Energy and Climate Change Factsheet: Collective purchasing and 
switching: What potential providers need to know.   

 
A copy of the report and any other documents will be available for inspection at First Stop, 
Civic Centre, Plymouth PL1 2AA. 
 
Further information can be obtained from Jonathan Selman, Urban Planning Co-ordinator  
Tel: 01752 307814 jonathan.selman@plymouth.gov.uk 
 
 
NB: The report together with any other documents being considered (unless they 

contain exempt information) will be available for inspection 5 clear days before the 
decision is taken by the Cabinet (on the recommendation of Councillor Penberthy) 
in First Stop, Civic Centre, Plymouth PL1 2AA or on the council’s web site. Further 
copies may be requested from Democratic Services but a fee will be payable.  

Page 16



  
PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 
LOCAL AUTHORITIES (EXECUTIVE ARRANGEMENTS) (ACCESS TO 

INFORMATION) (ENGLAND) REGULATIONS 2012 
 

NOTICE OF KEY DECISION 
 

Notice is hereby given that the Cabinet (on the recommendation of Councillor Penberthy) 
is to be asked to make a key decision on 13 November 2012 in respect of the following: 
 
TITLE: NEW MODELS FOR GREEN SPACE MANAGEMENT 
 
PURPOSE OF DECISION:  
 
To establish the parameters for a detailed investigation into new models of green space 
management that will provide new levels of community ownership of natural assets. 
 
DECISION REFERENCE: I051048 
 
The Cabinet (on the recommendation of Councillor Penberthy) will be considering a report 
prepared by the Director for Place.   
 
Documents to be considered by the decision maker are – 

• Plymouth Green Infrastructure Delivery Plan. 
 
A copy of the report and any other documents will be available for inspection at First Stop, 
Civic Centre, Plymouth PL1 2AA. 
 
Further information can be obtained from Paul Barnard, Assistant Director for Planning 
Floor 8, Civic Centre, Plymouth, PL1 2AA Tel: 01752 304077 
paul.barnard@plymouth.gov.uk 
 
 
NB: The report together with any other documents being considered (unless they 

contain exempt information) will be available for inspection 5 clear days before the 
decision is taken by the Cabinet (on the recommendation of Councillor Penberthy) 
in First Stop, Civic Centre, Plymouth PL1 2AA or on the council’s web site. Further 
copies may be requested from Democratic Services but a fee will be payable.  

Page 17



  
PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 
LOCAL AUTHORITIES (EXECUTIVE ARRANGEMENTS) (ACCESS TO 

INFORMATION) (ENGLAND) REGULATIONS 2012 
 

NOTICE OF KEY DECISION 
 

Notice is hereby given that the Cabinet (on the recommendation of Councillor Williams) is 
to be asked to make a key decision on 13 November 2012 in respect of the following: 
 
TITLE: TRADED SERVICES WITH SCHOOLS 
 
PURPOSE OF DECISION:  
 
To approve the principle of continuing to offer services to schools through the Prospectus 
of Services4Schools where the service can demonstrate value for money, generate 
significant income and/or have strategic benefit for the Authority.  
 
The Prospectus of Services4Schools must be published in December 2012 to enable the 
Authority to enter into an increasingly competitive market for the period April 2013 to 
March 2014. 
 
DECISION REFERENCE: I053205 
 
The Cabinet (on the recommendation of Councillor Williams) will be considering a report 
prepared by the Director for People.   
 
Documents to be considered by the decision maker are – 

• Final report on the future of traded services with schools. 
 
A copy of the report and any other documents will be available for inspection at First Stop, 
Civic Centre, Plymouth PL1 2AA. 
 
Further information can be obtained from Jayne Gorton, School Organisation and Pupil 
Access Manager Children's Services, Windsor House, Plymouth, PL1 2AA Tel: 01752 
307431 jayne.gorton@plymouth.gov.uk 
 
 
NB: The report together with any other documents being considered (unless they 

contain exempt information) will be available for inspection 5 clear days before the 
decision is taken by the Cabinet (on the recommendation of Councillor Williams) in 
First Stop, Civic Centre, Plymouth PL1 2AA or on the council’s web site. Further 
copies may be requested from Democratic Services but a fee will be payable.  

Page 18



  
PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 
LOCAL AUTHORITIES (EXECUTIVE ARRANGEMENTS) (ACCESS TO 

INFORMATION) (ENGLAND) REGULATIONS 2012 
 

NOTICE OF KEY DECISION 
 

Notice is hereby given that the Cabinet (on the recommendation of Councillor Williams) is 
to be asked to make a key decision on 13 November 2012 in respect of the following: 
 
TITLE: MARINE ACADEMY FREE SCHOOL - INCLUSION IN CAPITAL PROGRAMME 
AND CONTRACT AWARD 
 
PURPOSE OF DECISION:  
 
(1) that Cabinet delegate the decision on the contract award for the development of a 

new two form entry primary free school on the Marine Academy site; 
(2) that Cabinet recommend to Full Council to add this project to the capital 

programme.     
 
DECISION REFERENCE: I053381 
 
The Cabinet (on the recommendation of Councillor Williams) will be considering a report 
prepared by the Director for People.   
 
Documents to be considered by the decision maker are – 

• Briefing document on how the project meets strategic objectives regarding schools’ 
capacity. 

 
A copy of the report and any other documents will be available for inspection at First Stop, 
Civic Centre, Plymouth PL1 2AA. 
 
Further information can be obtained from Ian Baker, Contract Manager  Tel: 01752 307421 
ian.baker@plymouth.gov.uk 
 
 
NB: The report together with any other documents being considered (unless they 

contain exempt information) will be available for inspection 5 clear days before the 
decision is taken by the Cabinet (on the recommendation of Councillor Williams) in 
First Stop, Civic Centre, Plymouth PL1 2AA or on the council’s web site. Further 
copies may be requested from Democratic Services but a fee will be payable.  

Page 19



  
PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 
LOCAL AUTHORITIES (EXECUTIVE ARRANGEMENTS) (ACCESS TO 

INFORMATION) (ENGLAND) REGULATIONS 2012 
 

NOTICE OF KEY DECISION 
 

Notice is hereby given that the Cabinet (on the recommendation of Councillors Vincent, 
Williams and McDonald) is to be asked to make a key decision on 13 November 2012 in 
respect of the following: 
 
TITLE: CAPITAL INVESTMENT FOR REPLACEMENT OF MINIBUSES 
 
PURPOSE OF DECISION:  
 

(1) that Cabinet approve the purchase of the minibuses; 
(2) that Cabinet recommend to Full Council to add this project to the capital 

programme.   
 
DECISION REFERENCE: I053225 
 
The Cabinet (on the recommendation of Councillors Vincent, Williams and McDonald) will 
be considering a report prepared by the Director for Place.   

 
Documents to be considered by the decision maker are – 

• Cabinet report for capital investment for replacement of minibuses; 
• Cabinet report for capital investment for replacement of minibuses (confidential – 

exemption paragraph 3) 
 
A copy of the report and any other documents will be available for inspection at First Stop, 
Civic Centre, Plymouth PL1 2AA. 
 
Further information can be obtained from Garry Stainer, Principal Highways and Garage 
Manager Tel: 01752 304682 garry.stainer@plymouth.gov.uk 
 

THE LOCAL AUTHORITIES (EXECUTIVE ARRANGEMENTS) (MEETINGS 
AND ACCESS TO INFORMATION) (ENGLAND) REGULATIONS 2012 

 
NOTICE OF INTENTION TO CONDUCT BUSINESS IN PRIVATE 

 
Notice is hereby given in accordance with Regulation 5 of the Local Authorities (Executive 
Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012 that the 
meeting is likely to move into private session to consider the decision for the reasons 
outlined below: 
 
Under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 the press and public may be 
excluded from the meeting for the business on the grounds that it may involve the likely 
disclosure of exempt information as defined in paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the 
Act, as amended by the Freedom of Information Act 2000. 
 

 

Page 20



NB: The report together with any other documents being considered (unless they 
contain exempt information) will be available for inspection 5 clear days before the 
decision is taken by the Cabinet (on the recommendation of Councillors Vincent, 
Williams and McDonald) in First Stop, Civic Centre, Plymouth PL1 2AA or on the 
council’s web site. Further copies may be requested from Democratic Services but a 
fee will be payable.  

Page 21



 
  

PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 
 

LOCAL AUTHORITIES (EXECUTIVE ARRANGEMENTS) (ACCESS TO 
INFORMATION) (ENGLAND) REGULATIONS 2012 

 
NOTICE OF KEY DECISION 

 
Notice is hereby given that the Cabinet (on the recommendation of Councillor Vincent) is 
to be asked to make a key decision on 13 November 2012 in respect of the following: 
 
TITLE: CAPITAL INVESTMENT FOR THE REPLACEMENT OF PLANT AND 
EQUIPMENT 
 
PURPOSE OF DECISION:  
 

(1) that Cabinet approve the purchase of the plant and equipment items and vehicles; 
(2) that Cabinet recommend to Full Council to add this project to the capital 

programme.  
 
DECISION REFERENCE: I053226 
 
The Cabinet (on the recommendation of Councillor Vincent) will be considering a report 
prepared by the Director for Place.   
 
Documents to be considered by the decision maker are – 

• Cabinet report for the capital investment of replacement plant and equipment; 
• Cabinet report for the capital investment of replacement plant and equipment 

(confidential – exemption paragraph 3). 
 
A copy of the report and any other documents will be available for inspection at First Stop, 
Civic Centre, Plymouth PL1 2AA. 
 
Further information can be obtained from Garry Stainer, Principal Highways and Garage 
Manager Tel: 01752 304682 garry.stainer@plymouth.gov.uk 
 

THE LOCAL AUTHORITIES (EXECUTIVE ARRANGEMENTS) (MEETINGS 
AND ACCESS TO INFORMATION) (ENGLAND) REGULATIONS 2012 

 
NOTICE OF INTENTION TO CONDUCT BUSINESS IN PRIVATE 

 
Notice is hereby given in accordance with Regulation 5 of the Local Authorities (Executive 
Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012 that the 
meeting is likely to move into private session to consider the decision for the reasons 
outlined below: 
 
Under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 the press and public may be 
excluded from the meeting for the business on the grounds that it may involve the likely 
disclosure of exempt information as defined in paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the 
Act, as amended by the Freedom of Information Act 2000. 
 

Page 22



 
NB: The report together with any other documents being considered (unless they 

contain exempt information) will be available for inspection 5 clear days before the 
decision is taken by the Cabinet (on the recommendation of Councillor Vincent) in 
First Stop, Civic Centre, Plymouth PL1 2AA or on the council’s web site. Further 
copies may be requested from Democratic Services but a fee will be payable.  

Page 23



Page 24

This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 
  
Subject:    Child Poverty Strategy – progress update  

Committee:    Overview and Scrutiny Management Board 

Date:    14 November 2012 

Cabinet Member: Councillor Penberthy 

CMT Member:   Carole Burgoyne, Director for People 

Author: Candice Sainsbury, Senior Policy, Performance and Partnerships 
Adviser 

Contact:    Tel:  01752 307387 
    Email: candice.sainsbury@plymouth.gov.uk  

Ref:     

Key Decision: No  
 

Part: I    
 

Purpose of the report:  
This paper provides an update on Plymouth City Council’s approach to developing a three year local child 
poverty strategy and action plan by April 2013. It includes a comprehensive child poverty needs 
assessment which forms part of the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment. It also outlines the approach being 
taken to ensure that the child poverty strategy for Plymouth is developed with full and inclusive 
involvement from key stakeholders and communities. This process was endorsed by Cabinet on 
September 11th 2012 and is being led by the Cross Party Child Poverty Working Group. 
 

The development of a local child poverty strategy seeks to recognise and provide greater visibility and 
accountability that tackling child poverty is everyone’s business. Actions to address both the causes of and 
the effects of child poverty are already integral to a number of key local plans and strategies such as the 
Children and Young People’s Plan 2011-14 and the Housing Plan 2012-2017 and will need to link closely 
with the upcoming Health and Wellbeing Strategy and Transport Strategy alongside activities for job 
creation, prevention and early intervention, families with a future, mitigating the impact of impending 
welfare reforms and other priorities outlined within the Corporate Plan 2012 -2015. 
 

Significantly, the Child Poverty Strategy for Plymouth will feed into the upcoming Plymouth Plan, due to 
be endorsed in 2014, which will review the city’s adopted Local Development Framework core strategy 
and Sustainable Community Strategy while seeking to build on and where possible combine the city’s 
existing plans. 
 

     
Corporate Plan 2012-2015:   
 

The Council has committed to developing ways of effectively addressing child poverty as part of its 
overarching commitment to becoming a Co-operative Council.  
 
Tackling child poverty is identified as a level 1 performance indicator within the Corporate Plan which 
supports the delivery of one of the city and Council’s four priorities – reducing inequalities.  
 

Agenda Item 10Page 25



2 
 

Reducing child poverty is considered as integral to addressing medium term issues to address the financial 
and external challenges faced by the Council and to move forward on its long-term vision and priorities. It 
is identified as an area where it is critical that we work successfully across the whole council and city 
partnership.  
          
Implications for Medium Term Financial Plan and Resource Implications:     
Including finance, human, IT and land 
 
Effective delivery of the child poverty strategy is highly dependent on having a comprehensive 
understanding of how resources are currently being commissioned against child poverty outcomes. In 
addition the strategy will identify areas and opportunities where further pooling and alignment of 
resources may be required around common outcomes, for example within the early intervention and 
prevention strategy commissioning processes.  
 
For existing plans and strategies, is it expected that commissioning of services to support child poverty 
outcomes will take place based on agreed priorities within approved budgets and resources. 
   
Other Implications: e.g. Child Poverty, Community Safety, Health and Safety, Risk 
Management and Equality, Diversity and Community Cohesion: 
 

Child poverty now features as part of the Corporate Equalities Impact Assessment process. An Equality 
Impact Assessment will also be undertaken as part of the strategy development process.  
 

The primary risk of not addressing child poverty is that the numbers of children, young people and 
parents affected across the city will continue to rise during a time of austerity, rising unemployment and 
significant welfare reforms that are estimated to affect 20% of Plymouth’s population. Such increases in 
child poverty levels will have a negative impact across the city, in terms of meeting our key performance 
indicators, additional pressures on already stretched service areas and a lower quality of life for our 
families.  
 

Inter-generational child poverty represents a deeply rooted social problem that is not easily resolved and 
requires sustained efforts by agencies and partners as well as within communities themselves to effectively 
break this cycle. To this end, it is essential that the strategy engage in a child focused approach that 
mitigates the effects of poverty while simultaneously meeting the needs of parents to provide the best for 
their children. 
 
Operational risks focus on Council and partner services not joining up to maximise available resources to 
effect positive change against child poverty outcomes. 
 

 

Recommendations & Reasons for recommended action: 

Overview and Scrutiny Management Board are asked to:  

• Comment on the findings in the child poverty needs assessment in appendix 2 which will be used 
as the basis on which the Child Poverty Strategy and accompanying action plan for Plymouth will 
be developed;  

• Comment on the approach to the development of the strategy and action plan as set out in 
Section 3 of this report and appendix 3.  

 

Page 26



3 
 

 

Alternative options considered and reasons for recommended action: 
 
Under the Child Poverty Act 2010 it is a statutory requirement for Local Authorities to develop and  
publish a local child poverty needs assessment and strategy. 
 

Background papers:   
N/A   

Sign off:   
 

Fin 
 

 Leg   HR 
 

 
 

Corp 
Prop 
 

 IT 
 

 Strat 
Proc 
 

 

Originating SMT Member: Pam Marsden 
Have you consulted the Cabinet Member(s) named on the report?  Yes  
 

  

Page 27



4 
 

1. INTRODUCTION 
 

1.1 In 1999, the Government made a commitment to end child poverty by 2020.  The Child Poverty 
Act was published in 2010 to deliver on this and places a number of duties on Local Authorities 
and other local delivery partners to work together to tackle child poverty.  
 

1.2 These include the development of a local Joint Child Poverty Needs Assessment and Child 
Poverty Strategy which sets out the measures partners propose to take for the purpose of 
reducing and mitigating the effects of child poverty. The Act also requires local authorities to take 
their responsibilities to tackle child poverty into account when preparing or revising their 
Sustainable Community Strategy.  
 

1.3 This paper reports on progress so far and proposals for developing a child poverty strategy and 
action plan for Plymouth. It provides an update on: 

• Our approach to developing the child poverty needs assessment 
• Next steps for developing a child poverty strategy for Plymouth  
• Our approach to ensuring the strategy is developed with full and inclusive involvement from 

stakeholders and the community. 

 

2. OUR APPROACH TO DATE 
 

2.1 Following a motion agreed at Full Council in July 2011, Plymouth City Council has made a firm 
commitment to tackling child poverty in the city and this is reflected in the Corporate Plan 2012-
15. Since 2010, the Children and Young People’s Trust has led the child poverty agenda as part of 
the Children and Young People’s Plan 2011-14. A child poverty cross party working group has 
been meeting since February 2012 to review the citywide approach to tackling child poverty.  
 

2.2 While fully acknowledging the excellent work of the Children and Young People’s Trust over the 
past eighteen months, agreement was reached that Plymouth City Council, in line with its 
statutory duty to tackle child poverty, will now lead this critical agenda. In doing so, Plymouth City 
Council is continuing to work closely with key partners and partnerships.  
 

2.3 The child poverty needs assessment has now been completed and provides us with a clear 
understanding of the extent and nature of child poverty in Plymouth drawing on both quantitative 
and qualitative intelligence. This approach will now enable the development of a citywide child 
poverty strategy by April 2013.  
 

2.4 A draft child poverty needs assessment has been produced in consultation with key practitioners 
from Adults & Children’s Commissioning Teams, Education, Social Inclusion, Economic 
Development, Housing, representation from the Voluntary and Community Sector, Jobcentre 
Plus, Health and Early Years.  This formed the basis for wider consultation at a strategy kick start 
event held on the 15th October 2012 with key stakeholders in the city. 
 

2.5 Approximately 60 delegates attended the event from a cross section of the public, private and 
voluntary and community sectors.  This included representation from health, the Police, Head 
Teachers, Citizen’s Advice Bureau, Jobcentre Plus, Careers South West and the Council.  

2.6 The purpose of this event was to: 

Page 28



5 
 

• agree the key findings and recommendations from the draft needs assessment as the basis on 
which to develop Plymouth’s child poverty strategy and;  

• agree the broad strategic outcomes for tacking child poverty across the city. 
 

2.7 This feedback has now been collated and the draft needs assessment updated to reflect the 
comments from this event. Appendix 1 of this report demonstrates how this feedback has been 
integrated into the final needs assessment. A final version of the needs assessment is included in 
appendix 2. 

 

3. NEXT STEPS - DEVELOPING OUR CHILD POVERTY STRATEGY 
3.1 At the strategy kick start event on the 15th October 2012 stakeholders were also asked to 

consider the broad strategic outcomes for the child poverty strategy. A wealth of information 
came out of this session which demonstrated a clear overlap across major strategic areas. The 
child poverty strategy will seek not to duplicate but to reinforce existing and upcoming plans and 
activities while highlighting key gaps in service provision and/or areas of underperformance.  

3.2 A draft strategy will be developed based on the feedback from this event and the evidence 
provided by the needs assessment, and overseen by the Child Poverty Cross Party Working 
Group. Key stakeholders in the city will be consulted throughout December 2012 and January 
2013 on the emerging strategy and action plan. The strategy will seek to reflect a ‘whole family’ 
approach and address the causes and effects of child poverty on children and families both now 
and in the future. A plan outlining our proposed approach to consultation and engagement is 
detailed in appendix 3. 

3.3 The Child Poverty Strategy for Plymouth will also feed into the upcoming Plymouth Plan, due to 
be endorsed in 2014, which will review the city’s adopted Local Development Framework core 
strategy and Sustainable Community Strategy while seeking to build on and where possible 
combine the city’s existing plans. 

 

4. KEY MILESTONES 
 
MILESTONE DATE 
Needs assessment and outline approach to strategy 
development to Overview & Scrutiny Management 
Board 

14th November 2012 

Draft strategy to Cabinet to initiate consultation  11th December 2012 
Launch consultation on draft strategy  12th December 2012 
End of consultation on draft strategy 31st January 2013 
Final strategy and action plan to Overview & 
Scrutiny Management Board 

27th February 2013 

Final strategy and action plan to Cabinet  2nd April 2013 
Final strategy and action plan to Full Council 22nd April 2013 

 

Page 29



Page 30

This page is intentionally left blank



 

Version 2 5th November 2012  Not protectively marked  

CHILD POVERTY 
Child poverty consultation feedback on the needs assessment

Appendix 1 

 

1. INTRODUCTION 
1.1 On the 15th October 2012 a child poverty strategy kick start event was held with key 

stakeholders in the city.  Approximately 60 delegates attended the event from a cross 
section of the public, private and voluntary and community sectors.  This included 
representation from health, the Police, Head Teachers, Citizen’s Advice Bureau, Jobcentre 
Plus, Careers South West and the Council.  

1.2 The purpose of this event was to: 
• agree the key findings and recommendations from the draft needs assessment as the 

basis on which to develop Plymouth’s child poverty strategy and;  
• agree the broad strategic outcomes for tacking child poverty across the city. 

1.3 At the event delegates received a short presentation on the key messages from the needs 
assessment and the implications of the findings for Plymouth. This was presented around 
three themes; Financial Support and Independence, Family and Children’s Life Chances and 
Communities and Neighbourhoods. These themes seek to combine two key frameworks 
that set out an overarching approach for the development of local strategies to address child 
poverty.  These include the ‘Building Blocks Framework developed by the Child Poverty 
Unit, alongside the framework outlined within the National Child Poverty Strategy ‘A New 
Approach to Child Poverty: Tackling the Causes of Disadvantage and Transforming Families’ 
Lives’.  

1.4 A series of facilitated group sessions were held to ask stakeholders if they felt that the key 
messages and implications accurately reflected the profile of child poverty in Plymouth and if 
there were any areas which required more evidence or that were missing. This feedback has 
now been collated and the needs assessment revised to reflect the comments from this 
event.  

 

2. FINANCIAL SUPPORT AND INDEPENDENCE 
2.1 Discussions focused on the Growth agenda for the city set in the context of the national 

and local economy including the level and distribution of worklessness and welfare 
dependency. Attendees were also asked to consider the impact on those in employment 
but who may also be living in poverty and examine some of the main barriers to 
employment and financial independence such as child care provision, transport and financial 
management. The impact of the significant welfare reforms was also discussed.  

2.2 Overall there was a general consensus that the data in the needs assessment was correct 
and reflected what practitioners know to be true about Plymouth; however the following 
areas needed additional clarification.  

 

Page 31



 

2 

 

Childcare 

2.3 Childcare was an area which stakeholders felt needed greater clarity. Their main concerns 
were around the cost and lack of availability of good quality childcare which can make it a 
barrier to employment opportunities for parents with worries that the changes to tax 
credits will make childcare even more unaffordable.  

2.4 The needs assessment has now reviewed information from the Plymouth City Council 
Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 2011 and reports that although child care places were 
generally seen as sufficient there is considered to be a lack of places in Barne Barton. 
Parents also report that local childcare can be too expensive for those on a low income 
and that the lump sums required at the start can also be prohibitive. Lack of flexibility is 
also of concern. 

2.5 The future pressures on existing childcare places with the expansion of free entitlement for 
disadvantaged 2 year olds and the further extension of free entitlement in 2014 (to 40% of 
disadvantaged 2 year olds) is now acknowledged. The need to secure sufficient childcare 
places for disadvantaged two year olds will also become part of the Local Authority’s 
statutory duties from September 2013. It has been identified that there will be a predicted 
shortfall of approximately 350 places in 2013 and a further 1,350 from 2014 when the offer 
is extended to 40% of all eligible two year olds.  
 

Transport and accessibility 

2.6 Limited accessibility to public transport routes for families in the most deprived areas was 
also an area that stakeholders felt required greater clarity. The cost of transport from 
deprived areas to connect people to areas of employment was highlighted as a major 
barrier.  

2.7 The needs assessment has now reviewed data from the Plymouth Local Transport Plan 
2011-2026 (LTP) which recognises some of the key barriers to access such as not being 
able to afford to buy and run a vehicle and that car ownership is lower in neighbourhoods 
of poorer health and higher levels of unemployment. 

2.8 The findings from the LTP tell us that during the daytime few people in deprived areas will 
find themselves more than 400 meters walk from a bus stop with a frequent service and 
certainly no more than 800 metres walk. However, there are lower levels of accessibility 
to key employment areas such as Belliver, Estover and Langage. Those residents living in 
the most deprived areas will find it takes more than 30 minutes with their journey often 
requiring a change of bus to reach these areas. Those employed in shift work with early 
morning starts or late night finishes are more disadvantaged as bus services are fewer and 
further between at these times.  
 

In work / low income families 

2.9 There was much discussion at the event around in-work child poverty combined with the 
rising cost of living (e.g. cost of utilities). The needs assessment contains details of the 
prevalence of low income working families in Plymouth and reflects on evidence of take up 
from the Food Bank and debt advice providers. The Fuel Poverty section now 
acknowledges the difference in tariffs from utilities providers and that using the ‘pay as you 
go’ method as opposed to direct debit schemes means that those on lower incomes often 
end up paying more for their energy.  

Page 32



 

3 

 

2.10 The combination of all these factors means that anecdotally there is a growing number of 
in- work families on low incomes that are more vulnerable to poverty and its 
consequences as outlined in the needs assessment such as debt, alcohol misuse, and mental 
health problems among others.  
 

Employability and literacy and numeracy skills 

2.11 Feedback from stakeholders indicates that a clear distinction needs to be made between 
employability skills and literacy and numeracy skills. This has now been reflected in the 
needs assessment. Other feedback suggested that while aspiring to attract high quality jobs 
there also needs to be lower skilled employment opportunities as a stepping stone to 
future high quality employment.  
 

Lone parent families 

2.12 The event also highlighted a gap in our knowledge relating to children living in lone parent 
families. Unfortunately the measure used to understand relative low income poverty does 
not allow us to identify the make-up of lone parent families. For example we do not know 
whether the lone parent is the father or mother or the number of children affected in an 
individual family.  Lone parent data is captured as part of the National Census of 
Undertaking. This will be available in February 2013; the only available data at present is 
from the 2001 census.  
 

Not in Education, Employment or Training (NEET) 

2.13 Measuring the number of young people classed as NEET can be a good measure for both 
levels of youth unemployment and of post 16 education attendance.  However feedback 
from the event suggested that it should be noted that children that fall into the NEET 
category may be subject to multiple needs not just solely educational attainment. This is 
now reflected in the needs assessment.  

 

3. FAMILY LIFE AND CHILDREN’S LIFE CHANCES 
3.1 This theme reviewed the wide range of factors such as family, home environment, health 

and education which contribute to improving the life chances of poorer children and young 
people. There was broad agreement that the needs assessment reported on the key 
factors that determine a child’s life chances; however the following areas needed additional 
clarification. 
 

Families with multiple and complex needs 

3.2 Families with multiple and complex needs live in the most deprived areas of the city was 
identified as a key message from the needs assessment. Attendees at the event however 
cautioned that while there is a greater concentration in these areas there are also pockets 
across other parts of the city. This has been reflected in the needs assessment. 
 

Educational attainment  

3.3 The use of free school meal take up was challenged as perhaps too crude a marker to 
solely measure the gap in inequality of attainment between those eligible and those not 
eligible for free school meals.  However, while this is acknowledged, the use of the free 

Page 33



 

4 

 

school meal measure is the only real way to identify inequality gaps in attainment based on 
income and is nationally recognised as the proxy for poverty.  

3.4 Attendees also identified that levels of income are not a sole contributor to poorer 
educational attainment. Other determinants such as parental support and aspiration were 
raised as contributing to lower levels of attainment. This is now anecdotally reflected in the 
needs assessment focusing on parents’ influences and the child’s own attitudes and 
behaviours. 
   

Health inequalities 

3.5 The key message relating to inequalities in life expectancy has been reworded following 
feedback from the event. Concerns were raised that the statement was too specific in that 
it assumed ‘a child’ as each and every, where in fact there are other determinants that 
affect the statement. The needs assessment now also acknowledges the improvements 
made in recent years in health outcomes for families in the most deprived areas but 
reflects that these are still likely to be less positive in these areas with lower rates of 
breastfeeding (at birth), higher rates of teenage pregnancy, and higher rates of low birth 
weights. 

3.6 Data in the needs assessment shows the gap in obesity rates in reception year between the 
most and least deprived neighbourhoods has increased in recent years although the trend 
for year 6 is less clear. Feedback from the event highlighted a gap in our understanding of 
the reasons behind this inequality gap. Stakeholders provided anecdotal evidence that has 
been included. A caveat has also been added that there is concern that some parents may 
refuse permission to have their child weighed which can affect the results. 

3.7 The adult mental health data in the needs assessment has now been strengthened using 
data from the Plymouth Adult Mental Health needs assessment published by Public Health 
in March 2012. It identifies a number of risk factors associated with mental health in 
Plymouth and highlights some of the key findings that are relevant to child poverty.  

 

4. COMMUNITIES AND NEIGHBOURHOODS 
4.1 This discussion focused on the key issues that link poverty and its direct affects within local 

communities and neighbourhoods. A key driver of living in poverty revolves around quality 
of housing as well as crime and community safety issues including anti-social behaviour and 
domestic abuse. There was broad agreement on the content of the needs assessment; 
however the following areas needed additional clarification. 
 

Housing  
4.2 Stakeholders felt that the key message relating to social housing misrepresented the quality 

of social housing across the city, which could be interpreted that social housing in the east 
of the city is of a lower standard than that of the west.  This key message has been 
amended to clarify the original meaning.  

4.3 A breakdown of the private sector housing data in the needs assessment was requested by 
rental and ownership. This is currently unavailable. However, the quality of private sector 
housing as a whole is of concern in the city and this is therefore reflected in the 
implications.  

 

Page 34



 

5 

 

Domestic abuse 

4.4 It was also highlighted that there are specific crime types for example domestic and sexual 
abuse within the home that may have a more significant impact on family relationships and 
children. While this does not specifically change the findings in the needs assessment, 
continued work with the Plymouth Domestic Abuse Partnership will take place to ensure 
that child poverty outcomes remain a key theme in tackling domestic abuse. 

 

 

 

 

Page 35



Page 36

This page is intentionally left blank



Child Poverty Needs Assessment 2012 Page 1 
 

 
Appendix 2 

 

Plymouth’s Child Poverty  
Needs Assessment 2012 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 37



Child Poverty Needs Assessment 2012 Page 2 
 

i. CONTENTS 
 
 
ii. Executive Summary 
 
1. Introduction 
1.1 Background 
1.2 Evidence and data sources 
1.3 Defining child poverty 
1.4 Measuring child poverty 
1.5 Overview of the causes and impact of child poverty 
 
2. What does Child Poverty look like in Plymouth? 
2.1 Plymouth’s context 
2.2 Financial support and independence 

2.2.1 Plymouth’s economy 
2.2.2 Out of work poverty 
2.2.3 In work poverty 
2.2.4 Barriers to employment 
2.2.5 Financial management 

2.3 Family life and children’s life chances 
2.3.1 Family and parental relationships 
2.3.2 Educational outcomes 
2.3.3 Health outcomes 

2.4 Communities and neighbourhoods 
2.4.1 Housing 
2.4.2 Crime and community safety 
2.4.3 At Risk / Vulnerable Groups 

2.5 Child Poverty Performance Indicators 
 
3. Conclusions and Implications 
 
 
 
Appendix I: Child Poverty Geographical Reference Map 
Appendix II: Child Poverty Indicators – Benchmarking 
Appendix III: Child Poverty Indicators - Neighbourhood Checklist 
 

 

 
5 
 
7 
7 
8 
11 
12 
13 
 
21 
21 
25 
25 
27 
34 
36 
38 
43 
43 
46 
51 
61 
61 
63 
65 
69 
 
 
 

70 
 

 
75 
76 
78 

 
 

Page 38



Child Poverty Needs Assessment 2012 Page 3 
 

List of tables 
 
Table 
Number 

Description 

1.1 Full list of additional data sources used for analysis in addition to the key data sources 
around unemployment, health and education.  

2.1 Geographical distribution of the 2010 Indices of deprivation and five most deprived 
neighbourhoods.  

2.2 Geographical distribution of income based child poverty measure (NI116 published by 
HMRC). 

2.3 List of neighbourhoods with the highest number of children eligible for free school 
meals. 

2.4 Geographical distribution of Job Seekers Allowance claimants and five neighbourhoods 
with highest numbers.  

2.5 Geographical distribution of Employment Support Allowance and Incapacity Benefits 
claimants and five neighbourhoods with highest numbers. 

2.6 Geographical distribution of children aged 0-15 living in workless families and five 
neighbourhoods with highest numbers. 

2.7 Geographical distribution of families claiming out of work tax credits and five 
neighbourhoods with highest numbers. 

2.8 Geographical distribution of Job Seeker’s Allowance claimants who are aged 26 to 24 
years of age and five neighbourhoods with highest numbers. 

2.9 Geographical distribution of in work families claiming tax credits and five 
neighbourhoods with highest numbers. 

2.10 Geographical distribution of in work families who are claiming tax credits that are above 
the basic family element.  

2.11 Table highlighting the impact of welfare reform and its impacts on Plymouth.  
2.12 Geographical distribution of fuel poverty in Plymouth using Centre for Sustainable 

Energy data.  
2.13 Geographical distribution of most vulnerable families in Plymouth identified via the 2010 

Health Visitor survey.  
2.14 Table identifying the key vulnerable family indicators as stipulated by the 2010 Health 

Visitor survey.  
2.15 Table showing the ten neighbourhoods with the lowest attainment levels at Early Year’s 

Foundation Stage attainment. 
  

Page 39



Child Poverty Needs Assessment 2012 Page 4 
 

 
 

 
 

  

Table 
Number 

Description 

2.16 Table showing Plymouth attainment at Key Stage 2 providing comparison with South 
West and England attainment levels.  

2.17 Chart showing Plymouth Key Stage 2 and Key Stage 4 attainment inequality gap. 
2.18 Table showing Plymouth attainment at Key Stage 4 providing comparison with South 

West and England attainment levels. 
2.19 Geographical distribution of attainment in Plymouth at Key Stage 4. 
2.20 Table showing the post 16 qualifications attainment by free school meals and non-school 

meals.  
2.21 Geographical distribution of life expectancy in Plymouth. 
2.22 Geographical distribution of low birth weight. 
2.23 Geographical distribution of intention to breastfeed rates. 
2.24 Geographical distribution of breastfeeding rates at 6-8 weeks. 
2.25 Table highlighting the inequality in childhood obesity levels between most deprived and 

least deprived neighbourhoods in Plymouth. 
2.26 Chart showing distribution of mental health illness types amongst boys and girls in 

Plymouth. 
2.27 Table highlighting risk factors associated with child mental health illness. 
2.28 Geographical distribution of the ‘indoors’ Living Environment Sub-Domain across 

Plymouth. 
2.29 Table showing levels of youth offending by neighbourhood. 
2.30 Table showing worst 10 neighbourhoods for rates of overall crime. 
2.31 Table showing worst 10 neighbourhoods for rates of anti-social behaviour. 
2.32 Table showing worst 10 neighbourhoods for rates of domestic abuse incidents. 

Page 40



Child Poverty Needs Assessment 2012 Page 5 
 

iii. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
Tackling child poverty is a key priority for Plymouth. This needs assessment aims to establish the local 
picture of child poverty to enable the development of a citywide child poverty strategy by April 2013. 
 
CHAPTER 1- INTRODUCTION 
While there is no single definition of child poverty, it is essentially a result of poverty in families. It is not 
simply due to lack of money in the family but the outcome of economic, environmental and social 
factors that can damage a child’s development and limit or prevent children and young people from 
having many of the experiences and opportunities that others take for granted. 
 
With such a complex definition, it will come as no surprise that it is very difficult to determine which 
causal factors result in specific child poverty outcomes as they all interact. This assessment seeks to 
make sense of how these factors interrelate and impact on children and families living across Plymouth.  
 
Helping children overcome poverty will make a huge difference not only to their lives but to the lives of 
their families, communities and to society as a whole. Ending child poverty means tackling a wide range 
of complex issues to improve children's chances in life and empowering families to move themselves out 
of poverty for good. 
 
 
CHAPTER 2 - WHAT DOES CHILD POVERTY LOOK LIKE IN PLYMOUTH? 
Plymouth has 11,700 children living in povertyi, of which 10,380 are under 18.  This equates to much 
higher than both the regional and national average. This is an increase of 600 children from the previous 
12 months.   
 
This Chapter presents data and analysis about child poverty across Plymouth and is organised under 
three broad sections. The first section looks at financial support and independence, and examines 
economic activity in Plymouth set in the context of the national and local economy, and includes the 
level and distribution of worklessness and welfare dependency. It considers those in employment but 
who may also be living in poverty and examines some of the main barriers to employment and financial 
independence such as child care provision, transport and financial management. The impact of significant 
welfare reform is also reviewed.  
 
The section on Family Life and Children’s Life Chances reflects on a wide range of factors such as family, 
home environment, health and education, which contribute to improving the life chances of poorer 
children and young people. The final section, Communities and Neighbourhoods, reports on the key 
issues that link poverty and its direct effects within local communities and neighbourhoods, with a focus 
on the quality of housing as well as crime and community safety issues including anti-social behaviour 
and domestic abuse. There are also a number of groups that are nationally considered to be at higher 
risk or more vulnerable to child poverty. This section includes an initial analysis of each of these groups. 
In addition, it includes a report on how Plymouth is performing against a basket of indicators to 

                                            
i Her Majesty’s Revenues and Customs, NI 116, ‘The proportion of children living in families in receipt of out of work 
benefits or tax credits where their reported income is less than 60% median income’ snapshot as at 31st August 2009.  
 

Page 41



Child Poverty Needs Assessment 2012 Page 6 
 

supplement the income based measure used by Her Majesty’s Revenue and Customsii as a basis to 
monitor the impact of the child poverty strategy once developed.  
   
A summary of key messages is included at the end of each section.  
 
CHAPTER 3 - CONCLUSIONS AND IMPLICATIONS 
This final chapter provides some conclusions and implications based on the range of data and intelligence 
presented in this assessment. These are organised using the Child Poverty Triangle developed by the 
Child Poverty Unit which acknowledges how the factors that cause and impact child poverty interact. A 
reduction in child poverty will not take place if a single focus approach is adopted – all stakeholders 
across Plymouth will have a role to play. It is essential however that the direction of travel has the same 
destination – the findings in this Chapter attempt to start this journey. 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
  

                                            
ii Ibid 

Page 42



Child Poverty Needs Assessment 2012 Page 7 
 

1. INTRODUCTION 
 
Child poverty matters because it means children suffer both now and in the future. Nearly 12,000 
children and young people in Plymouth are currently living in poverty.  
 
While a lack of money in the family remains a central part of the problem, child poverty is the outcome 
of economic, environmental and social factors that can damage a child’s development and limit or 
prevent children and young people from having many of the experiences and opportunities that others 
take for granted. Many children living in poverty have an unequal start in life and will become part of a 
perpetual cycle where they are less likely to achieve their academic potential or secure a job as an adult. 
They are also more likely to experience a range of health inequalities throughout their lives. 
 
Helping children overcome poverty will make a huge difference not only to their lives but to the lives of 
their families, communities and to society as a wholeiii. Ending child poverty means tackling a wide range 
of complex issues to improve children's chances in life and empowering families to move themselves out 
of poverty for good. 
 
1.1 Background 
 

In 1999, the Government made a commitment to end child poverty by 2020.  The Child Poverty Act 
was published in 2010 to deliver on this and places a number of duties on Local Authorities and other 
local delivery partners to work together to tackle child poverty. These include the development of a 
local Child Poverty Needs Assessment and Joint Child Poverty Strategy which sets out the measures 
partners propose to take for the purpose of reducing and mitigating the effects of child poverty. The Act 
also requires local authorities to take their responsibilities to tackle child poverty into account when 
preparing or revising their Sustainable Community Strategy. 
 
Child Poverty in Plymouth is being taken seriously. Tacking inequalities is a shared priority for Plymouth 
City Council and its partners of which child poverty is a key outcome measure for which there is 
collective responsibility across all partners.  Plymouth City Council has also acknowledged the need to 
develop a child poverty action plan as one of its priority commitments laid out in its Corporate Plan.  
 
In order to deliver on these local commitments and statutory responsibilities, a clear understanding of 
the extent and nature of child poverty in Plymouth is required.  The purpose of this needs assessment is 
to establish the local picture of child poverty drawing on both quantitative and qualitative intelligence. 
This approach will enable the development of a citywide child poverty strategy by April 2013. This 
process will be overseen by a cross party child poverty working group who aim to provide greater 
visibility and accountability that tackling child poverty is everybody’s business. 

This is an opportune time to develop the local child poverty strategy for Plymouth. The upcoming 
Plymouth Plan, due to be endorsed in 2014, will review the city’s adopted Local Development 
Framework core strategy and Sustainable Community Strategy while seeking to build on and where 
possible combine the city’s existing plans. This will focus on the delivery of key priorities and provide an 

                                            
iii Department for Work and Pensions, 2011 

Page 43



Child Poverty Needs Assessment 2012 Page 8 
 

overall framework for the city’s sustainable development over the next 20+ years. A local child poverty 
strategy must be able to feed into this landmark plan to ultimately ensure that the need to address the 
economic, environmental and social factors that damage a child’s life chances are entwined with 
delivering Plymouth’s long term future.  

The strategy will also be developed amongst immense change and upheaval for many of our poorest 
households. The Welfare Reform Act 2012 has introduced fundamental changes to the way welfare 
assistance is provided including changes to Tax Credits and the Local Housing Allowance. This comes at 
a time when the rising cost of living is already having an impact on income across the socio-economic 
spectrum with many people facing redundancy or finding their work hours reduced.  
 
1.2 Evidence and Data Sources 
 

This Needs Assessment has been developed in line with national guidanceiv, and covers the following 
areas:  

§ Causes and impact of child poverty – providing a summary of key findings of national research on 
the extent, nature and impact of child poverty  

§ Local Context – providing an overview of Plymouth  
§ Financial Support and Independence - including data on the extent of child poverty, parental 

worklessness, employment and skill levels, barriers to employment and financial management 
§ Family life & Children’s life chances – including links between child poverty and educational 

achievement, engagement in further and higher education, youth unemployment, health and 
teenage pregnancy  

§ Housing and Neighbourhoods – including housing, crime and communities  
§ ‘At Risk’ Groups – including a particular focus on at risk and/or vulnerable groups such as low 

income families, lone parent families and some ethnic minority groups  
 
1.2.1 Quantitative evidence 
 

This assessment draws on data from the following key sources: 
 

• HM Revenue and Customs (HMRC) data – provides an overview of child poverty using the 
official Department of Work and Pensions definition of poverty. Data used also allows an 
analysis of both ‘in work’ and ‘out of work’ tax credit claimants.  

 

• Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) – this data allows an analysis of benefits 
dependency across the city. The assessment summarises those claiming job seekers allowance 
and incapacity benefits/ employment support allowance highlighting areas of entrenched benefit 
dependency. Also covered by DWP data are lone parents and youth unemployment.  
 

• Department for Education (DfE) – most recently available education attainment data from the 
DfE allows the demonstration of education attainment inequalities, comparing attainment of free 
school meal pupils and those not eligible. The DfE data has also been used to report on Not in 
Education, Employment or Training (NEET) levels and attainment for children who are 
persistently absent from school or who have special educational needs.  

                                            
iv Child Poverty Needs Assessment Toolkit, Local Government Improvement and Development, 2010 

Page 44



Child Poverty Needs Assessment 2012 Page 9 
 

• Public Health – data covering a variety of health areas has been used to demonstrate inequalities 
across the city with poorer health represented in areas of higher deprivation and higher 
dependence on benefits.  

 
In addition to the key sources outlined above, further analysis has been done on other quantitative data 
covering the following areas; Housing, Deprivation and Community Safety.  
 

Much of this analysis has been previously undertaken in strategic documents such as the Plymouth 
Economic Reviews one (2011) and two (2012), Children and Young People’s Plan 2011-14, Housing Plan 
2012-17, Plymouth Transport Plan 2011 – 2026 and the Alcohol Needs Assessment 2012. The full list of 
additional data sources are highlighted in the table below; 
 
Table 1.1 
Data Source and Date Description 
Department of Work and Pensions, 2012 Households below average income. 
Consumer Credit Counselling Service, 2010 Information on debt levels and its causes. 
Communities and Local Government, 2010 Indices of Multiple Deprivation demonstrating 

deprivation levels in Plymouth. 
Plymouth City Council Economic Review Issue 
one, October 2011 & Issue two, June 2012 

Data used to describe the skills levels of the 
population and job market within Plymouth.  

Experian Economic Resilience Index, 2010 Data on numbers of the population vulnerable to 
falling into poverty provided by information 
services company Experian. 

Office for National Statistics NOMIS, 2011 Data used to provide additional information on 
reliance on benefits in the city.  

Overview and Management Scrutiny Board, 
July 2012 

Data outlining the potential impacts of welfare 
reform in the city. 

Plymouth Food Bank Data outlining the increase in demand for 
emergency food in the city and the reasons for 
need. 

Plymouth City Council Housing Register Housing register data used to highlight areas of 
most need for the national provision of free 
childcare for eligible two year’s.   

Plymouth City Council Childcare Sufficiency 
Assessment, 2011 

Provides information on the capacity of early 
year’s childcare provision in the city versus need.  

Plymouth Citizen’s Advice Bureau, 2010/11 Local data providing breakdown of debt within 
the city. 

Plymouth City Council, Plymouth Local 
Transport Plan, 2011-2026 

Local data on accessibility to transport by area in 
the city.  

Plymouth School Census, 2012 Numbers of school children eligible for free 
school meals. 

National Drug Evidence Centre, National Drug 
and Treatment System, 2011 
 
 
 

Analysis using this data used to demonstrate 
numbers of children whose parents were 
accessing drug and alcohol services.   

Page 45



Child Poverty Needs Assessment 2012 Page 10 
 

NHS Health and Social Care Information 
Centre, Lifestyle statistics / Omnibus, 
2012 

Data reporting smoking prevalence during 
pregnancy.  

Plymouth City Council Strategic Housing 
Market Needs Assessment, 2009-10 

Plymouth housing data including overcrowding, 
temporary accommodation and housing 
conditions. 

Plymouth Health Visitor Survey, 2010 Data from the survey used to demonstrate some 
of the key issues facing families with multiple 
problems.  

Plymouth Parent Partnership, Parent Survey, 
2010 

Survey data used to demonstrate the needs and 
issues raised by parents.  

Devon and Cornwall Police, Crime and Anti-
Social Behaviour data, 2011-12 

Data used to highlight prevalence of crime, anti-
social behaviour and domestic abuse in areas of 
higher deprivation.  

 
Data may be presented based using the following geographical terms:  
 

§ Neighbourhoods - Plymouth is made up of six geographical localities within which there are 39 
individual neighbourhoods. This map illustrates the localities and neighbourhoods referred to in 
the analysis within the needs assessment.  

 

§ Local Super Output Areas - Within each neighbourhood are smaller geographical areas 
known as Local Super Output Areas (LSOA), again referred to in the analysis. LSOAs are a sub-
ward geography averaging approximately 1,500 people. 

 
1.2.2 Qualitative evidence 
Qualitative research was undertaken with key stakeholders and practitioners across the city. This 
evidence has been used to highlight the causes and consequences of child poverty that statistics often do 
not reveal. Much of the evidence presented relates to barriers to work, living a healthy lifestyle, 
increasing aspiration, ending social isolation and factors that are limiting families being able to maximise 
their incomes. 
 
1.2.3 Data limitations 
The most prominent issue faced with some of the datasets is the timeliness of the data presented, the 
best example being the current national measure for child poverty. This measure allows us to measure 
child poverty locally and benchmark ourselves against other local authorities; however the most recent 
data available is for August 2009.  
 

In all cases most recent data has been used, and in most cases data from the past 12 months has been 
used. In some areas there has been a gap in the data available, or the data has not been obtainable. 
Going forward there may be benefits in making further attempts to use currently missing data to further 
enhance our knowledge of poverty and its impacts. At this stage there are some key local data gaps in 
the areas of transport, skills, mental health, smoking and key stage three education attainments. In 
addition, there remains a lack of up to date intelligence regarding the make-up of Plymouth’s families – 
for example the types of family, size of family and family circumstances. This will be resolved with the full 
release of the most recent census data over the coming 12 months.   
 

Page 46



Child Poverty Needs Assessment 2012 Page 11 
 

1.3 Defining Child Poverty 
 
There is no one single definition of poverty and the way that it is defined can depend on the type of 
poverty being studied. With any study of what child poverty is however, a distinction needs to be made 
between absolute and relative poverty.  
 
§ Absolute poverty refers to a set standard which is the same in all countries and which does not 

change over time. Absolute poverty relates to basic subsistence needs such as food, water and 
shelter.   

 

§ Relative poverty relates to a standard which is defined in terms of the society in which an 
individual lives and which therefore differs between countries and over time.  Peter Townsend 
pioneered a relative deprivation approach to poverty that covered a wide range of aspects of living 
standards, both material and social.  

 

Individuals, families and groups in the population can be said to be in poverty when they lack the resources to 
obtain the types of diet, participate in the activities, and have the living conditions and amenities which are 
customary, or at least widely encouraged or approved, in the societies to which they belong. Their resources are 
so seriously below those commanded by the average individual or family that they are, in effect, excluded from 
ordinary patterns, customs and activities. 

(Poverty in the United Kingdom, Peter Townsend, 1979) 
 

Townsend’s definition highlights that poverty is about a lack of resources. Poor people lack capital (both 
income and wealth), but they can also be resource-poor in other ways: they may lack human capital 
(such as education or good health), or social capital (such as positive and trustful communities). Yet it is 
money that, to a large extent, determines whether people are able to compensate for other shortfalls in 
their lives. That is why a lack of adequate financial resources is the decisive characteristic of poverty. 
 
1.3.1 A local definition of child poverty 
 

A city wide consultation was undertaken in June 2012 to seek people’s views on what they understand 
to be child poverty with a view to agreeing a local definition for use within the child poverty strategy.  
 

The following definition was most preferred and originally developed for use within the Plymouth 
Children and Young People’s Plan 2011-14. 
 

 
‘Child Poverty is essentially a result of poverty in families.  It is not simply due to a lack of money in the family.  It 
is the outcome of economic, environmental and social factors and can damage a child’s development and limit or 
prevent children and young people from having many of the experiences and opportunities that others take for 
granted.’ 

Plymouth Children and Young People’s Plan 2011-14 
 

 
  

Page 47



Child Poverty Needs Assessment 2012 Page 12 
 

1.4 Measuring child poverty 
 

There are four dimensions of poverty captured under the Child Poverty Act. They are: 
§ Relative low income poverty (below 60 per cent median household income) 
§ Absolute low income poverty (below 60 per cent of median household income at 2010/11 level) 
§ Persistent low income poverty (below 60 per cent of median household income for three years or 

longer) 
§ Material deprivation combined with relative low income (below 70 per cent median household 

income and suffering from inability to afford essential spending needs) 
 

The most well-known measure relative low income poverty, seen below, is used within this needs 
assessment. 
 

‘The proportion of children living in families in receipt of out of work (means-tested) benefits or in receipt of tax 
credits where their reported income is less than 60 per cent of median income’.  

Her Majesty’s Revenue and Customs, 2009 (formerly National Indicator 116) 
 

Focusing on relative poverty income recognises a central principle that all children and families should be 
equipped with the material resources required to participate fully in society so that they are able to 
access the full range of opportunities that society presentsv. 
 

Evidence shows that at below 60 per cent of the median income, material deprivation becomes a 
significant problem with families struggling to meet basic needs like food, heating, transport, clothing and 
the extra costs of schooling like equipment and trips.vi Drawing the line at 60% is accepted across 
academia and across developed countries. The links between material deprivation and living below 60% 
median income are strong and the correlation between poor outcome and children living on relatively 
low income is too strong to ignore.vii 
 

Using the low income relative poverty measure the most recent figures show that child poverty fell 
nationally by 2% in 2010/11, continuing a downward trend since 1998. This meant that in 2010/11, using 
a measure of families earning less than £214 per week, 2.3 million (18%) children in the UK were living 
in povertyviii.  In Plymouth this equates to 11,700, of which 10,380 are aged under-16.  
 

This downward trend however is not expected to continue. Under current government policies 
however, child poverty is projected to rise from 2012/13 with an expected 300,000 more children living 
in poverty by 2015/16. This upward trend is expected to continue with 4.2 million children projected to 
be living in poverty by 2020ix. 
 

Considering the broad definition of child poverty illustrated under section 1.3, there is an inherent 
problem with a child poverty measure based solely on income as it does not take into account other 
factors such as household debt, life chances and family circumstances.  As such, this needs assessment 
will consider income measures alongside a range of supplementary indicators to ensure that the fuller 
profile of child poverty in Plymouth is presented.  

                                            
v The importance of income in measuring and tackling child poverty, Save the Children, June 2012 
vi Child Poverty Map of the UK, March 2011, Campaign to End Child Poverty 
vii The importance of income in measuring and tackling child poverty, Save the Children, June 2012 
viii http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-18436795 June 2012 
ix Child Poverty Action Group, 2012 

Page 48



Child Poverty Needs Assessment 2012 Page 13 
 

1.5 Overview of the Causes and Impact of Child Poverty 
 
Poverty can be such a destructive force because of its long-term grip on families and 
communities, holding them back generation after generation. The disadvantages and barriers 
that parents experience are the source of this long-term impact. These barriers have a detrimental 
effect on children’s progression and well-being, which can impact right through into their adulthood, in 
turn affecting the subsequent generation. The way that disadvantage perpetuates is shaped by the 
experiences, attainment and outcomes of children growing up in socio-economic disadvantage and by 
the way that negative parental activities experienced through childhood may repeat in adulthoodx 
 

It is estimated that child poverty costs the UK at least £25 billion each year. Reduced educational 
opportunities which generate lower skills and productivity and lower taxes are estimated to account for 
£17 billion, while higher service costs make up the remainderxi. 
 
This section seeks to provide more detail about the causes and impact of child poverty as the 
introduction to Chapter 2 where the local profile of child poverty is presented and analysed under the 
following headings: 

 

o Financial support and independence 
 

o Family life and children’s life chances 
 

o Communities and neighbourhoods 
 
These headings seek to combine two key frameworks that set out an overarching approach for the 
development of local strategies to address child poverty. These include the ‘Building Blocks 
Frameworkxii’ developed by the Child Poverty Unit, alongside the framework outlined within the 
National Child Poverty Strategy: ‘A New Approach to Child Poverty: Tackling the Causes of 
Disadvantage and Transforming Families' Livesxiii’.   
  

                                            
x Allen, G (2011) ‘Early Intervention: the next steps’ An Independent Report to Her Majesty’s Government. 
http://www.dwp.gov.uk/docs/early-intervention-next-steps.pdf 
xi Child Poverty Action Group 2012 
xii Child Poverty Needs Assessment Toolkit, Local Government Improvement and Development, 2010 
xiii HM Government (2011) A new approach to child poverty: Tackling the causes of disadvantage and transforming families’ 
lives 

Page 49



Child Poverty Needs Assessment 2012 Page 14 
 

 

1.5.1 Financial Support & Independence 
 
 

Employment & Skills 
 

 
Employment is widely considered to be one of the 
key drivers of poverty. As well as being a major 
source of income, work generally improves 
people’s well-being and mental and physical 
health, with positive implications for their 
children. Conversely, being out of work, especially 
for long periods of time, can have a devastating 
impact upon people’s confidence, relationships, 
health and well-beingxiv.  
 
Despite the focus on raising employment levels in 
the UK, more than half of children living in 
poverty are from families where at least one 
parent is working. Fifty-five per cent of all children 
living in relative poverty (1.5 million children) in 
the UK live in a family where at least one adult is 
in some form of paid employment and this 
proportion has been increasing in recent yearsxv. 

 
The quality of employment rather than employment in 
itself is a key factor. Individuals can suffer recurrent 
poverty as they become caught in a low pay/no pay 
cycle caused by insecure low paid work.    Jobs that 
are not of high quality in terms of pay, conditions, 
flexibility and sustainability will not break the poverty 
cycle and can be detrimental to health and well-being 
in the long-term.   
 
 
The risks of poverty, material deprivation and wider 
disadvantage are much higher in families where no one 
works. For a child in a workless household, the risk of 
being in relative poverty (59 per cent) is far higher than 
the risk for children in families where all adults work 
(eight per cent)xvi.  
 
Most children will remain in the same quarter of the 
income distribution as their parents, so a childhood 
spent in poverty increases the likelihood of being poor 
in later life. 
 

 

Effects of Worklessness on Children 
 
 

 
There are a number of potential effects on 
children when income poverty is due to 
worklessness: 
• Low aspirations for their own futures in the 
absence of any vocational reinforcement 
• Lack of reinforcement of work ethic or 
normalisation of work  
 
 

 
• Lack of input/context building in formulating ideas on 
the world of work from parent 
• Constraints on social networks to support vocational 
and personal development 
• Temptation to supplement personal/ household 
income through illegitimate meansxvii 
 

  

                                            
xiv Waddell, G and Burton, K (2006) ‘Is Work Good for your Health and Well-Being?’ The Stationery Office; Black, C (2008) 
‘Working for a healthier tomorrow: Dame Carol Black’s Review of the health of Britain’s working age population’ 
xv Households Below Average Income 2008/09 
xvi Ibid 
xvii http://democracy.leeds.gov.uk/documents/s52219/Scrutiny%20Inquiry%20-
%20Combating%20Child%20Poverty%20and%20Raising%20Aspirations%20Background%20Report.pdf 

Page 50



Child Poverty Needs Assessment 2012 Page 15 
 

 

Barriers to Employment 
 

 

 
There are a number of barriers facing those who 
are in poverty due to worklessness or low income 
employment as follows: 
• Affordable transport and availability of transport 
linksxviii 
• Mismatched skills/experience and employer 
requirements including poor functional skills 
 

 
 

• Affordable, available and accessible childcarexix 
• Low self-esteem impacting confidence to seek 
employment 
• Caring responsibilities 
• Capacity to adapt from unstructured or chaotic 
lifestyles to work regimes 
• Fear of financial transition from benefits to work 
• Changes to in work benefit thresholds/eligibilities 
 
 

 

Financial Support 
 

 

 
It is recognised that for a significant number of 
people, employment is unlikely to provide them 
with an adequate household income. For the 
poorest 20% of households in the UK, benefits 
and tax credits constitute 58% of their gross 
incomexx. It is widely claimed, though it remains 
contentious, that boosting family incomes can 
have an immediate impact on improving living 
standards and has a long term impact on 
outcomesxxi.  
 
Targeting extra financial resource at low income 
families can have a direct impact on a range of 
important social policy areas, and where it 
supports households into work, the financial 
benefit to the household is greater than the direct 
financial transfer. 

 
 
Recent successes in driving down child poverty show 
that supporting parental employment (with a particular 
focus on groups with specific barriers to employment 
e.g. lone parents) and subsidising low paid employment 
are effective in reducing povertyxxii.  
 
The introduction of radical welfare reforms will see 
targeted welfare expenditure with cuts totalling £18 
billion from 2011-14xxiii. The Institute for Fiscal Studies 
say that “the largest average losses…from the modeled 
tax and benefit reforms to be introduced in 2012–13 
are among those in the bottom half of the income 
distribution.  
 
It is expected that the lowest-income fifth of 
households will lose about 1.5% of their net income 
from these reforms, on average.” xxiv The average 
household will be £200 a year worse off in 2012/13 as 
a result of tax rises and benefit cuts.xxv 
 

  

                                            
xviii An estimated four fifths of UK households are in what could be described as ‘transport poverty’. This means more than 
ten percent of their expenditure goes on transport. http://www.racfoundation.org/media-centre/transport-poverty 
xix A report by Save the Children and the Daycare Trust highlights that parents on a low income are twice as likely to turn 
down a job opportunity or leave a job because of child care costs as better off parentsxix. 
xx Department for Work and Pensions (2010) ‘Households Below Average Income: An analysis of the income distribution 
‘94/95-‘08/09’ 
xxi The importance of income in measuring and tackling child poverty, Save the Children, June 2012 
xxii Ibid 
xxiii Child Poverty Action Group, 2012 
xxiv IFS report ‘Tax and benefit reforms due in 2012-13, and the outlook for household incomes – sourced at 
http://www.ifs.org.uk/bns/bn126.pdf 
xxv http://www.ifs.org.uk/publications/5451 

Page 51



Child Poverty Needs Assessment 2012 Page 16 
 

 

Financial Management 
 
 

It’s more expensive to be poor! 
 

Banking & Credit: People on low incomes 
often end up paying more for the services they 
need because they cannot access mainstream 
financial products. Over 1.1 million households do 
not have access to a transactional bank account. 
Numbers are particularly high amongst lone 
parent households, those living in social rented 
accommodation, and those in the poorest 20 per 
cent of households.73 
 

Food Costs: Many families living in poverty live 
in areas where public transportation isn’t readily 
available or affordable, and can’t afford to own a 
car. Many of these poor families will be forced to 
settle for higher-priced ‘corner’ stores rather 
than travel to the nearest large supermarket. The 
way in which we produce and price food has also 
become a problem. Processed food has become 
cheaper and more available. Compared to the 
cost of preparing home-cooked meals consisting 
of vegetables, soup stock, and fresh meat, it’s no 
wonder that families on a tight income opt for 
convenient and often cheaper meals.  
 

The Trussell Trust which operates food banks 
across the country revealed in April 2012 that it 
was seeing increased demand and had opened 100 
new food banks in the last 12 months alonexxvi. 
The national charity Fareshare also reported in 
2011 that its donations were now reaching 35,000 
people a day across the United Kingdom, a rise 
from 29,000 the previous yearxxvii.  
 
Anecdotal evidence shows the profile of those in 
food poverty has changed with an increase in 
single parents, families on low income and families 
who have experienced a huge drop in income due 
to the loss of employment.xxviii 

 

Debt: Unmanageable personal debt can drive a cycle 
of poverty and distress that is very difficult for families 
to escape. It reduces household income available to 
spend, creates further pressures on parents and 
relationships, and in extreme cases has a significant 
impact on children’s quality of life and life chances.  
 

Poorer households are particularly vulnerable to over-
indebtedness and those in the lowest income band are 
twice as likely (18 per cent) to be in structural arrears 
(more than three months behind on any bill or 
payment) than households overall (9 per cent)xxix. The 
likelihood of being in arrears is also substantially above 
average for lone parent households (27 per cent), 
households living in rented accommodation (19 per 
cent) and those where one or both adults are 
unemployed (22 per cent)xxx. 
 

It is estimated that one in two people in debt will have 
a mental health problemxxxi.    
 

Energy Costs:  Households are considered by the 
Government to be in 'fuel poverty' if they would have 
to spend more than 10% of their household income on 
fuel to keep their home in 'satisfactory' condition. By 
2016, 2.6–3 million households are likely to be fuel 
poorxxxii. Some groups are at greater risk of fuel 
poverty – one in five lone parents, and a similar 
proportion of households in the private rented 
sectorxxxiii.  
 

Low income is a key driver of fuel poverty, whereby 
around 33% of the poorest fifth of households live in 
fuel povertyxxxiv. Households using a pre-payment 
meter are more likely to be in fuel poverty than those 
using other payment methodsxxxv. Research has found 
that vulnerable households in or on the margins of 
poverty are forced to pay an extra 1.1 billion a year 
through energy bills above those on higher 
incomesxxxvi. 

                                            
xxvi Britain on the breadline as thousands face food poverty, ITV News, April 2012 
xxvii 'Big rise' in charity food demand, says Fareshare, BBC News , October 2011 
xxviii Breakfast club boom reveals reality of child poverty, Channel 4 News, February 2012 
xxix Department for Business, Innovation and Skills (2010) ‘Over-indebtedness in Britain: Second follow-up report’ 
xxx Ibid 
xxxi Fitch, C. et al, Debt and mental health: what do we know? what should we do?, London: Royal College of Psychiatrists, 
2009  

Page 52



Child Poverty Needs Assessment 2012 Page 17 
 

 

1.5.2 Family Life and Children’s Life Chances 
 
 

Family and Personal Relationships 
 

 
There is conflicting evidence about the extent to 
which the negative outcomes for poor children 
are a result of parenting practicesxxxvii.  
 
Parents living in poverty are much more likely to 
be facing a range of issues other than material 
deprivation which may affect their parenting. 
These include low levels of education and few 
qualifications, lack of access to jobs and services, 
isolation, mental/physical ill health and domestic 
violence.  
 

 
These factors may act interdependently of each other 
but are also likely to interact, so that disaggregating 
their impact on parenting – and on outcomes for 
children – is extremely challengingxxxviii.  
 
In spite of the strong body of evidence linking poverty 
to poor outcomes, there is equally strong evidence to 
show that most parents living in poverty are 
remarkably resilient and possess strong coping skills in 
the face of the adversity in their livesxxxix. 

 

Early Years Development 
 

 
Successes individuals achieve during their adult life 
can be predicted by the level of cognitive and 
non-cognitive skills that children already possess 
on their first day at school.xl  
 
These differences in skill levels have been noted 
after 22 months of life, and by the age of three, 
poorer children are estimated to be, on average, 
nine months behind children from more wealthy 
backgroundsxli. 
 

 
There is lower participation in pre-school education 
amongst lower-income families. Even with free 
entitlement for all 3 and 4 year olds, and some free 
entitlement for 2 year olds in the most disadvantaged 
areasxlii. 

  

                                                                                                                                                         
xxxii Hills, J. Getting the measure of fuel poverty, 2012, Dept. of Energy and Climate Change 
xxxiii http://www.barnardos.org.uk/pricedoutreport.pdf 
xxxiv Marmot Review team (2011) ‘ The health impacts of cold homes and fuel poverty’ 
xxxv Department for Energy and Climate Change (2011) Annual Report on Fuel Poverty Statistics. DECC, London. 
www.decc.gov.uk/assets/decc/Statistics/fuelpoverty/2181-annual-report-fuel-poverty-stats-2011. Pdf. 
xxxvi Hills, J (2011) Fuel Poverty: The problem and its measurement. Centre for Analysis of Social Exclusion, London. 
www.decc.gov.uk/assets/decc/11/fundingsupport/fuel-poverty/3226-fuel-poverty-review-interimreport. pdf. 
xxxvii The relationship between parenting and poverty, Joseph Rowntree Foundation, 2007 
xxxviii Ibid 
xxxix Ibid 
xl Field, F. The Foundation Years: preventing poor children becoming poor adults, 2010, HM Government 
xli Ibid 
xlii Her Majesty’s Government ‘Families in the Foundation Years’ (2011) 

Page 53



Child Poverty Needs Assessment 2012 Page 18 
 

Educational Attainment 
 

 
While the gap is slowly closing between 
attainment levels of those on free school meals 
and other children are smaller than in previous 
yearsxliii, children growing up in poorer families 
still emerge from school with substantially lower 
levels of educational attainmentxliv.  
 
There is also a statistically significant relationship 
between households owning computers and 
higher GCSE resultsxlv 

 
Young people from low-income households are likely 
to leave school earlier and are around six times more 
likely to leave without qualifications. They are also 
more likely to not be in Employment, Education or 
Training (NEET) in the three years after completing 
compulsory educationxlvi.  
 
Being NEET between the ages of 16 and 18 years is 
associated with later negative outcomes, such as 
unemployment, lower pay, having a criminal record, 
poor health, teenage parenthood and negative 
psychological outcomes. 
 

  

                                            
xliii Aldridge, H. et al, Monitoring Poverty and Social Exclusion 2011, 2011, Joseph Rowntree Foundation 
xliv Goodman, A. and Gregg, P., Poorer children’s educational attainment: How important are attitudes and behaviour?, 2010, 
Joseph Rowntree Foundation 
xlv Schmitt and Wadsworth 2004 – is there an impact of household computer ownership on children’s educational attainment 
in Britain, Centre for Economic Performance Discussion Paper No 625 
xlvi Department for Education (2010) ‘Youth Cohort Study and Longitudinal Study of Young People in England: The Activities 
and Experiences of 18 year olds: England’ 

Page 54



Child Poverty Needs Assessment 2012 Page 19 
 

 

Health Outcomes 
 

The relationship between poverty and ill-health is bi-directional: poverty contributes to ill-health and ill-
health contributes to poverty.  
 

There is a social gradient in health – the lower a person’s social position, the worse his or her health.  
Children born into low-income households are more likely to experience health problems from birth and 
accumulate health risks as they grow older. In addition, they are less likely to access healthcare.  
 
 

Physical Healthxlvii 
Research comparing outcomes of children from 
families in poverty with those not in poverty 
shows clear-cut health differences at each stage 
of the life cycle (Hirsch and Spencer, 2008). The 
health penalties of poverty start before birth.  
 

Maternal characteristics such as diet and stress 
levels during pregnancy help to explain why 
children born into poverty have a much higher 
chance of a low birth weight, which is associated 
with extra health risks throughout life.  
 
Children in low income families are also less 
likely to be breastfed, and more likely to 
contract various diseases such as asthma, report 
longstanding illness, be obese and have certain 
disabilities. Poverty can contribute in various 
ways to different health conditions, including the 
knock-on effects of poor maternal health and 
diet, the diet of children living in poverty, and 
poor housing, which can influence the 
contraction of respiratory diseases, for example. 
 

Mental Healthxlviii 
At least as important as the impact on physical 
health is the damage that poverty does to 
psychological and emotional well-being. Children 
in poverty are substantially more likely to have 
mental illnesses, with family stress and adverse 
living conditions playing contributing roles. 

 

Unintentional Accidents and Injuries 
Poverty and disadvantage are key factors in unintentional 
child injuryxlix which is a major cause of avoidable ill 
health, disability and death in deprived communities.  
 
Young people living in the most deprived areas are three 
times more likely to be hit by a car than those in the 
least deprived areas; and, overall, children and young 
people whose parents have never worked or are long-
term unemployed are 13 times more likely to die from 
unintentional injuryl. 
 
Risk Taking Behaviour 
Children living in families where their parents or carers 
are misusing alcohol are more vulnerable to a number of 
the symptoms associated with child poverty, in 
particular lower educational attainment, persistent 
absence from school and earning a lower income in 
adult life.li  
 
Young people from poorer families are more likely than 
those from richer families to engage in risky behaviours 
such as unprotected sex, smoking, drug-taking and 
truancylii.  
 

Engaging in several risky behaviours is associated with up 
to a 20 per cent reduction in GCSE pointsliii. Poverty is 
also linked to teenage pregnancy.  
 

Teenage mothers comprise 11 per cent of all NEET 16 
to 18 year oldsliv and are 20 per cent more likely to have 
no qualifications than older motherslv.  

                                            
xlvii Estimating the costs of child poverty, JRF, October 2008 
xlviii Ibid 
xlix Field, F., The Foundation Years: preventing poor children becoming poor adults, HM Government, 2010 
l Better Safe than Sorry, Audit Commission and Healthcare Commission, 2007 
li World Health Organisation, 2006, Child Maltreatment and Alcohol, WHO Fact Sheet   
lii Chowdhury, H et al. ‘Outcomes in the secondary school years: evidence from the Longitudinal Study of Young People in 
England’ in Goodman, A and Gregg, P (2010) ‘Poorer children’s educational attainment: how important are attitudes and 
behaviour?’ Joseph Rowntree Foundation 
liii Cebulla, A and Tomaszewski, T (2009) ‘Risky Behaviour and Social Activities.’ DCSF Research Report 173 

Page 55



Child Poverty Needs Assessment 2012 Page 20 
 

 

 

1.5.3 Communities & Neighbourhoods 
 

The poorer the neighbourhood, the more likely it is to have high rates of crime, poor air quality, lack of 
green spaces and safe places for children to playlvi. 
 

Neighbourhoods play an important role in the socialisation of children. Individuals judge their position in 
society in relation to their neighbours so growing up in a deprived neighbourhood often leads to lower 
aspirations. Young people may copy or learn antisocial behaviour from other people in the area so that 
poor behaviours are normalised.  
 
 

Housing  
Families living in poor housing are more likely to 
suffer from a range of health problems including 
poorer mental health and cognitive development 
as well as respiratory and stomach problems. 
Those growing up in the poorest households are 
more likely to suffer enduring physical and 
mental health problems in adulthood and have 
increased risk of severe, long-term and life-
limiting illness. Children in these households are 
more likely than their more affluent peers to 
have difficulty in sleeping, studying or playing at 
home which can affect their health, their school 
lives and their social participationlvii. 
 

There is also strong evidence that poor housing 
conditions are associated with educational 
underachievement, with children in better 
quality homes gaining greater numbers of 
GCSEs, ‘A’ levels and degrees, and therefore 
having greater earning power. 
 

Public Spaces 
Public space is of particular value for the 
wellbeing of low-income children. It can 
compensate children for a lack of space at home. 
While studies show that there are more play 
areas in deprived areas, their quality is generally 
poorer.  

 

Crime / Antisocial Behaviour 
The association between childhood poverty and 
behavioural outcomes is evident from an early age. 
Those growing up in low-income households have a 
greater likelihood of parent-reported behaviour 
problems, to be excluded from school, take risks, be 
aggressive, be involved in crime and to self-harm. 

The longer term impacts of being involved in crime are 
well documented with young offenders less likely to 
achieve a high standard of educational attainment and 
find it more difficult to gain employmentlviii. 
 
People living in disadvantaged areas are more likely to 
become victims of and to fear crime. In 2005, 
unemployed people were three times more likely than 
average to be victims of violent crime and lone parents 
were more than twice as likely as the average to be 
burgled.lix  Poor households often lack insurance to 
cover property loss. Crime lowers their property values 
as well, making it harder to accumulate capital and 
borrow money. Crime can also hamper commerce and 
industry in inner cities by raising the operating costs of 
businesses and scaring away customers and suppliers. 

 
The social impacts of crime are substantial and far-
reaching. They include financial, emotional and time cost 
to victims, costs to the youth justice system and the 
school system, as well as short and long term 
consequences for the perpetrator.   

                                                                                                                                                         
liv Local Authority Client Caseload Information System (CCIS) data, November 2009 – January 2010 
lv Ermisch, J (2003) ‘Does a ‘teen birth’ have longer term impacts on the mother?’ Suggestive evidence from the British 
Household Panel Study, ISER Working Papers No.2003-32; Institute for Social and Economic Research. 
lvi Marmot, M (2010) ‘Fair Society, Healthy Lives’ p. 78 
lvii Hawthorne et al. (2003) ‘Supporting children through family change.’ Joseph Rowntree Foundation 
lviii Griggs, J. and Walker, R., The costs of child poverty for individuals and society: A literature review, 2008, Joseph 
Rowntree Foundation 
lix Palmer,G., Carr, J., and Kenway,P. Monitoring poverty and Social Exclusion,2005, Joseph Rowntree Trust & New Policy 
Institute, York. 
 

Page 56



Child Poverty Needs Assessment 2012 Page 21 
 

2. WHAT DOES CHILD POVERTY LOOK 
LIKE IN PLYMOUTH? 

 
This Chapter presents an overview of Plymouth’s economic and social context and illustrates the local 
profile of child poverty under the following headings: 

 

o Financial support and independence 
 

o Family life and children’s life chances 
 

o Communities and neighbourhoods 
 
A Child Poverty Geographical Reference map can found in Appendix I. 
 
2.1 Plymouth’s Context 
The city’s current population is 256,400lx, with an Office for National Statistics’ (2010) projection of 
269,800 by 2026, much lower than its 2008 projection of 294,400. This makes Plymouth the 15th most 
populated city in England and Wales.  
 
The population projection also indicates an increase in the proportion of children and older people in 
the city and a decrease in the proportion of those aged 15 to 64. The population aged over 65 is 
projected to rise by 11,000 or 27%; while there will be an increase of 7,700 people aged 0-14 – with the 
birth rate likely to be highest in the poorer parts of the city.  
 
Plymouth faces a number of issues in relation to the city’s economy with productivity lagging behind 
better performing cities such as Bristol, Swindon, Derby and Leeds and more akin with Sunderland and 
Hull. There are however, significant levels of deprivation, being just above the bottom 20% of local 
authorities for levels of deprivation.  
 
2.1.1 Areas of Deprivation 
Plymouth has high levels of deprivation with a number of neighbourhoods among some of the most 
deprived in the country. The 2010 Indices of Multiple Deprivation highlights that Plymouth is just above 
the bottom 20% of local authorities for levels of deprivation, being ranked 72 out of 326. Plymouth is 
most deprived in the domains of income and employment scale.  
 
Figure 2.1illustrates the distribution of deprivation, highlighting the most deprived neighbourhoods as 
Devonport, Stonehouse, North Prospect & Weston Mill, East End, Whitleigh, Morice Town, Barne 
Barton, Honicknowle, Ernesettle and Ham & Pennycross.  
 
 
 
 
  

                                            
lx Office of National Statistics, UK Census 2011 

Page 57



Child Poverty Needs Assessment 20
 

Figure 2.1 
 

Source: Department of Communities and Local Government, Indices of multiple deprivation 2010
 

 
 
 
2.1.2 Child Poverty in Plymouth 
Plymouth has 11,700 children living in poverty
compared to 21.2% nationally and 16.5% in the South West.  
the previous 12 months.   
 
Nearly 70% of children in poverty (7,945 or 68%) live in lone parent fami
(41%) live in families with three or more children
 
The map overleaf illustrates the distribution of child poverty with emphasis on the western side of the 
city, known to contain some of the most deprived neighbourhoods

                                            
lxi Her Majesty’s Revenues and Customs, NI 116, ‘The proportion of children living in families in receipt of out of work 
benefits or tax credits where their reported income is less than 60% median income’ snapshot as at 31
 
lxii Ibid 

Most deprived neighbourhoods
Devonport
Stonehouse
North Prospect & Weston Mill
East End
Whitleigh

 2012 Pa

 
Department of Communities and Local Government, Indices of multiple deprivation 2010 

 

Poverty in Plymouth  
11,700 children living in povertylxi (of which 10,380 are under 18).  This equates to 

compared to 21.2% nationally and 16.5% in the South West.  This is an increase of 600 children from 

Nearly 70% of children in poverty (7,945 or 68%) live in lone parent families.  Also, more than two fifths 
(41%) live in families with three or more childrenlxii.  

illustrates the distribution of child poverty with emphasis on the western side of the 
city, known to contain some of the most deprived neighbourhoods of the city. However, other areas of 

Her Majesty’s Revenues and Customs, NI 116, ‘The proportion of children living in families in receipt of out of work 
benefits or tax credits where their reported income is less than 60% median income’ snapshot as at 31

Deprivation score
60

51.39
42.75
42.67
41.3

Page 22 

  

(of which 10,380 are under 18).  This equates to 22.1% 
This is an increase of 600 children from 

lies.  Also, more than two fifths 

illustrates the distribution of child poverty with emphasis on the western side of the 
of the city. However, other areas of 

Her Majesty’s Revenues and Customs, NI 116, ‘The proportion of children living in families in receipt of out of work 
benefits or tax credits where their reported income is less than 60% median income’ snapshot as at 31st August 2009 

 

Page 58



Child Poverty Needs Assessment 20
 

the city also contain pockets of poverty, most notably in the neighbourhoods of Efford, Leigham & 
Mainstone and Plympton St Maurice & Yealmpstone
 
The highest rate of child poverty can be fou
one Local Super Output Area (LSOA) alone
and these can be found in the neighbourhoods of
Prospect / Weston Mill.lxiii 
 
Figure 2.2 
Distribution 

Source: Her Majesty’s Revenues and Customs, 2009
Worst Neighbourhoods  

 
Trend 
Using the former NI 116 measure reported above
relatively steady over the past five years.  Given the national economic downturn, increasing 
unemployment and costs of living, it is likely that the numbers in poverty will have further 
increased.  
 
2.1.3 Free School Meals (FSM)
Children in families on certain types of benefits such as Income Support and Job Seekers Allowance are 
entitled to free meals at school.  Free Schools Meals data is often used a proxy measure for child 
poverty and can help shed light on the num
 

                                            
lxiii Ibid 

Neighbourhood Number of children living in 
poverty

Honicknowle
Barne Barton
Devonport
Efford
North Prospect

 2012 Pa

the city also contain pockets of poverty, most notably in the neighbourhoods of Efford, Leigham & 
Mainstone and Plympton St Maurice & Yealmpstone 

overty can be found in North Prospect with 57.6% of children in poverty
one Local Super Output Area (LSOA) alone.  Five other LSOAs have over 50% of children in poverty 

the neighbourhoods of Devonport, Stonehouse, City Centre & North 

 
Her Majesty’s Revenues and Customs, 2009 

 

16 measure reported above, the trend in child poverty has been 
relatively steady over the past five years.  Given the national economic downturn, increasing 
unemployment and costs of living, it is likely that the numbers in poverty will have further 

(FSM) 
Children in families on certain types of benefits such as Income Support and Job Seekers Allowance are 
entitled to free meals at school.  Free Schools Meals data is often used a proxy measure for child 
poverty and can help shed light on the number of deprived children in Plymouth. 

Number of children living in 

865
790
780
715
630

Page 23 

the city also contain pockets of poverty, most notably in the neighbourhoods of Efford, Leigham & 

7.6% of children in poverty in 
LSOAs have over 50% of children in poverty 

Devonport, Stonehouse, City Centre & North 

the trend in child poverty has been 
relatively steady over the past five years.  Given the national economic downturn, increasing 
unemployment and costs of living, it is likely that the numbers in poverty will have further 

Children in families on certain types of benefits such as Income Support and Job Seekers Allowance are 
entitled to free meals at school.  Free Schools Meals data is often used a proxy measure for child 

 

Page 59



Child Poverty Needs Assessment 2012 Page 24 
 

Across the city there are 6,779 children eligible for free school mealslxiv, spread across Schools, 
Academies and Primaries.  The neighbourhoods with the highest levels of Free School Meal eligibility are 
detailed below.  There is a clear correlation between eligibility and the most deprived areas of the city. 
 
Table 2.1 

Neighbourhood 
% 
Eligible 

Devonport 40.0% 
North Prospect & Weston Mill 35.3% 
City Centre 35.3% 
Stonehouse 34.6% 
Barne Barton 34.5% 
Efford  31.6% 
Morice Town 30.7% 
East End 29.8% 
Keyham 29.1% 
Honicknowle 27.6% 
Source: Plymouth School Census January 2012  
 
Although the aim of free school meals is to support the most deprived families, there are many who do 
not take up the offer. Across all schools in Plymouth lxv , 79% of those eligible used free school meals. 
Twenty schools had a take up rate in excess of 90% whilst fourteen schools had a take up rate of less 
than 70%.  A recent study by the Institute of Social and Economic Researchlxvi suggests that stigma is one 
of the main reasons behind families not opting for free school meals and local anecdotal evidence 
concurs with this.  Children taking free school meals can be singled out by having to use vouchers or eat 
separately from their friends. In addition, structural changes to the welfare system may result in a 
significant number of children and young people no longer eligible to receive Free School Meals. The 
impact of this is currently being reviewed but, based on current take up numbers, some children may 
end up not having the one hot meal each day that they currently receive at school. 

 
  

                                            
lxiv Plymouth School Census 2012 
lxv There were 14 schools (academies) who did not provide FSM take up data – these cover some large schools and account 
for over 2000 eligible children.  
lxvi http://www.guardian.co.uk/education/2012/sep/23/free-school-meals-stigma?newsfeed=true 

Page 60



Child Poverty Needs Assessment 2012 Page 25 
 

2.2 FINANCIAL SUPPORT AND INDEPENDENCE  
 
This section examines economic activity in Plymouth set in the context of the national and local 
economy, and includes the level and distribution of worklessness and welfare dependency. This section 
also considers those in employment but who may also be living in poverty and examines some of the 
main barriers to employment and financial independence such as child care provision, transport and 
financial management. The impact of significant welfare reform is also reviewed. 
 
2.2.1 Plymouth’s Economy 
Long term unemployment is rising with 10,900 unemployed during the period April 2011 to March 2012 
compared to 9,700 in the previous year.lxvii   The rate of unemployment (8.1%) is in line with the national 
average (8.1%) however is high for the region (6.2%).   
 
Plymouth currently has 40,900 working age people (23.8%) considered economically inactive which is 
similar to the national average (23.5%) but higher than the regional average (21.6%).lxviii  Over the past 
five years, Plymouth has had a high rate of economic inactivity however figures for March 2012 show a 
significant reduction in numbers.  The rate of those defined as long-term sick is still higher than the 
national and regional averages (25% as opposed to 22.2% and 19.8%). This correlates with the high rate 
of Employment Support Allowance (ESA) / Incapacity Benefit claimants outlined later in this section.  
10,200 working age people in Plymouth were classified as long-term sick during the period April 2011 - 
March 2012.  
 
Plymouth residents have a lower than average rate of pay at £445 per week as opposed to £503 
nationally and £473 regionally.lxix  According to the South West Observatory Plymouth Local Profile 
2012, the median gross full-time annual pay for Plymouth residents is £23,879 which is below the median 
for both the South West (£24,922) and England (£26,615).  The equivalent pay figure for those working 
in Plymouth is £25,978, illustrating a tendency for those commuting into the city to be the highest 
earners. lxx  According to the Plymouth City Council Economic Review 2011, 20% of full-time workers in 
Plymouth recorded annual gross earnings of just £15,900, almost £8,000 below the median valuelxxi. It is 
these people who are particularly vulnerable to in-work poverty. 
 
There are also higher levels of people working in part time jobs. In the first quarter of 2011, 30% of 
employees were in part time jobs compared to a national figure of 25.7% and South West figure of 
28.7%lxxii. Even if there is an increase in new job creation, if they are predominantly low paid and/or part 
time, this will do little to redress poverty. 
 
 
 
 

                                            
lxvii NOMIS Labour Market Profile Plymouth March 2012 
lxviii Ibid 
lxix Ibid 
lxx http://www.swo.org.uk/local-profiles/ 
lxxi Plymouth City Council Economic Review Issue 1, October 2011 
lxxii Ibid 

Page 61



Child Poverty Needs Assessment 2012 Page 26 
 

Plymouth’s Labour Market 
Plymouth has a large public sector and military presence which is mostly focused around the dockyard 
where the deepest deprivation can be found.lxxiii  40% of workers in the city are employed in the public 
sector which is significantly higher than the UK average (30%)lxxiv and leaves the city particularly 
vulnerable to public sector job cuts.  Plymouth has relatively high levels of employment in the 
distribution, hotels and restaurants and manufacturing sectors. There are correspondingly low levels of 
employment in the more productive sectors of banking, finance and insurance.lxxv  The Heart of the 
South West Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) has job creation as one of its priorities as well as 
increasing levels of earning and ensuring the city’s workforce is equipped with the right skills.lxxvi  Also, 
one of the targets of the Council’s Economic Strategy is to increase the employment rate in the city 
from 74% to 80% by 2016.lxxvii 
 
The number of unfilled vacancies in the city has been falling in the long-term, but the rate of decline has 
accelerated through the national economic downturn. The ratio of out of work claimants to unfilled 
vacancy has remained above the UK average over the last 2-3 years, with the gap widening in recent 
months. This implies a worsening supply and demand mismatch and, subsequently, fewer employment 
opportunities for the unemployed. 
 
Skills and Qualifications 
By comparison with national and regional averages, Plymouth has a lower-qualified workforce overall.lxxviii  
People of working age in Plymouth are less likely to hold qualifications at levels 2, 3 and 4 than nationally 
and only one in five adults have a level 4 (degree) or higher qualification compared to one in four 
nationally.   
 
There is a high rate of outward migration with people moving out of the area when they achieve 
qualifications as they perceive opportunities to be better elsewhere.  A result of this migration dynamic 
is that the remaining indigenous workforce tends to display characteristics of lower than average skills 
and ambition.lxxix   
 
Anecdotal evidence suggests that many people looking for work in the city do not possess basic 
employability skillslxxx alongside poor numeracy and literacy skills thus making it hard for local employers 
to fill some vacancies. This view is echoed in the Plymouth Manufacturing Sector Growth Plan reportlxxxi 
and solutions recommended by employers included recruiting from other areas of the country, 
recruiting workers from other countries and recruiting students from overseas. However, the presence 
of lowers skilled jobs is important for the growth of the city as they can be used as a stepping stone to 
employment in higher skilled jobs.  
 
                                            
lxxiii Plymouth City Council Worklessness Plan, October 2011 
lxxiv http://www.heartofswlep.co.uk/key-stats 
lxxv Statement of Skills and Employment Priorities, Plymouth Employment and Skills Board, 2010  
lxxvi http://www.heartofswlep.co.uk/priorities 
lxxvii http://www.plymouth.gov.uk/localeconomicstrategy 
lxxviii Ibid 
lxxix Plymouth City Council, Economic Strategy, 2011 update 
lxxx Employability skills refer to skills such as time management, team working and communication 
lxxxi Plymouth Manufacturing Sector Growth Plan: Skills and Recruitment Issues, Plymouth Manufacturers’ Group and 
Plymouth Employment and Skills Board,  December 2011 

Page 62



Child Poverty Needs Assessment 2012 Page 27 
 

Qualitative evidence collected also suggests that while there is a wide range of support currently on 
offer for basic skills including literacy and numeracy, there have been difficulties engaging with key 
sectors of the population including lone parents and long term unemployed. This suggests either that the 
targeting of these services may need to be refined or that additional factors are preventing people from 
taking up these opportunities to improve their employability.  
 
Plymouth’s Resilience to Economic Pressures  
The current economic climate remains extremely challenging and it is essential that this be considered in 
the context of the government’s deficit reduction measures which will impact on those already in/at risk 
of poverty across the city, as followslxxxii[1]:  
 

§ The projected and continuing rise in unemployment, particularly affected by the reductions in 
public funding will increase the risk for those in work and the challenge for those seeking entry 

§ Uncertainty over the capacity of the private sector to generate sufficient jobs to offset losses 
from public sector 

§ Faltering consumer confidence and its effectiveness in stimulating the economy 
§ The uncertainty of the housing market, particularly impacting those forced to sell to minimise 

debt and the consequential impact on the rented sector 
§ Structural changes to out of and in work benefits  
§ Below cost of living wage rises 

 
An analysis of Plymouth’s economic resiliencelxxxiii found that:  
 

§ 15% of Plymouth households are at risk of falling into poverty. This ranks Plymouth 174th of 406 
local authorities analysed (first being the worst).  

§ The biggest proportion of these 15% is classed as “low income families occupying poor quality 
older terraces” (5.8%).  

§ 2.3% are “often indebted families living in low rise estates” 
 

This index does not provide a definitive measure of resilience, but does support an important message 
about the economic fragility of the city. Whilst the prevailing economic conditions create challenging 
circumstances for any area, the city’s underpinning economic weaknesses make these challenges far 
more daunting. This will have implications for the city’s ability to tackle child poverty. 

 
2.2.2 Out of Work Poverty 
Research suggests that workless households are significantly more likely to experience poverty than 
households in which at least one adult is in work.lxxxiv Also, children growing up without a working adult 
may be less likely to work themselveslxxxv which maintains the cycle of worklessness and poverty.  The 
following analysis uses benefit claimant data to present a picture of unemployment across the city. 

                                            
lxxxii http://democracy.leeds.gov.uk/documents/s52219/Scrutiny%20Inquiry%20-
%20Combating%20Child%20Poverty%20and%20Raising%20Aspirations%20Background%20Report.pdf 
lxxxiii Experian Economic Resilience Index - 2010 
lxxxiv State of the Nation Report: Poverty, Worklessness and Welfare Dependency in the UK, 2010, HM Government 
lxxxvIbid 

Page 63



Child Poverty Needs Assessment 20
 

Plymouth has an average rate of economic 
compared to 23.5% nationally and 21.6
in the period April 2011 – March 2012

 
Job Seeker’s Allowance (JSA)
Job Seeker’s Allowance data does not allow us to map children and families but does provide a useful 
overview of unemployment across the city and demonstrates the link between deprivation and levels of 
unemployment. Plymouth has 7,050 people claiming Job S
than the South West average of 3%, but comparable to the national average (4.1%)
 
Figure 2.3 
 
Distribution 
 

 
Source: Department for Work and Pensions
2011 
Worst Neighbourhoods 
 

 

                                            
lxxxvi NOMIS Labour Market Profile, April 2011 
lxxxvii Ibid 

Highest five neighbourhoods Numbers of total JSA claimants
Stonehouse
Devonport
Stoke
East End
Honicknowle

 2012 Pa

an average rate of economic inactivity amongst its working age population
21.6% regionally).  There were 10,900 people aged 16

March 2012, an increase of 1,200 from the previous period

(JSA) 
Job Seeker’s Allowance data does not allow us to map children and families but does provide a useful 
overview of unemployment across the city and demonstrates the link between deprivation and levels of 

Plymouth has 7,050 people claiming Job Seekers Allowance (4.1%).  This is 
than the South West average of 3%, but comparable to the national average (4.1%)

 

ensions - JSA Claimants by Local Super Output area, November 

 

NOMIS Labour Market Profile, April 2011 – March 2012 

Numbers of total JSA claimants
595
380
295
275
270

 

Page 28 

activity amongst its working age population (23.8% 
people aged 16-64 unemployed 

an increase of 1,200 from the previous period.lxxxvi   

Job Seeker’s Allowance data does not allow us to map children and families but does provide a useful 
overview of unemployment across the city and demonstrates the link between deprivation and levels of 

eekers Allowance (4.1%).  This is slightly higher 
than the South West average of 3%, but comparable to the national average (4.1%)lxxxvii.   

JSA Claimants by Local Super Output area, November 

Page 64



Child Poverty Needs Assessment 20
 

Trend 
Levels of long term unemployment have been rising and pos
are a barrier to reducing levels of child poverty.

 
The map above highlights those areas 
rate are situated on the western side of the city covering deprived neighbourhoods 
Barne Barton, Whitleigh and North Prospect and 
within the Stonehouse neighbourhood.
 
Employment Support Allowance
Plymouth has a higher than average 
the national average of 6.6% and regional average of 5.8%
average number of long term sick.lxxxix

those economically inactive) compared to
 
Figure 2.4 
Distribution 

Source: Department for Work and Pensions
area, November 2011 

                                            
lxxxviii DWP Employment & Support Allowance/ Incapacity Benefits, November 2011
lxxxix NOMIS Labour Marker Profile, February 2012
xc Ibid 

 2012 Pa

Levels of long term unemployment have been rising and pose a concern to the city and 
a barrier to reducing levels of child poverty.  

The map above highlights those areas with the highest rate of JSA claimants.  Areas
estern side of the city covering deprived neighbourhoods 

Barne Barton, Whitleigh and North Prospect and Weston Mill.  The highest rate of JSA claimants falls 
within the Stonehouse neighbourhood. 

Employment Support Allowance (ESA) / Incapacity Benefits  
higher than average proportion of ESA / Incapacity benefit claimants

the national average of 6.6% and regional average of 5.8%lxxxviii.  This correlates with a 
lxxxix 10,200 working age people are classified as long

those economically inactive) compared to nationally (22.2%) and regionally (19.8%).

 
ensions – ESA/ Incapacity benefit claimants by Local Super Output 

DWP Employment & Support Allowance/ Incapacity Benefits, November 2011 
February 2012 

 

Page 29 

e a concern to the city and 

.  Areas with a relatively high 
estern side of the city covering deprived neighbourhoods such as Devonport, 

The highest rate of JSA claimants falls 

 
claimants (8%) compared to 

.  This correlates with a higher than 
classified as long-term sick (25% of 

nationally (22.2%) and regionally (19.8%).xc 

ESA/ Incapacity benefit claimants by Local Super Output 

Page 65



Child Poverty Needs Assessment 2012 Page 30 
 

Worst Neighbourhoods and Trend 
 

 

 
The map above illustrates distribution of ESA / Incapacity benefit claimants. LSOA’s where the claimant 
rates are highest form part of Devonport, Stonehouse and Whitleigh neighbourhoods. Eleven 
neighbourhoods have LSOA’s that fall within the deprivation ‘Upper Middle’ quintile, these are; 
Devonport, Stonehouse, Keyham, St Budeaux and Kings Tamerton, Ernesettle, Ham and Pennycross, 
Honicknowle, Whitleigh, Southway and Efford.          
 
All Incapacity Benefit claims are currently being reviewed and recent figures show that nationally around 
one-third are being ruled unfit to work.xci  As a result, Plymouth is likely to see a decline in the number 
of Incapacity Benefit claimants who will instead be transferred to Job Seekers Allowance and therefore 
become economically active.  Actual numbers likely to be affected will be 4255xcii people who will see an 
average reduction of £16.50 in their weekly income equating to £858 annually.  An additional 3000+ 
people will see a change in their income when they are moved from Incapacity Benefit to benefits other 
than Job Seekers Allowance. 
 
Children in workless households 
Figure 2.5 illustrates the location of children who are residing in families where at least one parent is out 
of work. The distribution is similar to overall unemployment represented by JSA claimants and 
demonstrates that some of our most deprived neighbourhoods are housing the highest numbers of 
children in “out of work” families. 
 
  

                                            
xci Third of incapacity benefit claimants ruled fit to work – The Guardian 15th March 2012 
xcii Welfare Reform – Overview and Management Scrutiny Board – July 2012 

Highest five neighbourhoods Number of all ESA/IB claimants
Stonehouse 1235
Devonport 700
Whitleigh 700
Honicknowle 670
St. Budeaux & Kings Tamerton 575

Page 66



Child Poverty Needs Assessment 20
 

Figure 2.5 
Distribution 

 
Source: Department for Work and Pensions 
Worst Neighbourhoods and Trend 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
North Prospect and Weston Mill, which had 860 children living in families claiming workless benefits
represents the neighbourhood with the highest number. This compares to 
neighbourhood with a more transient population 
 
Seven further neighbourhoods have more than 500 children resident in workless families claiming 
benefits, these are; Honicknowle, Devonport, Efford, Barne Barton, Stonehouse, 
Budeaux & Kings Tamerton. 
 
Child Tax Credits 
As at August 2010 (most recent data available)
Tax Credits.xciii  The map below illustrates the distribution of these families 
claiming additional out of work benefits such as J
 

                                            
xciii Her Majesty’s Revenues and Customs, Families out of work claiming c

Highest five neighbourhoods 

North Prospect & Weston Mill 
Honicknowle 
Devonport 
Efford  
Barne Barton 
 

 2012 Pa

 

Work and Pensions – Children aged 0-15 living in workless families, November 2011
 

North Prospect and Weston Mill, which had 860 children living in families claiming workless benefits
represents the neighbourhood with the highest number. This compares to just 40 in Mutley
neighbourhood with a more transient population and less children resident.  

Seven further neighbourhoods have more than 500 children resident in workless families claiming 
benefits, these are; Honicknowle, Devonport, Efford, Barne Barton, Stonehouse, Whitleigh and St 

(most recent data available), there were 6,340 out of work families claiming 
The map below illustrates the distribution of these families who will 
l out of work benefits such as Job Seekers Allowance or Incapacity 

Families out of work claiming child tax credit – August 2010

No. of 
children in 
workless 
families 

860 
735 
640 
590 
560 

Page 31 

15 living in workless families, November 2011 

North Prospect and Weston Mill, which had 860 children living in families claiming workless benefits, 
just 40 in Mutley, a 

Seven further neighbourhoods have more than 500 children resident in workless families claiming 
Whitleigh and St 

families claiming Child 
will often also be 

ncapacity Benefits. 

August 2010 

 

Page 67



Child Poverty Needs Assessment 20
 

The data shows that the highest numbers of out of work families reside in our most deprived areas. The 
following neighbourhoods have the highest number
Weston Mill (430), Stonehouse (410), Honicknowle (405), Devonport (385), Barne Barton (350), Efford 
(335) and Whitleigh (330).   
 
Figure 2.6 
Distribution 
 

 
Source: Her Majesty’s Revenue and Customs 
Worst Neighbourhoods and Trend 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Youth Unemployment 
Evidence shows that the longer individuals spen
out of work later in life and, when in work, the lower their wages. 
during a recession can suffer long-lasting damaging consequences.

                                            
xciv Harkness, S., Gregg, P. and MacMillan, L. 
Foundation 
 

Highest five neighbourhood 

North Prospect & Weston Mill 
Stonehouse 
Honicknowle 
Devonport 
Barne Barton 
 

 2012 Pa

The data shows that the highest numbers of out of work families reside in our most deprived areas. The 
following neighbourhoods have the highest numbers of out of work families; North Prospect and 
Weston Mill (430), Stonehouse (410), Honicknowle (405), Devonport (385), Barne Barton (350), Efford 

 

Source: Her Majesty’s Revenue and Customs – August 2010  
 

Evidence shows that the longer individuals spend out of work as a youth, the more time they also spen
out of work later in life and, when in work, the lower their wages.  Young people who are unemployed 

lasting damaging consequences.xciv 

Harkness, S., Gregg, P. and MacMillan, L. Poverty: the role of institutions, behaviours and culture

 

No of out of work 
families claiming out 
of work tax credits 

430 
410 
405 
385 
350 

Page 32 

The data shows that the highest numbers of out of work families reside in our most deprived areas. The 
s of out of work families; North Prospect and 

Weston Mill (430), Stonehouse (410), Honicknowle (405), Devonport (385), Barne Barton (350), Efford 

the more time they also spend 
oung people who are unemployed 

Poverty: the role of institutions, behaviours and culture, 2012, Joseph Rowntree 

 

Page 68



Child Poverty Needs Assessment 20
 

Plymouth had 2,215 JSA claimants aged 18
population aged 18-24.  This is a lower 
comparable to the regional average (5.1%)
young people claiming JSA as a proportion of 
to 29%) which reflects the fact that 18
population than they do nationally.  
 
The map below illustrates the distribution of 
numbers again higher in more deprived areas. 
opportunities will undoubtedly make this cohort of people spread across the city more vulnerable to 
slipping into poverty.   
 
Figure 2.7 
Distribution 

Source: Department for Work and Pensions 
Worst Neighbourhoods  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
  

                                            
xcv NOMIS Labour Market Profile, August 2012

Highest five neighbourhood 
Stonehouse 
Devonport 
Whitleigh 
Honicknowle 
St. Budeaux & Kings Tamerton 
 

 2012 Pa

2,215 JSA claimants aged 18-24 as at August 2012 equating to 5.7% of the resident 
lower claimant rate than the national average (7.5%)

comparable to the regional average (5.1%).xcv  While the 18-24 claimant rate is actually below average, 
proportion of all JSA claimants is above the national average
that 18-24 year olds in the city comprise a higher proportion of the 

 

The map below illustrates the distribution of JSA claimants within the 16 to 24 year old age group
numbers again higher in more deprived areas.  Rising unemployment and a squeeze on employment 
opportunities will undoubtedly make this cohort of people spread across the city more vulnerable to 

  
Work and Pensions – Benefit claimants, November 2011 aged 16 - 24 

NOMIS Labour Market Profile, August 2012  

Number of 16-24 year 
olds claiming benefits 

405 
300 
260 
255 
240 

 

Page 33 

at August 2012 equating to 5.7% of the resident 
national average (7.5%) although 

24 claimant rate is actually below average, 
national average (34% as opposed 

24 year olds in the city comprise a higher proportion of the 

claimants within the 16 to 24 year old age group, with 
unemployment and a squeeze on employment 

opportunities will undoubtedly make this cohort of people spread across the city more vulnerable to 

Page 69



Child Poverty Needs Assessment 20
 

2.2.3 In Work Poverty 
Working families on low incomes are becoming increasingly vulnerable to poverty and nationally, more 
than half of all children in poverty live in homes where at least one adult works
uses benefit claimant data to illustrate where those who are in work but are still most vulnerable to 
living in poverty reside across the city. 
 
Child and Working tax credits
As at December 2011, Plymouth had 22,300 families with 39,10
Tax Credits. Figure 2.8 shows the neighbourhoods with the highest rates and numbers of in work 
families claiming child tax credits.  The highest prevalence of in work claimants are in LSOA’s that fall 
within the neighbourhoods of Widewell, Derriford West & Crownhill, Chaddlewood and Goosewell.  
 
Figure 2.8 
Distribution 

Source: Department for Work and Pensions 
Worst Neighbourhoods 
 

 
Data on Working Tax Credits provides a breakdown by families who are receiving the family element or 
below and those in receipt of more than the family element. Families receiving more than the family 
element are entitled to other help, such as Sure Start 

                                            
xcvi What Causes Child Poverty, Barnardo’s, 2012

Highest five neighbourhoods
Chaddlewood
Honicknowle
Plympton St. Maurice & Yealmpstone
Peverell & Hartley
Plymstock & Radford

 2012 Pa

 
Working families on low incomes are becoming increasingly vulnerable to poverty and nationally, more 
than half of all children in poverty live in homes where at least one adult worksxcvi  

to illustrate where those who are in work but are still most vulnerable to 
living in poverty reside across the city.  

Child and Working tax credits  
Plymouth had 22,300 families with 39,100 children receiving

the neighbourhoods with the highest rates and numbers of in work 
families claiming child tax credits.  The highest prevalence of in work claimants are in LSOA’s that fall 

Widewell, Derriford West & Crownhill, Chaddlewood and Goosewell.  

 
Work and Pensions – In work families claiming child tax credits, December 2011

provides a breakdown by families who are receiving the family element or 
below and those in receipt of more than the family element. Families receiving more than the family 
element are entitled to other help, such as Sure Start Maternity Grants. Families may receive more than 

rdo’s, 2012 

Numbers of in work families claiming tax credits
1585
1455
1355
1275
1255

Page 34 

Working families on low incomes are becoming increasingly vulnerable to poverty and nationally, more 
  The following analysis 

to illustrate where those who are in work but are still most vulnerable to 

0 children receiving Child or Working 
the neighbourhoods with the highest rates and numbers of in work 

families claiming child tax credits.  The highest prevalence of in work claimants are in LSOA’s that fall 
Widewell, Derriford West & Crownhill, Chaddlewood and Goosewell.   

In work families claiming child tax credits, December 2011 

 

provides a breakdown by families who are receiving the family element or 
below and those in receipt of more than the family element. Families receiving more than the family 

Maternity Grants. Families may receive more than 

 

Page 70



Child Poverty Needs Assessment 20
 

the family element if they have disabled or severely disabled children, if they have more than one child, a 
baby or a young person in the household.  Generally, unless the family has a disabled child or a ba
families with an annual income of £35,000 or more will only receive the basic family element or below 
this. 
 
Figure 2.9 illustrates by neighbourhood the numbers of working families claiming higher tha
element of working tax credits meanin
vulnerable to poverty in some other way such as having a severely disabled child or have more than one 
child. 
 
Figure 2.9 

Department of Work and Pensions In work benefit claimants snapshot 
2011 
 
When these claimants are mapped, 
this profile spread across the city. This highlights the presence of vulnerable families on lo
areas not typically considered as depriv
areas such as Chaddlewood, Plympton St Maurice, Peverell 
also shows however there are high numbers 
unemployment such as the neighbourhoods of Honicknowle, St Budeaux and Kings Tamerton and 
North Prospect and Weston Mill. 
 
Local evidence suggests that families who meet the profile
advice and emergency food providers. 
pay day loan companies who are described as 'thriving' by the Charity for 
currently a lack of specific data concerning the
needs to be addressed.  
  
  

                                            
xcvii Breadline Britain day two: hungry school kids and 'cliff edge' poverty

 2012 Pa

the family element if they have disabled or severely disabled children, if they have more than one child, a 
baby or a young person in the household.  Generally, unless the family has a disabled child or a ba
families with an annual income of £35,000 or more will only receive the basic family element or below 

illustrates by neighbourhood the numbers of working families claiming higher tha
element of working tax credits meaning they are families who will be earning a lower wage and are 
vulnerable to poverty in some other way such as having a severely disabled child or have more than one 

Department of Work and Pensions In work benefit claimants snapshot - tax credits that are above the basic family element

 the results highlight that there are high numbers of families fitting 
this profile spread across the city. This highlights the presence of vulnerable families on lo

deprived.  The highest numbers of claimants come
Plympton St Maurice, Peverell & Hartley and Plymstock 

there are high numbers of families who are in work and claiming in areas of higher 
unemployment such as the neighbourhoods of Honicknowle, St Budeaux and Kings Tamerton and 

families who meet the profile above are using more services such as debt 
advice and emergency food providers. One of the most worrying aspects of this issue is the increase in
pay day loan companies who are described as 'thriving' by the Charity for Civil Servants

concerning the most vulnerable in-work families in Plymouth

Breadline Britain day two: hungry school kids and 'cliff edge' poverty, The Guardian, June 2012 

Page 35 

the family element if they have disabled or severely disabled children, if they have more than one child, a 
baby or a young person in the household.  Generally, unless the family has a disabled child or a baby, 
families with an annual income of £35,000 or more will only receive the basic family element or below 

illustrates by neighbourhood the numbers of working families claiming higher than basic family 
g they are families who will be earning a lower wage and are 

vulnerable to poverty in some other way such as having a severely disabled child or have more than one 

 
tax credits that are above the basic family element, 

the results highlight that there are high numbers of families fitting 
this profile spread across the city. This highlights the presence of vulnerable families on low incomes in 

e from lesser deprived 
Hartley and Plymstock & Radford. Data 

of families who are in work and claiming in areas of higher 
unemployment such as the neighbourhoods of Honicknowle, St Budeaux and Kings Tamerton and 

g more services such as debt 
issue is the increase in 
rvantsxcvii. There is 
in Plymouth which 

 

Page 71



Child Poverty Needs Assessment 2012 Page 36 
 

2.2.4 Barriers to employment 
 
Childcare 
The cost and lack of availability of good quality childcare can make it a barrier to employment 
opportunities.  Childcare includes provision for 0- 5 year olds either in full day care or accessing the 3 
and 4 year olds free entitlement of 15 hours, as well as out of school provision and holiday care for 
older children.  The Plymouth City Council Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 2011xcviii reports that 
although childcare places were generally seen as sufficient, there is considered to be a lack of places in 
Barne Barton. Parents report that local childcare can be too expensive for parents on a low income and 
the lump sums required at the start can also be prohibitive.  Lack of flexibility is also a concern to 
parents.   
 
The expansion of the free entitlement for disadvantaged 2 year olds will add a new pressure on existing 
childcare places. The need to secure sufficient childcare places for disadvantaged two year olds will 
become part of the Local Authority’s statutory duties from September 2013.  It has been identified that 
there will be a predicted shortfall of approximately 350 places in 2013 and a further 1,350 from 2014 
when the offer is extended to 40 % of all eligible two year olds in Plymouth.  
 
In order for the city to be able to deliver sufficient childcare places in 2013 a co- ordinated delivery 
programme will need to concentrate investment and expansion in the following neighbourhoods; Barne 
Barton, Devonport, Whitleigh, North Prospect, Keyham, Ernesettle and Morice Town. The further 
extension of free entitlement in 2014 (to 40% of disadvantaged two year olds) will bring further 
pressures, in preparation for delivery in 2014 investment should be focused in the following 
neighbourhoods; Stonehouse, Efford, Honicknowle and City Centre.  
 
This would mean an increase in investment in the most disadvantaged areas, namely the North West 
and the South West of the city which would have a positive impact on the economy and number of jobs 
created in these areas, and would ease the highest levels of pressure on childcare places.  
 
The programme would look to work with a range of early year’s providers from the maintained, private, 
and voluntary sector to potentially provide capital investment for them to expand their capacity to 
deliver increased places, as well as provide new provision where there are limited opportunities for 
expansion encouraging new providers into the childcare market.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                            
xcviii Childcare Sufficiency Assessment, Plymouth City Council, 2011 

Page 72



Child Poverty Needs Assessment 2012 Page 37 
 

Transport/ Accessibility 
The cost and availability of transport can be one of the main barriers to accessing employment 
opportunities and local services and facilities.  The Plymouth Local Transport Plan 2011-2026  (LTP)xcix 
recognises some of the key barriers to access such as not being able to afford to buy and run a vehicle 
and recognises that car ownership is lower in neighbourhoods of poorer health and higher levels of 
unemployment.  
 
During the daytime few people in deprived areas will find themselves more than 400 metres walk from a 
bus stop with a frequent service and certainly no more than 800 metres walk. The areas of greatest 
concern within Plymouth are the lower levels of accessibility of city residents who can reach key 
employment areas of Belliver, Estover and Langage. Those residents living in the most deprived areas 
will find it takes more than 30 minutes with their journey often requiring a change of bus to reach these 
areas. Those who are employed in shift work with early morning starts or late night finishes are more 
disadvantaged as bus services are fewer and further between at these times.  Larger employers such as 
Orange do organise their own transport for shift workers. 
 
 
 
 
  

                                            
xcix Plymouth Local Transport Plan 2011 – 2026, Plymouth City Council, 2012 

Page 73



Child Poverty Needs Assessment 2012 Page 38 
 

2.2.5 Financial Management 
 

The full impact of Welfare Reformc  
Many areas of welfare reform have been identified as having an impact on Plymouth families and the 
growing difficulty to manage household finance within an already challenging economic climate which has 
seen the costs of living rise significantly. Five reforms illustrate the extent of this change including:- 

§ Localisation of Council Tax Benefit 
§ Replacement of the Social Fund 
§ Housing Benefit/Local Housing Allowance reforms 
§ The Benefit Cap 
§ Universal Credit. 

 

Council Tax Benefit 
In April 2013 National Council Tax Benefit (CTB) will be abolished and funding will be localised. The 
impact of government cuts will fall on 16,500 working age claimants in Plymouth through a reduction in 
Council Tax Scheme support they receive. Many of these claimants are low income or workless families. 
 

Social Fund 
In April 2013 funds previously administered by the Department for Work and Pensions under the 
national Social Fund, for Crisis Loans and Community Care Grants will transfer to Local Authorities 
(LA). LAs can use this fund as they see fit to deliver welfare assistance to the most vulnerable. This 
money is not ring-fenced and there is no duty placed on LAs to deliver any specific type of service. 
Funding will be transferred at the level spent by the DWP in 2005/6 which was £750,000. This is 
£350,000 less than spend on the scheme to local people in Plymouth in 2010/11. 
 

The anticipated impact of running a local scheme on reduced funding or which does not effectively 
target need the impact may include: 

§ More households with no electricity/food 
§ Increased pressure on Adult/Children’s Social Care and homelessness services 
§ Increased demands for support from other discretionary funds 
§ Not achieving our child poverty targets. 

 

Housing Benefit 
In April 2013 a Housing Benefit cap will be implemented so that Housing Benefit is no longer provided 
for 5 bedroom houses. At present 39 families are claiming this rate. There is the potential for a weekly 
loss of up to £92.30 or a 34% reduction in their benefit income for large families. As a result, people will 
have less money to pay their rent and are likely to build up debt to landlords, increasing the risk of 
homelessness. There is likely to be increased pressure on social housing providers from ex-private 
sector tenants and increases in the number of people who do not pay other debts e.g. Council Tax. 
 

Benefit Cap 
A Benefit Cap will be introduced in April 2013 meaning no household can receive more in benefits than 
an average working family (currently rated at £350 per week for a single person and £500 for a couple). 
Initial data from DWP indicates that there are 150 families in Plymouth who are going to be subject to 
the cap. There are 706 children living in these families, 75 of which are currently in social housing. The 
                                            
c Data in this section has been sourced from a report submitted to Plymouth City Council Overview and Scrutiny 
Management Board, 25 July 2012 

Page 74



Child Poverty Needs Assessment 2012 Page 39 
 

150 households claim a total of 621 different benefits, an average of 4 per household. 104 of the 150 
families have 4 or more children living in the home and 57 are lone parents. The cap means that: 

§ 75 households will lose up to £50 per week 
§ 27 households will lose between £51 and £100 per week 
§ 24 households will lose between £101 and £150 per week 
§ 21 households will lose over £150 per week 
§ 3 households unknown tenancy therefore unknown amount 

 

Likely impacts of the application of the benefit cap to our services are: an increase in pressure on front 
line services such as Adult / Children’s Social care and homelessness; more demand on information and 
advice services in the city; a negative impact on child poverty and lower levels of revenue 
collection/income generation for our services. 
 

Table 2.2 – Loss of benefit income to the city 2012-13 
Welfare change Numbers 

Affected 
Individual 
income 
reduction weekly 

Individual 
income 
reduction annual 

Citywide income 
reduction annual 

New calculation 
(30th percentile) 6000+ claimants Average £14.75 Average £766.8 £4,600,800.00 
Reduction 5 to 4 
bed 30 families £115.38 £5,999.76 £179,992.80 
Incapacity Benefit 
(IB) to Job Seekers 
Allowance (JSA) 4255 Average £16.50 Average £858.00 £3,650,790.00 
  short term low 1418 £3.80 £197.60 £280,196.80 
  short term high 1418 £17.55 £912.60 £1,294,066.80 
  long term basic 1419 £28.15 £1,463.80 £2,077,132.20 
IB to other/no 
benefits 3928 Unknown unknown 

potentially 
£3,370,224.00 

Universal Credit unknown Unknown unknown Unknown 
Disability Living 
Allowance (DLA) 
removed 2,600 (20%) Average £49.95 Average £2,597.40 £6,753,240.00 
   Highest 867 £77.45 £4,027.40 £3,491,755.80 
   Middle 866 £51.85 £2,696.20 £2,334,909.20 
   Lowest 867 £20.55 £1,068.60 £926,476.20 
Benefit Cap 149 families n/a n/a £1,411,800.00 
  lose up to £50 75 families £50 £3,750 £195,000 
  lose £50 - £100 27 families £100 £5,200 £270,400 
  lose £101 - £150 24 families £150 £7,800 £405,600 
  lose over £150 21 families Est. £200 £10,400 £540,800 
Council Tax 
Scheme 18,957 working age Unknown unknown unknown 
Social Fund 
replacement 

6880 successful 
applicants Unknown unknown Unknown 

Totals       £20,678,170.40ci 

                                            
ci Based on averages where applicable. Minimum £13 million – Maximum £27 million 

Page 75



Child Poverty Needs Assessment 2012 Page 40 
 

Debt 
During 2010/11, Plymouth Citizen’s Advice Bureau (CAB) dealt with over £43 million of debt. 19% 
(£8.3million) dealt with priority debts such as rent, council tax and utility debts, all of which can result in 
imprisonment and/or eviction. 81% (£35.5million) of the work dealt with non-priority debts, including 
credit cards, loans and overdrafts. It is known that the highest levels of debt in Plymouth are in areas 
identified as being among the most deprived and as having highest levels of poverty such as Devonport 
and Stonehouse. 
 
Those in debt become more vulnerable to use services that offer instant cash, be that in the form of 
internet companies or loan sharks, usually charging extremely high interest on repayments. Citizen’s 
Advice Bureau data shows that 7,525 people received debt advice in 2010/11.  It is likely that the actual 
numbers facing debt related financial difficulty are much higher. The most prevalent debt types are 
unsecured personal loans, credit cards, water debts and overdraftscii.    
 
Food poverty 
Food Poverty can be defined as the inability to access healthy affordable food whether due to lack of 
income, transport issues or lack of knowledge or skills around how to cook food. 
 
Nationally, there has been a reported rise in the number of families in food poverty and accessing food 
banks.ciii  These increases have also been reported here in Plymouth with the Plymouth Foodbank 
reporting a 40% increase in those receiving food to over 4,000 peopleciv with the proportion of children 
also increasing. This rise in demand is a strong indication of an increase in people experiencing financial 
difficulty.  
 
Over a 12 month period within Plymouth, 39% of all vouchers distributed were as a result of benefit 
delays due to delays in processing new benefits or benefit changes.  The highest number of vouchers is 
provided to residents of St Peter and Waterfront (692 or 31%) which is comprised of City Centre and 
Stonehouse neighbourhoods.  Although wards with higher levels of deprivation tend to have higher 
numbers of residents accessing the Foodbank, it is worthy of note that residents from all areas of the 
city have had need to use it.  
 
Fuel Poverty 
A household is said to be in fuel poverty if it needs to spend more than 10% of its income on fuel to 
maintain a satisfactory heating regime.cv  As at 2009, an estimated 13,948 (13.3%) Plymouth households 
were living in fuel poverty.  
 

                                            
cii Plymouth Citizen Advice Bureau 2010/11 
ciii http://www.itv.com/news/story/2012-04-26/big-increase-in-demand-for-uk-food-banks/ 
civ Plymouth Foodbank 
cv http://www.decc.gov.uk/en/content/cms/statistics/fuelpov_stats/fuelpov_stats.aspx 

Page 76



Child Poverty Needs Assessment 20
 

Figure 2.10 
Distribution 

Source: Centre for Sustainable Energy (Bristol University)
 
The map above illustrates the geographical distribution of fuel poverty across the city highlighting that
within Plymouth more deprived areas are clearly 
who are living in more affluent areas. However, those areas with the highest levels of fuel poverty are 
not necessarily those that exhibit othe
worklessness and educational attainment. 
 
One possible reason for this could be the fact that in the area where these other symptoms are most 
prevalent, a larger proportion of people will be living in social housing accommodation 
well maintained and therefore more
income jobs, who may be home owners or renting in the private sector whose homes may be less 
energy efficient and who face difficulty in keeping their homes warm. These people are also more li
to be paying for their energy using the ‘pay as you go’ method as opposed to direct debit schemes; 
therefore those on lower incomes often end up paying more for their energy. 
utilities can be different, even within tariffs fro
paying more for fuel than they need, not being aware of cheaper options. 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 2012 Pa

 
Sustainable Energy (Bristol University) 2010-2011 

the geographical distribution of fuel poverty across the city highlighting that
areas are clearly more likely to be affected by fuel poverty than those 

areas. However, those areas with the highest levels of fuel poverty are 
other symptoms of child poverty such as health problems, 

onal attainment.  

be the fact that in the area where these other symptoms are most 
a larger proportion of people will be living in social housing accommodation 

well maintained and therefore more energy efficient.  It is those, often in employment but on low 
who may be home owners or renting in the private sector whose homes may be less 

energy efficient and who face difficulty in keeping their homes warm. These people are also more li
for their energy using the ‘pay as you go’ method as opposed to direct debit schemes; 

therefore those on lower incomes often end up paying more for their energy. Anecdotally, the cost of 
utilities can be different, even within tariffs from the same provider, again as a result people may be 
paying more for fuel than they need, not being aware of cheaper options.  

Page 41 

the geographical distribution of fuel poverty across the city highlighting that 
affected by fuel poverty than those 

areas. However, those areas with the highest levels of fuel poverty are 
health problems, 

be the fact that in the area where these other symptoms are most 
a larger proportion of people will be living in social housing accommodation which is often 

It is those, often in employment but on low 
who may be home owners or renting in the private sector whose homes may be less 

energy efficient and who face difficulty in keeping their homes warm. These people are also more likely 
for their energy using the ‘pay as you go’ method as opposed to direct debit schemes; 

Anecdotally, the cost of 
m the same provider, again as a result people may be 

 

Page 77



Child Poverty Needs Assessment 2012 Page 42 
 

 
 

  
KEY MESSAGES – FINANCIAL SUPPORT AND INDEPENDENCE 
 

• Plymouth residents have a lower than average rate of pay and Plymouth has a 
high level of part-time workers.  
 

• Overall, Plymouth has a lower qualified workforce alongside a lack of basic 
employability skills. 
 

• There is a concentration of benefit claimants in some of the most deprived areas 
to the west of the city  
 

• There is a high rate of long-term sickness and a corresponding high rate of ESA / 
Incapacity Benefit claimants in the city. 
 

• Eight neighbourhoods have over 500 children living in workless families 
 

• Nearly 70% of children in poverty in Plymouth live in lone parent families with 
Barne Barton having by far the highest rates. 
 

• There is a need for more flexible and affordable childcare in the city.  Demand 
for childcare in disadvantaged areas is set to increase with the extension of free 
places to disadvantaged two year olds.  
 

• There is concern over lower levels of accessibility via current transport links to 
key employment areas of Belliver, Estover and Langage for residents from 
deprived areas of the city. 

 
• Welfare Reform changes are estimated to impact 20% of the city’s population, 

and will disproportionately affect some of Plymouth’s most vulnerable families. 
This will lead to growing difficulty to manage household finance within an already 
challenging economic climate which has seen the costs of living rise significantly. 

 
• While more data is required to understand the level and types of household 

debt across the city, there are clear indications of a growing need for workless 
and low income households to manage increased financial pressures including 
payment of bills, credit cards and personal debt.    
 

• Approximately 14,000 Plymouth households are in fuel poverty – many of these 
are not in the most deprived parts of the city where social housing is most 
prevalent. This may represent a significant cohort of low income homeowners 
or families living in the private rented sector. 
 
 
 

 

Page 78



Child Poverty Needs Assessment 2012 Page 43 
 

2.3 FAMILY LIFE AND CHILDREN’S LIFE CHANCES 

This section reflects on the wide range of factors such as family, home environment, health and education, 
which contribute to improving the life chances of poorer children and young people.  

2.3.1 Families and parental relationships 
Many parents need support, but parents living in poverty can face particular stresses or barriers to 
providing the positive experiences their children need. Children raised by parents reporting high 
relationship quality and satisfaction tend to have higher levels of well-being, while intense conflict 
between parents – whatever their relationship status – has been shown to be detrimental for children’s 
outcomescvi.  
 

Despite a range of support available for parents across the city, there remains limited quantitative 
information regarding the quality of relationships between and the needs of parents living within low 
income households. Information gathered by school based Parent Support Advisors provides an insight 
into the types of issues being reported by parents during both formal and informal discussions, as 
follows: 
 

§ Managing children’s behaviours at home 
§ Children’s learning and development 
§ Healthy eating on a budget 
§ Managing stress 
§ Management of money and debt 
§ Approaches to parenting 
§ Understanding teenagers 

 
National research shows that families living on a low income are much more likely to be facing a range 
of issues other than material deprivation which may affect their parenting for example mental health 
problems, domestic abuse and worklessness. Based on the criteriacvii outlined for the Department for 
Communities and Local Government (DCLG) Troubled Families Programme, Plymouth has initially 
identified 645 families. Analysis of these families draws a strong link between poverty and where these 
identified families reside.  
 
The highest numbers of identified ‘troubled families’ reside in the following neighbourhoods; North 
Prospect & Weston Mill, Honicknowle, Efford, Devonport, Whitleigh, Stonehouse, Barne Barton, St 
Budeaux & Kings Tamerton, East End and Ernesettle. Eight of these neighbourhoods are among the ten 
most deprived in the city.  
 
Further data has been generated from the 2010 Plymouth Health Visitor Survey which offers subjective 
observations on multiple household factors covering the health, social and lifestyle situation of the family 
together with details of illnesses and disabilities in the family. Key findings are as follows: 
                                            
cvi Coleman, L and Glenn, F (2009) ‘When Couples Part: Understanding the consequences for adults and children.  
One plus one’, Mooney et al. (2009) ‘The Impact of Family Breakdown on Children’s Wellbeing.’ DCSF Research Report 113 
cvii The adults in the family are not working, children are not in school and family members are involved in crime and anti-
social behaviour 
 

Page 79



Child Poverty Needs Assessment 20
 

 
§ The 2010 survey identified 1,439 vulnerable families which represent 11.7% of families 

surveyedcviii.  
§ Compared to the city average of 11.7%, the North West

vulnerable families (19.1%) and the
§ Barne Barton neighbourhood had the highest percentage of vulnerable families in 2010 (35.0%). 

This compares with Chaddlewood where the value was 1.2% in the same period.
 
The chart below identifies by neighbourhood

 
Figure 2.11 

The 10 neighbourhoods with the highest percentage of vulnerable families were; Barne Barton, 
North Prospect, Stonehouse, Devonport, Efford, Kings Tamerton & Weston Mill, Morice Town, St 
Budeaux, Whitleigh and City Centre. There is a significant percentage gap in the numbers of 
vulnerable families living in the most deprived neighbourhoods and least deprived neighbourhoods. 
Using the 2007 Indices of Multiple 
deprived neighbourhoods was 23.2% compared to 2.8% in 
 
Table 2.3 identifies the selected indicators from the 
five neighbourhoods for each indicator
illustrating where the highest prevalence o

 
  

                                            
cviii A family is classified as vulnerable if they experience four or more of the original 26 health factors which have been 
collected since the survey process began. This classification of vulnerability is unique to the Plymouth health visitor survey.
cix Neighbourhoods are the pre 2011 43 neighbourhoods and not the newly aligned 39 neighbourhoods.

 2012 Pa

The 2010 survey identified 1,439 vulnerable families which represent 11.7% of families 

verage of 11.7%, the North West locality had the highest percentage of 
vulnerable families (19.1%) and the Plympton locality had the lowest percentage (2.0%).
Barne Barton neighbourhood had the highest percentage of vulnerable families in 2010 (35.0%). 

s compares with Chaddlewood where the value was 1.2% in the same period.

low identifies by neighbourhood the percentage of vulnerable families

with the highest percentage of vulnerable families were; Barne Barton, 
North Prospect, Stonehouse, Devonport, Efford, Kings Tamerton & Weston Mill, Morice Town, St 
Budeaux, Whitleigh and City Centre. There is a significant percentage gap in the numbers of 
vulnerable families living in the most deprived neighbourhoods and least deprived neighbourhoods. 

ultiple Deprivation, the percentage of vulnerable families in 
deprived neighbourhoods was 23.2% compared to 2.8% in the least deprived.  

identifies the selected indicators from the 2010 Health Visitor survey alongside the worst 
five neighbourhoods for each indicator.  These indicators have been selected for the purpose of 
illustrating where the highest prevalence of families with multiple problems may reside. 

A family is classified as vulnerable if they experience four or more of the original 26 health factors which have been 
since the survey process began. This classification of vulnerability is unique to the Plymouth health visitor survey.

Neighbourhoods are the pre 2011 43 neighbourhoods and not the newly aligned 39 neighbourhoods.

Page 44 

The 2010 survey identified 1,439 vulnerable families which represent 11.7% of families 

locality had the highest percentage of 
Plympton locality had the lowest percentage (2.0%). 

Barne Barton neighbourhood had the highest percentage of vulnerable families in 2010 (35.0%). 
s compares with Chaddlewood where the value was 1.2% in the same period. 

the percentage of vulnerable familiescix. 

 
with the highest percentage of vulnerable families were; Barne Barton, 

North Prospect, Stonehouse, Devonport, Efford, Kings Tamerton & Weston Mill, Morice Town, St 
Budeaux, Whitleigh and City Centre. There is a significant percentage gap in the numbers of 
vulnerable families living in the most deprived neighbourhoods and least deprived neighbourhoods. 

the percentage of vulnerable families in the most 
 

survey alongside the worst 
hese indicators have been selected for the purpose of 
f families with multiple problems may reside.  

A family is classified as vulnerable if they experience four or more of the original 26 health factors which have been 
since the survey process began. This classification of vulnerability is unique to the Plymouth health visitor survey.  

Neighbourhoods are the pre 2011 43 neighbourhoods and not the newly aligned 39 neighbourhoods. 

Page 80



Child Poverty Needs Assessment 2012 Page 45 
 

Table 2.3 
2010 Indicator Worst five 

neighbourhoods 
Most deprived 
v Least 
deprived 

One or more parent(s) smoke 
Either reported by a parent or shared with the 
health visitor on a ‘need to 
know’ basis. 

North Prospect 
Barne Barton 
Honicknowle 
Ernesettle 
Whitleigh 

Least 18.2% 
Most 39.3% 
Diff. 21.1% 

Violence in the family 
This includes physical and verbal violence, 
either reported by a parent or 
shared with the health visitor on a ‘need to 
know’ basis by another agency. 

Barne Barton 
Devonport 
North Prospect 
Morice Town 
Whitleigh 

Least  4.3% 
Most 19.5% 
Diff. 15.2% 

Depressed/mentally ill parents 
Either reported by a parent or shared with the 
health visitor on a ‘need to 
know’ basis. 
 

Barne Barton 
Devonport 
North Prospect 
Ham 
Whitleigh  

Least 5.9% 
Most 14.3% 
Diff. 8.4% 

Parenting problems 
Where the health assessment has identified 
parents who find difficulty in 
providing a consistent, boundaried approach to 
parenting their child/children. This can be 
reflected in the child demonstrating behaviour 
that is outside the norm for their age or 
parents who have a lack of knowledge about 
issues or lack the incentive to implement a 
parenting style that produces the best 
outcomes for the development of children. 

Whitleigh 
North Prospect 
Barne Barton 
City Centre 
Morice Town 

Least 1.8% 
Most 9.4% 
Diff. 7.6% 

Social isolation 
The separation of individuals or groups 
resulting in the lack of or minimising of 
social contact and/or communication. This 
separation may be accomplished 
by physical separation, by social barriers and by 
psychological mechanisms. In the latter, there 
may be interaction but no real communication. 

Stonehouse 
City Centre 
Crownhill 
Manadon 
Devonport 

Least 2.4% 
Most 7.3% 
Diff. 4.9% 

 
There are neighbourhoods within Plymouth that appear among the worst areas for a number of the key 
vulnerability factors outlined above. North Prospect for example is among worst areas for parents 
smoking, violence in the family, depression and mental illness among parents and parenting problems. 
Unsurprisingly other neighbourhoods that rank highest across vulnerability factors are among our most 
deprived such as Morice Town, Barne Barton and Whitleigh.  
 

Page 81



Child Poverty Needs Assessment 2012 Page 46 
 

2.3.2 Educational outcomes 
Children growing up in poverty are less likely to do well at school which then impacts on their later life 
and helps to continue the cycle of poverty. Nationally, there is a significant and persistent attainment gap 
between pupils eligible for Free School Meals and their peers.cx   
 
Within Plymouth there are clear attainment gaps at all levels, from the Early Years Foundation Stage 
(EYFS) through to Key Stage 4 and post 16 qualifications.  
 
Early Years 
Provisional Early Years attainment data for 2011/12 shows that the percentage of children reaching a 
‘good level of understanding’ has improved in Plymouth on 2010/11. National data is not yet available so 
the comparisons to regional and national averages below are based on 2010/11 attainment data.  
 
2010/11 data shows that Plymouth; 
 

• Plymouth has a lower rate of children achieving a good level of development at EYFS cxi (56% 
compared to a national and regional average of 59%).  

§ There is an achievement gap within Plymouth of 30.9 percentage points between the lowest 
achieving 20% of children and the median (middle) score. The gap is slightly higher than the 
regional average but lower than the national average.  

 
Table 2.4 illustrates the worst 10 neighbourhoods for Early Years achievement cxii within Plymouth. 
 
Table 2.4 

 
Source: DfE Early Years Foundation Stage development 2009/10 
 

                                            
cx http://www.education.gov.uk/inthenews/speeches/a00208822/brighton-college 
cxi This measure defines children achieving 78 points or more across the scales and at least 6 in each of the scales associated 
with the Personal, Social and Emotional and Communication, Language and Literacy areas of learning. 
cxii NI 72 Achievement of at least 78 points across the Early Years Foundation Stage with at least 6 in each of the scales in 
Personal , Social and Emotional Development and Communication, Language and Literacy 

Neighbourhood of child residence % Achieving 78 points at Eary Years 
assessment

Stonehouse 36%
Kings Tamerton and Weston Mill 40.45%
North Prospect 40.60%
East End 42.60%
Morice Town 43.80%
Lipson & Laira 45.30%
Efford 47.70%
Ernesettle 49.00%
Plympton St Maurice 49.20%
City Centre 50%

Page 82



Child Poverty Needs Assessment 20
 

Early Year’s development scores are
percentage point gap between Stonehouse and
Early Years achievement correlates with deprivation in that d
most deprived neighbourhoods than the l
 
Primary Years (Key Stage 2
Provisional attainment data for 2011/12 suggests that the attainment of Plymouth’s key stage 2 pupils has 
shown significant improvement on 2010
in the subjects of English, Reading and Mathematics. Attainment levels are four percentage points lower 
than the England average for Writing.
 
 Table 2.5 
 English 

Plymouth 84% 

South West 86% 

England 85% 

Source: % of pupils achieving Level 4 or above in Key Stage 2 tests at maintained schools, Dep

(Provisional – 2011/12) 

  
As shown on the chart below, there is a clear attainment gap between those eligible for Free School 
Meals and those not.  Attainment data by characteristics for 2011/12 was not available at time of writing 
so comparisons have been made using 2010/11 data. In 2010/11,
which, although considerable, actually represents the smallest gap within the 
 
 
Figure 2.12 

Source: DfE Attainment by Pupil Characteristics 2010/11
 

*The proportion of pupils achieving level 4 or above in English and Mathematics
**The proportion of pupils achieving 5+ GCSE’s at Grade A*
 

 
                                            
cxiii Key Stage 2 refers to the education between the ages of 7 and 11 years

 2012 Pa

scores are worst within Stonehouse neighbourhood and there is
Stonehouse and the best performing neighbourhood of Derriford. 

correlates with deprivation in that development was lower in the group of 
than the least deprived (50.5% and 60.4% respectively). 

Key Stage 2)cxiii  
Provisional attainment data for 2011/12 suggests that the attainment of Plymouth’s key stage 2 pupils has 
shown significant improvement on 2010-11 and is on a par with national and regional attainment levels 

h, Reading and Mathematics. Attainment levels are four percentage points lower 
than the England average for Writing. 

Reading Writing Mathematics

86% 77% 

87% 82% 

87% 81% 

of pupils achieving Level 4 or above in Key Stage 2 tests at maintained schools, Departmen

As shown on the chart below, there is a clear attainment gap between those eligible for Free School 
tainment data by characteristics for 2011/12 was not available at time of writing 

so comparisons have been made using 2010/11 data. In 2010/11, the attainment gap at KS2 was 17% 
which, although considerable, actually represents the smallest gap within the South West. 

 
E Attainment by Pupil Characteristics 2010/11 

*The proportion of pupils achieving level 4 or above in English and Mathematics 
**The proportion of pupils achieving 5+ GCSE’s at Grade A*-C including English and Mathematics 

ey Stage 2 refers to the education between the ages of 7 and 11 years 

Page 47 

and there is 42 
the best performing neighbourhood of Derriford.  

lower in the group of 
east deprived (50.5% and 60.4% respectively).  

Provisional attainment data for 2011/12 suggests that the attainment of Plymouth’s key stage 2 pupils has 
11 and is on a par with national and regional attainment levels 

h, Reading and Mathematics. Attainment levels are four percentage points lower 

Mathematics 

84% 

84% 

84% 

artment for Education 

As shown on the chart below, there is a clear attainment gap between those eligible for Free School 
tainment data by characteristics for 2011/12 was not available at time of writing 

the attainment gap at KS2 was 17% 
South West.  

 

Page 83



Child Poverty Needs Assessment 2012 Page 48 
 

Secondary Years (Key Stage 4)cxiv  
 
GCSE attainment data for 2011/12 has yet to be released by the Department for Education, as a result 
the following analysis is based on 2010/11 attainment levels.  
 

Table 2.6 
 5+A-C Grade’s 5+A-C Grades (inc 

Maths and English) 
Plymouth 80.7% 56.5% 
South West 76.4% 57.5% 
England 78.8% 58.3% 
Source: Percentage of pupils at the end of Key Stage 4 achieving at GCSE and equivalents, Department for Education 2010/11 
 
More children in Plymouth are achieving 5 or more A*-C grades at GCSE level than their regional and 
national counterparts when all subjects are taken into account however, Plymouth falls marginally below 
the regional and national averages when including Maths and English.  
 

However, attainment levels have been improving for a number of years.  The percentage of children 
achieving 5 A*-C’s across all subjects was 80.7% in 2010/11, a rise from 59.8% in 2005/06.  A rise has 
also been seen in attainment including Maths and English, from 42.5% in 2005/06 to 56.5% in 2010/11.  
The chart overleaf highlights Key Stage 4 attainment by neighbourhood.   
 

  

                                            
cxiv Key Stage 4 refers to the education between the ages of  14 and 16 years and incorporates GCSEs 

Page 84



Child Poverty Needs Assessment 20
 

Figure 2.13 

Distribution 

Source: Department for Education, KS4 pupils achieving 5+ A*
Worst Neighbourhoods and Trend 

 
As shown in Figure 2.12, there is also a significant attainment gap (32%) at Key Stage 4 between those 
eligible for FSM and those not.  At Key Stage 4, the percentage of children not eligible for FSM who 
attained at least 5 GCSE’s including Maths
 
The above data demonstrates a clear link between education
neighbourhoods showing lowest Key Stage 4 attainment being amongst those with high
deprivation. The link between poverty and attainment is further reinforced with the gap in attainment 
between those eligible for free school meals and those not
 
Post 16 Qualifications  
As previously mentioned, children growing up in families living in poverty are 
qualifications. The table below highlights the qualification gap 
were eligible for free school meals at age 15 and those not eligible.  
 

Lowest five neighbourhoods Proportion of 5 A*-Cs GCSEs obtained at 
KS4

Efford 
North Prospect & Weston Mill
Mount Gould
Ham & Pennycross
East End

 2012 Pa

 
ducation, KS4 pupils achieving 5+ A*-C including English and Maths, 2011

 

 

, there is also a significant attainment gap (32%) at Key Stage 4 between those 
At Key Stage 4, the percentage of children not eligible for FSM who 

attained at least 5 GCSE’s including Maths and English is more than double that for those who are.  

a clear link between educational attainment and poverty, with 
neighbourhoods showing lowest Key Stage 4 attainment being amongst those with high

The link between poverty and attainment is further reinforced with the gap in attainment 
between those eligible for free school meals and those not as evidenced in Figure 2.1

growing up in families living in poverty are less likely to 
qualifications. The table below highlights the qualification gap in Plymouth at age 19 between those who 
were eligible for free school meals at age 15 and those not eligible.   

Proportion of 5 A*-Cs GCSEs obtained at 

34.9
39

41.3
41.9
42.4

 

Page 49 

C including English and Maths, 2011 

, there is also a significant attainment gap (32%) at Key Stage 4 between those 
At Key Stage 4, the percentage of children not eligible for FSM who 

and English is more than double that for those who are.   

attainment and poverty, with 
neighbourhoods showing lowest Key Stage 4 attainment being amongst those with higher levels of 

The link between poverty and attainment is further reinforced with the gap in attainment 
2.12.   

likely to gain 
at age 19 between those who 

 

Page 85



Child Poverty Needs Assessment 2012 Page 50 
 

Table 2.7 
Qualification Level Eligible for free school 

meals at age 15 
Not eligible for free 
school meals at age 15 

Qualification gap 

Level 2* 70% 85% 15% points 
Level 3** 23% 48% 25% points 
* GCSEs grades A*-C, Key Skills level 2, Skills for Life, Functional Skills at level 2 
** A levels, GCE in applied subjects, International Baccalaureate, Key Skills level 3 
 
Again, a clear attainment gap is evident, particularly at Level 3 with those eligible for FSM being half as 
likely to gain a Level 3 qualification. 
 
Not in Education, Employment or Training (NEET) 
Measuring the number of young people classed as NEET is a priority indicator for the city and can be a 
good measure for both levels of youth unemployment and of post 16 education attendance. In Plymouth 
the percentage of NEETs has fluctuated since 2004cxv, peaking at 8.2% in 2005, with the lowest 
percentage being recorded last year (2011) at 6.1%.  Plymouth has persistently had levels of NEET that 
are higher than both the national and regional averages; however we perform better against the average 
of our statistical neighbourscxvi. 
 
As with other measures of unemployment, there is a strong link between where levels of NEET are 
highest and levels of deprivation. As at the end of the third quarter of 2011/12 the localities with the 
highest numbers of NEETs were the North West and South West – localities in which some of our 
most deprived neighbourhoods belong. However, it is also worth identifying that many people who 
would fall into the NEET category will be subject to multiple needs and the reason for them being in this 
category will be beyond just educational attainment. The multiple needs of these individuals represent a 
gap in our analysis.    
 
Tackling the attainment gap 
The data above highlights the gap in attainment between those from a deprived background and those 
from more affluent families. The Joseph Rowntree foundation again highlights that ‘children growing up 
in poorer families emerge from school with substantially lower levels of educational attainment. Such 
‘achievement gaps’ are a major contributing factor to patterns of social mobility’cxvii.  
 
Research studies undertaken by the foundation highlight two major areas where policy can potentially 
close the attainment gap between those from poorer backgrounds and those from more affluent 
families. It is worthwhile to report these and take them into account when considering a response to 
child poverty. These two areas are;  
 
 
 
 

                                            
cxv Department for Education, 2011 
cxvi Plymouth’s statistical neighbourhood for levels of NEET are; Rotherham, Portsmouth, Southend on Sea, Isle of Wight, 
Telford, Torbay, Bournemouth, Sheffield, Southampton and Peterborough.  
cxvii http://www.jrf.org.uk/publications/educational-attainment-poor-children 

Page 86



Child Poverty Needs Assessment 2012 Page 51 
 

Parents and the family home: 
• Improving the home learning environment in poorer families (e.g. books and reading pre-school, 

computers in teen years). 
• Helping parents from poorer families to believe that their own actions and efforts can lead to 

higher education. 
• Raising families’ aspirations and desire for advanced education, from primary school onwards. 

 
The child’s own attitudes and behaviours: 

• Reducing children’s behavioural problems, and engagement in risky behaviours. 
• Helping children from poorer families to believe that their own actions and efforts can lead to 

higher education. 
• Raising children’s aspirations and expectations for advanced education, from primary school 

onwards. 
 
2.3.3 Health Outcomes 
One of the findings of the Marmot Reviewcxviii was that there is a social gradient to health and that health 
inequalities result from social inequalities.  Children born into low-income households are more likely to 
experience health problems from birth and accumulate health risks as they grow older.   
 
The following section examines a range of those health outcomes linked to poverty from a local 
perspective.  According to the Plymouth Health Profile 2012, the overall health of people in Plymouth is 
generally worse than the English average.cxix  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                                            
cxviii The Marmot Review, Fair Society, Healthy Lives, 2010 
cxix Plymouth Local Health Profile 2012, Public Health Observatory 

Page 87



Child Poverty Needs Assessment 20
 

Life expectancy 
Average life expectancy in Plymouth is 
men is 77.6 years compared to an England average of 78.6
82 years compared to an England average of 82.6 years
within the city as illustrated below. 
 
  Figure 2.14 
Distribution 

Source: Public Health Life expectancy data, 2008
Worst Neighbourhoods and Trend 
 

 
This data provides compelling evidence 
The neighbourhood with the shortest life expectancy is Devonport (72.6
years less than Chaddlewood which has the 
expectancy is worse in more deprived areas, there are exceptions to this. For example North Prospect 
and Weston Mill, a neighbourhood associated with families living in poverty
above the city average. Conversely,
however within this neighbourhood there are more affluent areas. 
 
  

Lowest five neighbourhoods
Devonport
Stoke
Morice Town
Stonehouse
St. Budeaux & Kings Tamerton

 2012 Pa

ife expectancy in Plymouth is comparable with the England average.  The life expectancy for 
an England average of 78.6 years.  For women, average life expectancy is 

England average of 82.6 years. However, there are significant 
 

 
Source: Public Health Life expectancy data, 2008-10 

 

 

This data provides compelling evidence of the link between levels of deprivation and life expectancy
he neighbourhood with the shortest life expectancy is Devonport (72.67 years) which is 

years less than Chaddlewood which has the longest life expectancy of 85.4 years.  
expectancy is worse in more deprived areas, there are exceptions to this. For example North Prospect 
and Weston Mill, a neighbourhood associated with families living in poverty, has a life expectancy that i

, Stoke neighbourhood has the second shortest life expectancy 
neighbourhood there are more affluent areas.  

Life expectancy
72.67
75.81
76.08
76.69
77.87

 

Page 52 

he life expectancy for 
For women, average life expectancy is 

significant inequalities 

levels of deprivation and life expectancy.  
which is almost 13 
Whilst in general life 

expectancy is worse in more deprived areas, there are exceptions to this. For example North Prospect 
has a life expectancy that is 

Stoke neighbourhood has the second shortest life expectancy 

 

Page 88



Child Poverty Needs Assessment 20
 

Infant & Maternal Health  
Plymouth has a higher than average rate of teenage pregnancy 
Conception data for 2010/11 shows that 
classed as among the ‘most deprived’ which compares to 20% in the ‘least deprived’ neighbourhoods. 
 

There is also a higher than average rate of women who smoke in pregnancy (18.6% compared to 13.7%). 
Recent NHS figures show that more than one in six pregnant women in Plymouth smoke and this is 
thought to be linked to the high rate of teenage pregnancies with younger women.

 

Babies born in low income households have a far greater risk of having a low birth weight which is 
linked to future health related problems.  
proportion of low birth weight babies (18.6%) is Ham & Pennycross. Other
there are a higher proportion of low weight births are City Centre, Mutley, Greenbank & 
Ford, Devonport and North Prospect & Weston Mill.   
 

Figure 2.15 
Distribution 
 

Source: Public Health Low birth weight data, 2010
Worst Neighbourhoods and Trend 

 

                                            
cxx Plymouth Local Health Profile 2012, Public Health Observatory
cxxi http://www.thisisplymouth.co.uk/pregnant

Highest five neighbourhoods
Ham & Pennycross
Mutley
Ford
City Centre
Greenbank & University

 2012 Pa

 
Plymouth has a higher than average rate of teenage pregnancy (45.8% compared to 38.1%)
Conception data for 2010/11 shows that 39% of under 16 conceptions occurred in neighbourhoods 
classed as among the ‘most deprived’ which compares to 20% in the ‘least deprived’ neighbourhoods. 

age rate of women who smoke in pregnancy (18.6% compared to 13.7%). 
Recent NHS figures show that more than one in six pregnant women in Plymouth smoke and this is 
thought to be linked to the high rate of teenage pregnancies with younger women.

n in low income households have a far greater risk of having a low birth weight which is 
linked to future health related problems.  Within Plymouth, the neighbourhood with the highest 
proportion of low birth weight babies (18.6%) is Ham & Pennycross. Other neighbourhoods where 
there are a higher proportion of low weight births are City Centre, Mutley, Greenbank & 
Ford, Devonport and North Prospect & Weston Mill.    

 
data, 2010 
 

 

, Public Health Observatory 
http://www.thisisplymouth.co.uk/pregnant-women-smoke-Plymouth/story-16812227-detail/story.html

Proportion of low birthweights
18.6
16.7
13.9
12.3
12

 

Page 53 

(45.8% compared to 38.1%)cxx.  
39% of under 16 conceptions occurred in neighbourhoods 

classed as among the ‘most deprived’ which compares to 20% in the ‘least deprived’ neighbourhoods.  

age rate of women who smoke in pregnancy (18.6% compared to 13.7%). 
Recent NHS figures show that more than one in six pregnant women in Plymouth smoke and this is 
thought to be linked to the high rate of teenage pregnancies with younger women.cxxi 

n in low income households have a far greater risk of having a low birth weight which is 
Within Plymouth, the neighbourhood with the highest 

neighbourhoods where 
there are a higher proportion of low weight births are City Centre, Mutley, Greenbank & University, 

detail/story.html 

 

Page 89



Child Poverty Needs Assessment 20
 

Breastfeeding 
Plymouth has a lower than average rate of breastfeeding initiation (69.4% as opposed to 74.5%)
following maps show the level of intention to breastfeed at discharge and the prevalence at 
by neighbourhood. 
 
Figure 2.16 
Distribution 

Source: Public Health Intention to breastfeed at discharge, 2010
Worst Neighbourhoods  

 
The link between the deprived areas and those with the lowest breastfeeding rates is again apparent 
with Devonport having among the lowest rates of intention to and actual breastfeeding.  At 6
just 22% of children are breastfed.  
include Barne Barton, Ernesettle, Honicknowle and Southway, all of which have rates of breastfeeding of 
less than 24%.  

                                            
cxxii Plymouth Local Health Profile 2012, Public Healt

Lowest five neighbourhoods Proportion of intent to 
breastfeed at discharge

Barne Barton
Devonport
North Prospect & Weston Mill
Honicknowle
Keyham

 2012 Pa

Plymouth has a lower than average rate of breastfeeding initiation (69.4% as opposed to 74.5%)
following maps show the level of intention to breastfeed at discharge and the prevalence at 

 
Source: Public Health Intention to breastfeed at discharge, 2010 

 

deprived areas and those with the lowest breastfeeding rates is again apparent 
with Devonport having among the lowest rates of intention to and actual breastfeeding.  At 6

 Other neighbourhoods where breastfeeding at 6
include Barne Barton, Ernesettle, Honicknowle and Southway, all of which have rates of breastfeeding of 

, Public Health Observatory 

Proportion of intent to 
breastfeed at discharge

30.56
32.56
32.58
36.62
40.35

 

Page 54 

Plymouth has a lower than average rate of breastfeeding initiation (69.4% as opposed to 74.5%).cxxii  The 
following maps show the level of intention to breastfeed at discharge and the prevalence at 6-8 weeks 

deprived areas and those with the lowest breastfeeding rates is again apparent 
with Devonport having among the lowest rates of intention to and actual breastfeeding.  At 6-8 weeks 

g at 6-8 weeks is lower 
include Barne Barton, Ernesettle, Honicknowle and Southway, all of which have rates of breastfeeding of 

Page 90



Child Poverty Needs Assessment 20
 

Figure 2.17 
Distribution 

Source: Public Health Breastfeeding prevalence at 6
Worst Neighbourhoods 
 

 
 
 
Childhood Obesity 
The relationship between poverty and childhood obesity is well established, children in disadvantaged 
neighbourhoods being significantly more likely to be more obese than more affluent peers
has a rate of childhood obesity that is not significantly different to the England average
in reception year (aged 4 – 5) are classed as obese, which is also the England average. 
year 6 (aged 10 – 11), the percentage
 
Considering the slightly higher levels of poverty in Plymouth, it is surprising that childhood obesity rates 
are not above average however, as shown in the table below,
the most and least deprived neighbourhoods
 

 
 
 

                                            
cxxiii Griggs, J. and Walker, R., The costs of child poverty for individuals and society: A literature review
Rowntree Foundation 

Lowest five neighbourhoods
Proportion of intent to breastfeed at 6-
8 weeks

Honicknowle
Southway
Whitleigh
Barne Barton
Devonport

 2012 Pa

 
Source: Public Health Breastfeeding prevalence at 6-8 weeks, 2011 

 

The relationship between poverty and childhood obesity is well established, children in disadvantaged 
neighbourhoods being significantly more likely to be more obese than more affluent peers

childhood obesity that is not significantly different to the England average
5) are classed as obese, which is also the England average. 
percentage of obesity is 18.8%, comparable to the 19% national average. 

Considering the slightly higher levels of poverty in Plymouth, it is surprising that childhood obesity rates 
s shown in the table below, there is considerable variance between 

deprived neighbourhoods in both reception year and year 6. 

The costs of child poverty for individuals and society: A literature review

Proportion of intent to breastfeed at 6-

12.59
14.49
14.95
20.41
23.36

 

Page 55 

The relationship between poverty and childhood obesity is well established, children in disadvantaged 
neighbourhoods being significantly more likely to be more obese than more affluent peerscxxiii.  Plymouth 

childhood obesity that is not significantly different to the England average. 9.4% of children 
5) are classed as obese, which is also the England average.  For children in 

the 19% national average.  

Considering the slightly higher levels of poverty in Plymouth, it is surprising that childhood obesity rates 
there is considerable variance between 

The costs of child poverty for individuals and society: A literature review, 2008, Joseph 

 

Page 91



Child Poverty Needs Assessment 2012 Page 56 
 

Table 2.8 

 
Source: Plymouth Public Health, 2010/11 
 

Historical data shows the gap in obesity rates in reception year between the most and least deprived 
neighbourhoods have increased in recent years although the trend for year 6 is less clear. A gap in our 
knowledge is to fully understand the reasons behind this inequality gap, anecdotally issues such as 
supermarkets targeting the local population in how they stock their stores – for example in more 
deprived areas the emphasis may be less on promoting healthy eating and more on unhealthy products 
deemed more attractive to customers. Further research into eating habits including the impact of inter-
generational unhealthy eating on children would assist us in better understanding the problem.  
   
It is worth noting that although the widening inequality gap is of real concern, there is concern than 
parents refusing permission to have their child weighed may affect results, any effect of this cannot be 
quantified.  
 

Unintentional Accidents and Injuries 
In 2010/11, the level of unintentional child injury was 122.8 per 10,000 population.  This represents a 
considerable drop from 158.1 per 10,000 population in 2008/09.  However, in comparison to the 
national average, Plymouth has a high rate of hospital admissions due to injury (2,280 per 100,000 
population aged 0-17 as opposed to 1,466). Neighbourhoods within Plymouth where the rate of 
unintentional injuries is highest include North Prospect & Weston Mill, East End, Whitleigh, Morice 
Town and Barne Barton – each of which is among the ten most deprived neighbourhoods in Plymouth.  
 
Adult Mental Health  
Plymouth Adult Mental Health needs assessment published by Public Health in March 2012 identifies that 
a number of risk factors associated with mental health in Plymouth. Each of these risk factors are 
considered within this child poverty assessment given links to deprivation and inequalities in the city. 
Plymouth risk factors to mental health are; 
 

• High levels of socio-economic deprivation; and increased numbers of people in receipt of all 
benefits, in particular incapacity benefit (subject to welfare reform).   

• Poor housing conditions and homelessness.  
• Levels of health inequality between neighbourhoods are greater than the national average.  
• Increased rates of violent crimes including sexual offences are likely to have an impact on the 

mental health and well-being of residents.  
• A significant number of families are classed as vulnerable and experience risk factors such as 

violence within the family, particularly in more deprived areas.  
• The physical health of people in Plymouth is worse than the national average; and the prevalence 

of long-term conditions such as diabetes and Coronary Heart Disease is higher than in some 
comparator cities.  

Reception Year 6 

Most Deprived 13.1 21.9

Least Deprived 6.4 15

Plymouth 9.4 18.7

Page 92



Child Poverty Needs Assessment 2012 Page 57 
 

• Alcohol and drug dependence are important issues for Plymouth; over 10,000 people are 
estimated to be alcohol dependent; and alcohol consumption and admission figures are greater 
than average. 

Some key findings raised in the needs assessment and have been reported given the relevance to child 
poverty are shown below; 
 

• The mental health needs of Plymouth are estimated to be over 20% higher than would be 
expected for a city this size, indicating that the City has a high burden of mental ill healthcxxiv  

• Over 40,000 people are likely to have a common mental health problem such as depression and 
anxiety, although only half may need specialist treatment.  

• The number of hospital attendances for self-harm has been growing, and over twice as many 
came from the most deprived neighbourhoods as compared to the least deprivedcxxv. The 19 and 
under age bracket had the highest number of attendances to hospital as a result of self-harm, 
closely followed by the 20-24 age bracket.   

• Women with a pre-existing mental health problem may stop, reduce or change their medication 
during pregnancy or when breastfeeding, and are at increased risk of another episode. In Plymouth in 
2010 there were 3,280 live births. The total fertility rate, which is the number of children an average 
woman at current fertility rates would have over a lifetime, was 1.83cxxvi. With an estimated 
prevalence of postnatal depression of 12-13%, we would expect around 400 women each year in 
Plymouth to experience this condition. 

• Young people leaving care are at higher risk of having, or developing mental health problems. 
Reports of the prevalence of psychopathology among children looked after by local authorities 
vary between 17-89%, which compares with estimates of 3-18% for children outside the care 
systemcxxvii. In the year ending 2011 in Plymouth there were 35 19 year olds defined as care 
leaverscxxviii. 

 
Child Mental Health 
Plymouth is significantly worse than the England average for hospital admissions due to mental health 
issues for children aged between 0 and 17 (140.7 per 100,000 population compared to 109.4).  The 
graph below shows the estimated number of children in Plymouth likely to suffer from different types of 
mental health illnesscxxix. 
 
 
 
 

                                            
cxxiv  North East Public Health Observatory. MINI and NPMS Needs Indices Data. 
http://www.mentalhealthobservatory.org.uk/mho/mini (accessed 2 January 2012)  
cxxv Plymouth Hospital’s NHS Trust – Emergency Department attendances 2010/11 
cxxvi Office for National Statistics. Conception and Fertility Rates. http://www.statistics.gov.uk/hub/population/births-and-
fertility/conception-and-fertility-rates  
cxxvii Ford T, Vostanis P, Meltzer H, & Goodman R. Psychiatric disorder amongst British children looked after by local 
authorities; comparison with children living in private households. British Journal of Psychiatry. 2007. 190 319-325. 
cxxviii Department for Education. DfE: Children Looked After by Local Authorities in England (including adoption and care 
leavers) - year ending 31 March 2011. http://www.education.gov. 
 
cxxix Based on prevalence estimations by Kurtz et al, 1995 

Page 93



Child Poverty Needs Assessment 20
 

Figure 2.18 

Source: Children and Young People’s Plan needs analysis, 2010/11
 
These figures also need to be placed
Plymouth compared to the South West and England. Based on this it would be anticipated that these 
expected numbers could be an underestimate
population. For many reasons, transition from Child and Adolescent Mental Health services (CAMHS) can 
be difficult time for vulnerable young people. 
with CAMHS, they may not meet service criteria for Adult Menta
occasions where young people “fall through the gaps
 
An analysis of risk factors as part of u
or mental health problem can also generate more ins
understanding the various factors that influence a child throughout their early years
the table below which highlights how certain groups or characteristics are disproportionately affecte
with regards to poor mental health.
 
Table 2.9 

Impact of risk factors on prevalence of any 
mental disorder: Risk factor 

Child with learning disability  
Households with no working parent 
Parental mental illness  
5 or more children in household  
Lone parent families  
Children living in less prosperous/mixed areas 
Parents with no educational qualifications 

Source: ONS, 2002, Follow Up Survey
 
 

 
 

                                            
cxxx Kurtz et al, 1995   

 2012 Pa

 
Source: Children and Young People’s Plan needs analysis, 2010/11 

d within the context of significant amounts of deprivation
compared to the South West and England. Based on this it would be anticipated that these 

underestimate. These estimates also only cover the 5
or many reasons, transition from Child and Adolescent Mental Health services (CAMHS) can 

be difficult time for vulnerable young people. We know however that even if a young pers
, they may not meet service criteria for Adult Mental Health Services (AMHS); and there will b

fall through the gaps5.  

An analysis of risk factors as part of understanding the likelihood of developing an emotional wellbeing 
or mental health problem can also generate more insight into potential areas of need, especially in 
understanding the various factors that influence a child throughout their early years
the table below which highlights how certain groups or characteristics are disproportionately affecte
with regards to poor mental health. 

Impact of risk factors on prevalence of any 
mental disorder: Risk factor  

Expected prevalence of 
mental disorder 

22%  
Households with no working parent  20%  

18%  
 18%  

16%  
Children living in less prosperous/mixed areas  16%  
Parents with no educational qualifications  15%  

Follow Up Survey 

Page 58 

of significant amounts of deprivation across 
compared to the South West and England. Based on this it would be anticipated that these 

cover the 5-15 year old child 
or many reasons, transition from Child and Adolescent Mental Health services (CAMHS) can 

We know however that even if a young person is in contact 
l Health Services (AMHS); and there will be 

anding the likelihood of developing an emotional wellbeing 
ight into potential areas of need, especially in 

understanding the various factors that influence a child throughout their early yearscxxx, as can be seen by 
the table below which highlights how certain groups or characteristics are disproportionately affected 

Expected prevalence of  
mental disorder  

Page 94



Child Poverty Needs Assessment 2012 Page 59 
 

Drug and Alcohol Misuse 
Plymouth has significantly higher rates of hospital admissions due to alcoholcxxxi and children and young 
people using alcoholcxxxii.  Plymouth is also significantly worse for alcohol related admissions to hospital 
among the adult population.cxxxiii  It is known that last year there were approximately 145 children whose 
parents accessed alcohol treatment provided by Harbour Drug and Alcohol servicescxxxiv. In reality, the 
true number of children living in a family environment where there is an abuse of alcohol is likely to be 
much higher.  The Plymouth Hidden Harm Needs Assessment 2008cxxxv estimates that between 3,900 
and 6,500 children are affected by significant parental alcohol misuse in Plymouth.  Also, a snapshot of 
child protection cases in 2011identified that 314 open child protection cases had alcohol as one of the 
key parental classifications. 
 
There is a link between where these children live and levels of deprivation with the highest number of 
cases in the neighbourhoods of Barne Barton, City Centre, Efford and Devonport, all neighbourhoods 
which are among the most deprived in the city.  
 
Smoking 
Plymouth has a higher rate of adult smoking than the England average (25.1% compared to 20.7%)cxxxvi 
and the rate of children and young people who smoke is slightly higher to the national average (5% 
compared to 4%)cxxxvii.   
 
The Tobacco plan for Plymouth highlights that Tobacco use is the primary cause of health inequalities 
within the city and by some distance is the highest cause of preventable deaths. Evidence shows that the 
more smokers living in a child’s family the more likely it is that child will smoke themselvescxxxviii.  
 
There is a strong link between rates of smoking within Plymouth and levels of deprivation. The rate of 
smoking across all ages is over 30% in the highest quintile of deprivation, which compares to less than 
15% within the lowest quintile. Thirteen neighbourhoods have a smoking rate of over 35%, including 
Devonport, Stonehouse, Morice Town, Barne Barton and Whitleigh, which represent some of the most 
deprived neighbourhoods.  
  

                                            
cxxxi 92 per 100,000 under 18 population compared to 61.8 nationally,  Plymouth Child Health Profile 2012, ChiMat 
cxxxii 19% compared to 15% nationally - Plymouth Child Health Profile 2012, ChiMat 
cxxxiii Plymouth Local Health Profile 2012, Public Health Observatory 
cxxxiv National Drug and Treatment Management System 
cxxxv The Plymouth Hidden Harm Needs Assessment (2008)’ Hidden Harm Working Group analysis of need’ 
cxxxvi Plymouth Local Health Profile 2012, Public Health Observatory 
cxxxvii Plymouth Child Health Profile 2012, ChiMat 
 

Page 95



Child Poverty Needs Assessment 2012 Page 60 
 

 
  

KEY MESSAGES – FAMILY LIFE & CHILDREN’S LIFE CHANCES 
• There is a greater concentration of families with multiple and/or complex needs 

living in the most deprived areas of the city. Multiple and complex needs may 
include lone parents, disability, health problems, parenting problems or social 
isolation amongst others.  
 

• There is a significant attainment gap at all levels, from early years foundation stage, 
Key Stage 2 (primary schools), Key Stage 4 (secondary school) and post 16 
education, between those eligible for Free School Meals and those not. Research 
indicates that, without effective intervention, this trend is established at a very early 
age and continues with the child into adulthood. 
 

• Areas of lowest scores for Early Years Foundation Stage correlate with areas of 
highest deprivation.  
 
 

• At Key Stage 4 (secondary school), the percentage of children from less deprived 
areas/households (i.e. not eligible for FSM) who attained at least five GCSE’s is 
more than double that for those where children are in receipt of FSM. 
 

• While relatively stable, the rate of young people post 16 years not in education, 
employment or training remains a significant concern in light of increasing rates and 
distribution of youth unemployment. 
 

• There are inequalities in life expectancy with life expectancy lower in more 
deprived areas. For example the average life expectancy for people in Devonport is 
nearly 13 years less than those in Chaddlewood. 
 

• Despite improvements in recent years health outcomes for families in the most 
deprived areas of Plymouth are less positive than their more affluent neighbours 
with lower rates of breastfeeding (at birth), higher rates of teenage pregnancy, and 
higher rates of low birth weights. 
 

• Childhood obesity rates are much higher in the most deprived areas of the city than 
in the least deprived areas. 

 

• Plymouth has smoking rates significantly higher than the England average – this 
equates to 1 in 4 adults on average – this rises to 1 in 3 adults in areas of 
deprivation compared to 1 in 7 adults in the least deprived areas. 
 

• 1 in 6 pregnant women in Plymouth smoke, most of who are young mothers from 
areas of highest deprivation. 
 

• Accurate data on the mental health needs of parents and children is not available, 
but prevalence rates matched with levels of deprivation indicates a significant need 
that is not acknowledged by key services across the city. 

Page 96



Child Poverty Needs Assessment 2012 Page 61 
 

2.4 COMMUNITIES AND NEIGHBOURHOODS 
 
This section reports on the key issues that link poverty and its direct effects within local communities 
and neighbourhoods. A key driver and outcome of living in poverty revolves around quality of housing as 
well as crime and community safety issues including anti-social behaviour and domestic abuse.  
 
2.4.1 Housing 
The Strategic Housing Market Assessment update in 2010cxxxix together with the Private Sector Housing 
Stock Conditions report 2010 provide an extensive overview of the housing situation in Plymouth, 
raising a number of concerning issues that will directly and indirectly impact on child poverty. It is 
recommended that these reports are read to fully understand the housing picture of the city.  
 
A snapshot of housing data in February 2012 identified that there were approximately 600 families with 
three or more children on the Council’s housing register who were in receipt of Housing Benefit and 
Income Support or Job Seekers Allowance. The numbers of these families were highest in North 
Prospect & Weston Mill, Barne Barton, Devonport, Honicknowle and St Budeaux and Kings Tamertoncxl. 
 
Overcrowding 
Families with children living in overcrowded housing will have no or limited space to do their 
homework, limiting their ability to thrive or to attain the standards that they might have otherwise 
reached. Overcrowding is an established risk factor to ill health among occupants, in particular the ill-
health of children.  
 
There are high levels of overcrowding in Plymouth.  Of the 9,671 people currently registered for social 
housing through Devon Home Choice (DHC), 1,951 (20%) lack a bedroom, and 190 (2%) lack two 
bedrooms.  More worryingly, those who are more overcrowded (by 2 or more bedrooms) are unlikely 
to be housed through DHCcxli.   
 
The housing register has highlighted a significant number of large families in povertycxlii who are 
overcrowded.  In September 2011, there were 255 families with 4 or more bed-need seeking properties 
through Devon Home Choice.  
 
Temporary Accommodation 
Despite the success of homelessness prevention initiatives, patterns and causes of homelessness in 
Plymouth stubbornly persist. Homelessness disproportionately impacts on children and young people 
(over half of all those who made an approach being in housing need).  Most often, these young people 
and families have been evicted by their parents or family or have suffered from relationships breaking 
down.  
 
 

                                            
cxxxix Plymouth City Council Strategic Housing Market Needs Assessment 2009 - 2010 
cxl Neighbourhoods identified using correspondence address on housing register 
cxli Plymouth City Council (2010) Strategic Housing Assessment Update 
cxlii Based on household income of £20k or less 

Page 97



Child Poverty Needs Assessment 20
 

At any one time, approximately 49 homeless families 
children in temporary accommodation in the city 
 Children living in temporary accommodation are almost twice as likely to suffer from poor health, e.g. 
respiratory problems, asthma, bronchitis, as other chi
prolonged and transient nature of life in temporary accommodation makes it harder to safeguard 
vulnerable childrencxliv.  
 
Housing Conditions 
There is a clear relationship between the areas of worst housing 
inequalities in Plymouth. The following map illustrates the 
which represents the distribution of housing in poor condition, and without central heating. 
shows that the largest concentration of poorest condition housing and without central heating (dark 
blue) is found in the south west and 
 
Figure 2.19 

 

Plymouth’s private sector stock is older than the nation
medium / large terraced houses (31% compared with 19% nationally). Around 50% of private rented 
stock is pre 1919 (compared with 40% nationally) and predominates in inner
with older, terraced housing.  
 
The age, condition and tenure of housing stock in Plymouth presents a number of challenges, particularly 
considering the impact of poor housing on health and child poverty.
homes are classified as non-decent with
 
 

                                            
cxliiiShelter – Against all odds - 2006 
cxliv Working together to safeguard children, 2010, Department for Children, Schools and Families

 2012 Pa

49 homeless families (an average of 87 children) are bringing
accommodation in the city and this figure has increased 31% from

Children living in temporary accommodation are almost twice as likely to suffer from poor health, e.g. 
respiratory problems, asthma, bronchitis, as other childrencxliii.  It is also well recognised that the 
prolonged and transient nature of life in temporary accommodation makes it harder to safeguard 

etween the areas of worst housing condition, deprivation and health 
he following map illustrates the Indices of Deprivation “indoors living domain” 

which represents the distribution of housing in poor condition, and without central heating. 
largest concentration of poorest condition housing and without central heating (dark 

south west and central city area which is also the area of oldest housing. 

 

Plymouth’s private sector stock is older than the national average with a far higher proportion of 
medium / large terraced houses (31% compared with 19% nationally). Around 50% of private rented 
stock is pre 1919 (compared with 40% nationally) and predominates in inner-central neighbourhoods 

The age, condition and tenure of housing stock in Plymouth presents a number of challenges, particularly 
the impact of poor housing on health and child poverty. Around 30,000

with 25,500 occupied by vulnerable residents.  

Working together to safeguard children, 2010, Department for Children, Schools and Families 

Page 62 

are bringing up their 
31% from 2010/11).  

Children living in temporary accommodation are almost twice as likely to suffer from poor health, e.g. 
It is also well recognised that the 

prolonged and transient nature of life in temporary accommodation makes it harder to safeguard 

condition, deprivation and health 
eprivation “indoors living domain” 

which represents the distribution of housing in poor condition, and without central heating. The map 
largest concentration of poorest condition housing and without central heating (dark 

also the area of oldest housing.  

al average with a far higher proportion of 
medium / large terraced houses (31% compared with 19% nationally). Around 50% of private rented 

central neighbourhoods 

The age, condition and tenure of housing stock in Plymouth presents a number of challenges, particularly 
30,000 (33%) private sector 

 

 

Page 98



Child Poverty Needs Assessment 2012 Page 63 
 

2.4.2 Crime and Community Safety 
 
Youth Offending 
Long term trends for youth offenders in Plymouth show a significant drop of 56% in the number of 
offenderscxlv and the rate of reoffending although it rose slightly in 2010. In 2010, the reoffending rate for 
young offenders was 37%, slightly higher than the national rate of 34.1%.cxlvi  
 
Data from the Youth Offending Service (YOS) identifies that young offenders are most likely to reside in 
areas recognised as being among the most deprived and that also have higher levels of crime. However, 
there is one stand out exception to this with the second highest number of young offenders residing in 
Plympton. The table below identifies the top 10 areas where young offenders reside. 
 
Table 2.10 

 
Source: Number of young offenders by YOS area, Youth Offending Service 2011/12 
 
Crime and anti-social behaviour levels 
Crime levels are higher in more deprived areas.  Of the neighbourhoods with high rates of crime and 
anti-social behaviour shown in the tables below, many are among the most deprived. 
 

Table 2.11 Rates of Overall Crime 

 
Source: Devon and Cornwall Police, 2011/12 
                                            
cxlv Between 2006 and 2010 
cxlvi Ministry of Justice, 2010 

Youth Offending Area Number of young offenders
Devonport 27
St Budeaux 19
Plympton 18
North Prospect 17
Eggbuckland 16
Stoke 16
Whitleigh 15
Efford 15
Stonehouse 15
Honicknowle 15

Neighbourhood Total Crime rate per 1000 population
City Centre 528.8
Stonehouse 222.8
Morice Town 200.4
Mutley 187
East End 167.9
Devonport 159.7
Barne Barton 122.7
Greenbank & University 117.1
Whitleigh 115.8
Stoke 111.4

Page 99



Child Poverty Needs Assessment 2012 Page 64 
 

Table 2.12 Rates of Anti-Social Behaviour Incidents 

 
Source: Devon and Cornwall Police, 2011/12 
 
Abuse in the home 
Levels of domestic abuse are higher in neighbourhoods with higher levels of deprivation. The 
neighbourhoods with the highest rate of domestic abuse are shown below and include 7 
neighbourhoods that fall within the 10 most deprived in the city.  
 
There were 2,274 domestic abuse crimes recorded by the Police in 2011/12 where a child was present 
at the time of the incident.  The 10 neighbourhoods with the highest rates of incidents where a child is 
present are shown below and again, there is a pattern of higher prevalence among the most deprived 
areas.  
 
Table 2.13 

 
Source: rates of Domestic Abuse crimes and incidents, Devon and Cornwall Police, 2011/12 

 

  

Neighbourhood Anti-Social behaviour incidents rate per 
1000 population

City Centre 225.9
Stonehouse 106
Mutley 99.1
Devonport 97.9
Morice Town 87.2
Whitleigh 73.6
Barne Barton 73.6
Ernesettle 73.3
East End 67.1
Honicknowle 63.1

Neighbourhood All Domestic Abuse Incidents resulting 
in a crime - rate per 1000 population

Morice Town 29.27
Barne Barton 24.66
Devonport 20.18
Whitleigh 15.7
Stonehouse 15.27
Lipson & Laira 12.59
Southway 12.24
Keyham 12.07
Honicknowle 11.84
City Centre 11.81

Page 100



Child Poverty Needs Assessment 2012 Page 65 
 

2.4.3 At Risk / Vulnerable Groups 
  

There are also a number of groups that are nationally considered to be at higher risk or more 
vulnerable to child poverty. These finding should warrant a closer review of how services currently 
target these groups and whether their needs have been considered in terms of their likelihood of being 
at higher risk of child poverty. 
 
This section summarises some of the key groups vulnerable to poverty focusing on both national 
evidence and the local picture.  

 
Group Evidence Prevalence in Plymouth 
Low income 
working 
families  

Now often referred to as the ‘hidden poor’, 
working families on a low income are 
becoming increasingly vulnerable to 
poverty.cxlvii More than half of all children in 
poverty (58%) live in homes where at least 
one adult work.cxlviii 
 
According to Oxfam, for people in in-work 
poverty, working may actually undermine their 
ability to cope on a low income. There is less 
time to spend buying the cheapest foods; 
there may be transport costs involved in 
getting to work; and without the money to 
pay for professional child care, a worker may 
be more reliant on their social support 
network but less able to reciprocate.cxlix 
 
Poor quality work combining elements of low 
pay, long hours, unsocial shifts and exploitative 
working conditions has been found to be 
detrimental to health and wellbeing.cl 

As at December 2011 over 22,000 
families with over 39,000 children were 
claiming in work tax credits.cli The data 
shows that families on a low income are 
spread across the whole city and not 
just in recognised deprived areas.  
 
Plymouth has a lower than average rate 
of pay £445 in comparison to both the 
South West at £473 and the national 
average of £503.clii 
 
An increasing number of people from 
families described as new to poverty 
are accessing services such as the 
Plymouth Food Bank and debt advice 
providers. Often these families are in 
work and low incomes have 
contributed to their need.  
 

Disabled 
parents and 
parents of 
disabled 
children 

Nationally, disabled people are more 
vulnerable to living in poverty as are parents 
to disabled children. Over a million children 
living in poverty are affected by disability 
according to Barnardo’s.cliii  
 

The highest numbers of disabled people 
reside in the neighbourhoodscliv of; 
Stonehouse, Honicknowle, Mutley & 
Greenbank, Whitleigh and Stoke. It is 
not known how many of these are 
parents or children therefore there is 

                                            
cxlvii The hidden poor – in work but sinking after years without pay rises, The Guardian, June 2012 
cxlviii What causes child poverty? ,  Barnardo’s, 2012 
cxlix Poinasamy, K., When Work Won’t Pay: In-work poverty in the UK, 2011, Oxfam GB 
cl Crisp et al. Work and worklessness in deprived neighbourhoods, 2009, Joseph Rowntree Foundation 
cli Department for Work and Pensions – In work families claiming child tax credits, December 2011 
clii NOMIS, Labour Market Profile Plymouth, 16 February 2012 
cliii What causes child poverty? ,  Barnardo’s, 2012 
cliv Neighbourhoods are the pre 2011 43 neighbourhoods and not the newly aligned 39 neighbourhoods. 

Page 101



Child Poverty Needs Assessment 2012 Page 66 
 

Families with disabled children are much 
more likely to be in poverty because of the 
higher costs associated with bringing up a child 
with a disability, and, in some cases, the loss of 
income involved when a parent has given up 
work to care for the child.  

currently a knowledge gap around this 
vulnerable group. 

Lone Parents Nationally lone parents are recognised as 
vulnerable regardless of whether they are in 
work or not. In lone parent households, 41% 
of children are living in poverty compared to 
23% in two parent families according to 
Barnardo’s.clv Much of this is thought to be due 
to high levels of worklessness and low out of 
work benefits.   
 

There is a strong link between lone parent 
families and unemployment. Nationally, 
employment rates among lone parents are 
significantly lower than average (57% 
compared with 72%), while nearly a quarter of 
all workless households are made up of a 
single adult and dependent children.clvi 
 

Additionally, Barnardo’s also report 
psychological barriers for lone parents getting 
back into work in that some feel isolated and 
lack confidence and may also experiencer 
poor physical and mental health and be socially 
excluded. 
 

According to the charity Gingerbread, lone 
parents find it harder to meet childcare costs, 
are much more likely to be in social housing 
and are more likely to be in arrears with 
mortgages and household bills.clvii  

Lone parents represent the most 
vulnerable group to poverty in 
Plymouth. Data tells us that 
approximately 70% of children living in 
poverty are living in single parent 
families.clviii 
 

Nearly 70% of children living in poverty 
in Plymouth live in lone parent families 
which equates to 7,945 children.  
Neighbourhoods with the highest 
numbers of children living in lone 
parent families are North Prospect and 
Weston Mill (1005), Honicknowle 
(865), Devonport (780), Stonehouse 
(670) and Efford (660). A gap in our 
knowledge is the makeup of lone parent 
families. For example we do not know 
whether the lone parent is the father or 
mother or the numbers of children 
affected.  
 
Anecdotal evidence suggests that in 
some cases lone parents who are out of 
work feel they are financially better off 
unemployed. Practitioners report that 
many lone parents also have low 
aspirations and feel socially excluded. 
This can lead to parents feeling more 
secure on benefits and to fear 
employment and the responsibility of 
financial management. Qualitative data 
also suggests that while many lone 
families do not formally live with a 
partner, many do have partners who 
contribute financially to the household.  

                                            
clv Ibid 
clvi State of the Nation: Poverty, Worklessness and Welfare Dependency in the UK, 2010, HM Government 
clvii Statistics, Gingerbread, 2010 
clviii Department for Work and Pensions Lone Parent Benefit Claimants, 2011 

Page 102



Child Poverty Needs Assessment 2012 Page 67 
 

Young Parents Data tells us that there is a link between 
deprivation and teenage conception.clix 
 
Nationally it is reported that young parents 
are more vulnerable to poor physical and 
emotional health issues as are children to 
young parentsclx.  
 
 

In Plymouth 39% of under 16 
conceptions occurred in 
neighbourhoods classed as among the 
‘most deprived’ which compares to 20% 
in the ‘least deprived’ neighbourhoods 
 

The Food Bank reports that young 
parents, often excluded from their 
families represent a user group who 
need to access free food – although 
they do not represent the biggest 
cohort of user. 

Large Families Within large families with three or more 
children, 35% of children are living in poverty 
compared to 24% of children from families 
with two children and 26% of children from 
one-parent families.clxi 
 

Research suggests that parents of children in 
large families are more likely to be not 
working, from ethnic minorities, have had 
their first child at younger ages, be less 
educated and have a young childclxii - all 
characteristics linked to living in poverty.  

Larger families are vulnerable to housing 
problems particularly overcrowding. 
Overcrowding can affect a child’s standard of 
living and can also have a detrimental effect on 
health and education attainment.  

Large families are most prevalent in the 
neighbourhoods of North Prospect & 
Weston Mill, Honicknowle, Efford and 
Devonport.  
 

A snapshot of housing data in February 
2012 identifies that there were 
approximately 600 families with three 
or more children on the Council’s 
housing register who were in receipt of 
housing benefit and income support or 
job seekers.  
 
The housing register also identifies that 
a significant number of large families are 
in poverty, many of whom are living in 
overcrowded conditions.   
 

BME Families / 
Asylum 
Seekers 

Research states that those from BME 
communities are a vulnerable group to living in 
poverty. Within Black or Black British 
households, 47% of children live in poverty. 
This rises to 58% in Pakistani and Bangladeshi 
households, compared with 26% in White 
households. clxiii   
Higher worklessness and lower educational 
attainment are contributing factors for the 
high rate of poverty among BME communities.  

6.6% of Plymouth’s population is from a 
BME community, this population has 
trebled over the past ten yearsclxv.  
 
The South West and South East 
localities have the highest proportions 
of populations from a BME community.  
There are currently 20 unaccompanied 
Asylum Seeking children aged between 
17 and 19 in the cityclxvi. 

                                            
clix Deprivation teen pregnancy boost, BBC News, February 2007 
clx Farrington, D., Understanding and preventing youth crime, 1996, Joseph Rowntree Foundation 
clxi What causes child poverty? ,  Barnardo’s, 2012 
clxii Bradshaw, J. et al, Child Poverty in large families, 2006, Joseph Rowntree Foundation 
clxiii What causes child poverty? ,  Barnardo’s, 2012 
clxv Knowing our Communities, Social Inclusion Unit, 2012 

Page 103



Child Poverty Needs Assessment 2012 Page 68 
 

 
Asylum seeking families and their children are 
among the most disadvantaged groups in the 
country. Asylum seeking families are not 
allowed to apply for permission to work for 
the first 12 months of their application. Not 
only does this force them to rely on state 
benefits but denies them the chance to 
integrate into their community and reduces 
the chances of them finding employment if 
they are given refugee status.clxiv 

Migrant 
Workers 

The economic downturn has led to a 
reduction in work opportunities for migrant 
workers, putting financial hardship on these 
communities. An increase in domestic abuse 
among migrant worker families has been 
reportedclxvii. 
 
Financial difficulty has meant migrant workers 
are more vulnerable to partake in petty crime 
or be exploited by criminal gangsclxviii.  

There are approximately 500 Western 
Europe migrant workers in the city. 
This community is dwarfed by numbers 
of migrant workers from Eastern 
Europe; there are an estimated 4,500 
Russian/ Polish speaking migrant 
workersclxix. 
 
 

Workless 
Households 

The UK has the highest proportion of children 
whose parents do not work, compared to 
other European countries. Low out-of-work 
benefits mean that most of these children are 
poor.clxx 

Growing up in a workless family is associated 
with lower educational attainment, reduced 
aspiration to gain employment and future 
worklessness.clxxi 
 
The economically inactive make up around ¾ 
of workless households in the UK.clxxii  

There are over 6,000 families in 
Plymouth that claim out of work tax 
creditsclxxiii. Numbers of families claiming 
out of work tax credits are highest in 
the neighbourhoods of North Prospect 
& Weston Mill, Stonehouse, 
Honicknowle, Devonport and Barne 
Barton. 
 
 
Plymouth has a higher than average rate 
of economic inactivity and a high 
percentage of long-term sickness.clxxiv 

                                                                                                                                                         
clxvi Ibid 
clxiv Ibid 
clxvii Amber Initiatives – supporting organisation for migrant workers in Plymouth 
clxviii Ibid 
clxix Ibid 
clxx What causes child poverty? ,  Barnardo’s, 2012 
clxxi A New Approach to Child Poverty: Tackling the Causes of Disadvantage and Transforming Families' Lives, 2011,HM 
Government 
clxxii Harkness, S., Gregg, P. and MacMillan, L. Poverty: the role of institutions, behaviours and culture, 2012, Joseph Rowntree 
Foundation 
clxxiii HMRC, Families claiming out of work tax credits, August 2010 
clxxiv NOMIS, Labour Market Profile Plymouth, 16 February 2012 

Page 104



Child Poverty Needs Assessment 2012 Page 69 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2.5 Child Poverty Performance Indicators 
 
In order to illustrate child poverty in Plymouth and benchmark against national averages analysis of 
our performance against a basket of indicators has been undertaken. A number of these have been 
reported in this needs assessment in addition to the nationally recognised income based measure NI 
116.  The full list of indicators can be found in Appendix I1.   
 
In addition, a neighbourhood indicator checklist can be found in Appendix III. 
  

KEY MESSAGES – COMMUNITIES AND NEIGHBOURHOODS 
 

• Plymouth has high levels of families with children living in overcrowded housing. 
The number of homeless families requiring temporary accommodation remains 
stubbornly high despite intervention to prevent this from happening. 
 

• 33% of Plymouth’s private sector stock across the city is old and considered non 
decent – this equates to around 30,000 private sector homes, occupied by 
25,500. There is not enough data at present to determine how many house 
families living in poverty. 
 

• Social housing, located predominantly in the West of the city is often well 
maintained and more energy efficient than older private sector housing. The age, 
condition and tenure of private sector housing stock in Plymouth is of concern 
and may be impacting on the health of the most vulnerable families.  

 
• Deprived neighbourhoods in the city are most likely to experience higher levels 

of crime, antisocial behaviour and domestic abuse. However patterns of youth 
offending across the city are less clear cut with less deprived areas seeing similar 
number of offenders as the more deprived areas. 
 

• Further work needs to be undertaken to better understand how services 
currently target those groups considered more vulnerable to poverty and 
whether their needs have been fully considered in service planning. 

Page 105



Child Poverty Needs Assessment 2012 Page 70 
 

3. CONCLUSIONS AND IMPLICATIONS 
 

3.1 Key areas for consideration  
Tackling child poverty cannot be achieved with a single faceted approach. Poverty damages. It 
damages childhoods; it damages life chances; and it damages us all in society.  
 

Responses to child poverty will therefore need to be identified and organised in a way that makes 
sense of how child poverty impacts on the context of child, family, home & community. The Child 
Poverty Pyramidclxxv, developed by the Child Poverty Unit enables this approach as it represents an 
understanding of the factors that have the largest and most direct impact on child poverty. The 
underlying assumption is that to be effective, the city must focus attention on these factors, which 
are prioritised into a hierarchy of tiers over the short, medium and long term to show their impact 
on reducing child poverty. 
 
Figure 3.1 - Child Poverty Pyramid 

 
The conclusions within this Chapter have been grouped under each of these tiers in order to focus 
attention on what needs to be addressed within a local child poverty strategy. This approach will also 

                                            
clxxv Department for Work and Pensions, Child Poverty Unit 

Page 106



Child Poverty Needs Assessment 2012 Page 71 
 

allow stakeholders from a range of backgrounds to understand what role they may need to play to 
tackle such an important issue. 
 
3.2  Factors that directly influence families’ resources and incomes today 
 
3.2.1 One in five Plymouth children are living in poverty based on household income levels. There 

are areas of significant child poverty in the city – 8 areas have child poverty rates in excess of 
50%.  
 

3.2.2 While the majority of child poverty is located in the South West and North West of the city, 
there are growing pockets in more affluent parts of the city. As the majority of data predates 
the recession, actual levels of child poverty could be higher than reported in this needs 
assessment. 
 

3.2.3 In-work child poverty poses a significant risk to the city - the income based measure of child 
poverty, while a significant indicator of material deprivation does not capture a large number 
of in work low income families. Evidence suggests that such households now at an increased 
risk of child poverty fall just above the 60% median rate but are struggling following 
substantial changes to the welfare system and rising costs of living. 
 

3.2.4 Financial top ups for low income families in the past has succeeded in lifting a significant 
number of families out of poverty. For some families is it the difference between being able to 
heat the home or buy food. The reduction in household income following the introduction of 
structural welfare reforms is likely to have most impact on Plymouth’s most vulnerable 
families – this will severely impede the city’s ability to reduce its child poverty rates and 
action to mitigate such impact is urgently required. It will also be essential to ensure that 
joined-up advice and guidance can make a real difference and enable people living in poverty 
to navigate their way through understanding the new benefit entitlements.  
 

3.2.5 Quantitative and qualitative data point to a growing and worrying trend of out of work and in 
work low income families being less able to manage their finances. With upcoming changes in 
the payment of benefits along with rising living costs, this is likely to result in marked increase 
in demand for both debt and budget management advice services. Opportunities to reduce 
household costs for vulnerable families including energy bills and repayment of debt should be 
explored, for example expansion of credit bank facilities, programmes promote energy 
efficiency e.g. insulation, creation of local energy cooperatives and increased installation of 
water meters in most deprived areas.  

 
  

Page 107



Child Poverty Needs Assessment 2012 Page 72 
 

3.3 Factors that directly influence families’ ability to enter and sustain well 
paid employment in the short and long term 
 
3.3.1 The direction and scope of the future growth of Plymouth is intrinsically linked to the city’s 

ability to sustainably reduce its numbers of children living in poverty. Key issues that will need 
to be addressed include the creation of more full time and/or higher paying employment 
opportunities in line with regional and national averages, alongside a strengthening of efforts 
to raise the skills levels of adults in line with what employers need and want.  This must 
include a focus on basic skills including literacy and numeracy alongside other employability 
skills. This will also provide additional opportunities for many parents to engage with their 
own children’s learning for example reading books before bedtime and supporting their child 
with homework. 

 
3.3.2 The constant number of young people from the most deprived areas who are not in 

education, employment or training alongside worrying trends of youth unemployment must 
prompt much closer dialogue and horizon scanning between schools and colleges of further 
education with city employers. This will ensure that the emerging skill sets are matched with 
job availability and the needs of employers.  
 

3.3.3 The child care sufficiency audit shows that parents are generally happy with the range and 
cost of childcare provided across the city, links with the growth agenda need to be more 
closely formed to ensure that any growth in the employment market, including training and 
education, are matched with accessible and affordable child care opportunities. The 
expansion of the free entitlement for disadvantaged 2 year olds will add a new pressure on 
existing childcare places. The need to secure sufficient childcare places for disadvantaged two 
year olds will become part of the Local Authority’s statutory duties from September 2013.  It 
has been identified that there will be a predicted shortfall of approximately 350 places in 2013 
and a further 1350 from 2014 when the offer is extended to 40 % of all eligible two year olds 
in Plymouth.  
 

3.3.4 Children in lone parent households are more likely to be in poverty than those in two parent 
households, accounting for 70% of all child poverty households. Strategies to tackle child 
poverty will need to take account of this group, for example supporting adequate childcare 
options and flexibility for those who wish to work. 

 
3.3.5 The areas of greatest concern within Plymouth are the lower levels of accessibility of city 

residents who can reach key employment areas of Belliver, Estover and Langage. Those 
residents living in the most deprived areas will find it takes more than 30 minutes with their 
journey often requiring a change of bus to reach these areas. Those who are employed in 
shift work with early morning starts or late night finishes are more disadvantaged as bus 
services are fewer and further between at these times.  A triangulation of further research 
and planning is required to better understand the links between, but not limited to areas of 
employment and training, child care provision and public transport routes. 
 

3.3.6 While it has reduced in recent years, the significant gap in educational attainment at all levels, 
from early years through to post 16 education between children and young people in the 
least and most deprived areas of Plymouth contributes to an on-going cycle of poverty within 
families. It is essential that continued efforts both inside and outside the school environment 
are targeted towards children from the most deprived areas. Additional resources such as 

Page 108



Child Poverty Needs Assessment 2012 Page 73 
 

the Pupil Premium should be used to aid this process in collaboration with services that work 
alongside families in recognition of the importance of family life and relationships to enhance 
the learning experience of children and young people. 

 
3.4 Factors that indirectly influence families’ ability to enter and sustain 
well paid employment and escape poverty now and in the future 
 
3.4.1 Children living in poorer households are much more likely to face multiple family based issues 

both as a cause and as a result of poverty. There is a clear need for targeted, joined up 
support to be provided to these families but it is essential that such support be based on the 
needs of the family as a whole rather than the individual members in isolation of each other. 
Ease of access to such support will be critical to what is often a disenfranchised and isolated 
group of families. 
 

3.4.2 Key areas to be addressed should include parental and child emotional wellbeing and mental 
health, domestic abuse, worklessness and skills, along with healthy lifestyle issues including 
alcohol misuse and smoking. The need to enable aspirations within such families will also play 
a key part in improving outcomes for these children. The current programme for prevention 
and early intervention addresses many of these concerns but service provision must not be 
limited to children and young people focused services only but should extend to services for 
adults, including health, as well as services aimed at improving housing, reducing worklessness 
and building adult skills. A real challenge in the current economic climate will be how to 
provide targeted support to those families at risk of poverty, who so often miss out on 
services and support that are diverted to meet more complex needs. 
 

3.4.3 There are profound and well established health inequalities across Plymouth. Health issues of 
concern with regards to children’s outcomes include teenage pregnancy, low birth weight, 
breastfeeding, childhood obesity, smoking and mental health, all of which correlate directly 
with areas of highest deprivation.  
 

3.4.4 While interventions that target individual lifestyle behaviours can have limited impact, it is 
essential to also look at improving health status by addressing the social determinants of 
health, or the conditions in which people are born, grow, live, work and age. Using this 
approach, the health status of children and parents can be improved through factors such as 
education, employment, working conditions, housing along with good quality health care 
services.  
 

3.4.5 There are serious concerns about the numbers of families with children who are living in 
non- decent private sector housing. While not all will be considered as living in poverty, the 
waiting list for social housing remains substantial and with limited data available, assumptions 
must be made that a large proportion are living in the private rented sector. This may also 
account for the constant numbers of families presenting as homeless each month. That the 
majority of old housing stock in many deprived areas is social housing gives some level of 
assurance that these homes are better maintained.  
 

3.4.6 However, the issue of overcrowding cannot be resolved without an increased number of new 
and affordable homes being built that are able to house larger families in particular. However, 
the obstacles facing low income families from buying their own home will not be overcome in 

Page 109



Child Poverty Needs Assessment 2012 Page 74 
 

the current climate and innovative ways to enable poorer families to live in decent houses will 
need to be found in the short and long term. 

  

Page 110



Child Poverty Needs Assessment 2012 Page 75 
 

Appendix 1: Child Poverty Geographical Reference Map 

 
 

P
age 111



Child Poverty Needs Assessment 2012 Page 76 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

  

P
age 112



Child Poverty Needs Assessment 2012 Page 77 
 

 

  

P
age 113



Child Poverty Needs Assessment 2012 Page 78 
 

Appendix III - Child Poverty Indicators - Neighbourhood Checklist 

  

P
age 114



Child Poverty Needs Assessment 2012 Page 79 
 

  P
age 115



Child Poverty Needs Assessment 2012 Page 80 
 

  

P
age 116



Child Poverty Needs Assessment 2012 Page 81 
 

  

P
age 117



Child Poverty Needs Assessment 2012 Page 82 
 

  

P
age 118



Child Poverty Needs Assessment 2012 Page 83 
 

 

P
age 119



Page 120

This page is intentionally left blank



 

Version 2 5th November 2012  Not protectively marked  

CHILD POVERTY 
Engagement, consultation and communications plan

Appendix 3 
 

1. INTRODUCTION 
1.1 Involving and consulting with the community is key to preparing and delivering an effective 

Child Poverty Strategy and Action Plan.   

 

2. AIMS AND OBJECTIVES 
2.1  This communications and consultation plan sets out the approach for consulting and 

engaging key stakeholders in the development and delivery of the Strategy and Action Plan. 

2.2  The key aims of the consultation will be to: 

• Raise the profile of child poverty in the city through effective communication and 
engagement, thereby ensuring our approach to tackling child poverty is publicised, 
open and transparent. 

• Ensure that the views of key stakeholders, including members of the public are taken 
into account as part of the developing the Child Poverty Strategy and Action Plan. 

• Ensure buy-in from key stakeholders and local communities to enable delivery of the 
Child Poverty Strategy and accompanying Action Plan. 

2.3  To achieve these aims, the consultation will: 

• Work with Elected Members and key stakeholders to agree the strategic vision and 
objectives for the Child Poverty Strategy. 

• Develop a detailed child poverty action plan based on full involvement and input from 
the local community and other key stakeholders. 

• Manage consultation resources efficiently by targeting the engagement activities at the 
right people, at the right time and where their comments will be most helpful. 

• Ensure that a wide range of people have the opportunity to get involved and are able 
to put forward their views and that these views are incorporated in so far as is 
practical and appropriate to do so. 

• Ensure that the consultation and community engagement activities and materials are 
fully accessible. 

• Ensure that feedback is provided in an effective way to those who participated. 
  

Page 121



 

2 

 

3. OUTCOMES 
3.1  It is intended that the communication and consultation with all stakeholders will bring 

about the following: 

• A local Child Poverty Strategy and Action Plan which sets out the measures that 
contributing partners will undertake as part of a coordinated approach to reduce and 
mitigate the causes and effects of child poverty. 

• A local Child Poverty Strategy and Action Plan which is widely supported by all 
stakeholders as the city’s approach to tackle this issue. 

• Acknowledgement and reinforcement of existing and upcoming plans and activities that 
address Child Poverty as part of the overall Action Plan. 

• Identification of gaps in service provision and/or areas of underperformance along with 
measures to address these. 

• A wide understanding of what Child Poverty is, how it affects families and what its 
causal factors are. 

 

4. KEY STAKEHOLDERS 
4.1  A full and inclusive consultation will take place throughout December 2012 and January 

2013.  In order to achieve the outcomes highlighted above a wide range of stakeholders 
will be invited to take part in the consultation exercise; a detailed list of stakeholders has 
been identified. This list overleaf provides an overview of these key stakeholder groups: 

  

Page 122



 

3 

 

Stakeholder/Organisation Interest 

Plymouth City Council – CMT/SMT Strategic leads in delivery of parts of the Strategy 

Plymouth City Council – Identified officers • Past involvement or respondents to 
development of the Needs Assessment or 
the kick start.   

• Potential involvement in delivery of parts of 
the Strategy or Action Plan. 

Members Democratically elected representatives of the city 
and its wards 

MPs Democratically elected representatives of city’s 
constituencies 

Strategic Partnerships: 
• Children’s Trust Executive 
• Safe and Strong / Community Safety 

Partnership 
• Culture Board 
• Growth Board 
• Health & Wellbeing Board 
• Plymouth Better Together 
• Plymouth Safeguarding Children’s Board 
• Regional partnerships e.g. Local Economic 

Partnership 

While some of these partnership groups have a 
greater interest than others in child poverty. 
Child poverty is a cross-cutting issue where all 
partners should be involved and have the 
opportunity to influence the strategy and action 
plan 

Voluntary & Community Sector; including CAB, 
debt advice, credit unions 

Organisations and groups based locally in the 
community and who work directly with families 
or individuals affected by child poverty and other 
issues that lead to child poverty. 

Educational establishments and organisations; head 
teachers, schools, early years settings 

Working with children and young people to 
support their educational needs 

Social care support and advice organisations Working with families including those affected by 
child poverty 

Housing associations Provide housing, support and advice to families 
and individuals in greatest need 

Youth Parliament/Council Local voice for young people in how services are 
delivered 

Health  Families affected by child poverty often have the 
greatest health needs 

Police, Probation & Fire & Rescue Service Community Safety, youth offending and 
diversionary youth activity 

Business and employment; private sector, 
Jobcentre Plus, Careers South West 

Larger sized employers within the city along with 
business support, apprenticeships, employment 
support and business start-ups can all factor in 
work to address child poverty. 

Utility companies Families affected by child poverty may often 
struggle to pay bills such as utility bills.  Support 
or advice from utility companies may ease the 

Page 123



 

4 

 

burden. 

Faith and other hard to reach groups Part of the community support network and 
community hubs. 

Armed forces / community covenant A key employer and part of the city’s heritage. 

PCC staff in general PCC not included in the list of those officers 
specifically invited to comment will still be able to 
comment on the strategy.  Officers delivering 
front line services will likely have views about the 
Strategy and its approach. 

Public Child poverty is everyone’s business.  All 
members of the public are invited to comment 
about the Strategy. 

 

5. HOW WE WILL CONSULT  
5.1  To ensure that the consultation is as wide and inclusive as possible a variety of methods 

and media will be used to capture stakeholder viewpoints and their contribution to 
addressing child poverty. 

5.2  The consultation will seek to obtain views and opinions about the emerging priorities and 
outcomes i.e. are they fit for purpose, what is missing, what needs to changed, are they 
realistic and achievable?  It will also ask contributing partners and organisations to state 
what actions and activities they will be undertaking to address child poverty. 

5.3  For the wider public, their opinions are also sought on whether the proposed Strategy 
will make a difference to those most at risk from child poverty. 

5.4  To enable this, we will use a number of methods for the public and partners to feedback 
their comments and contribute their views.  These include: 
• Online consultation: setting up a form which all stakeholders can complete online with 

their comments on the Strategy and Action Plan sat alongside the ability to join a Child 
Poverty Forum.   

• Child Poverty inbox: as an alternative to the online portal, respondents may choose to 
submit their comments and supporting activities via email 

• Letter: not all stakeholders will have access to a pc or the internet, therefore 
comments may be sent via letter to the PPP office within the Chief Executive’s 
department. 

• Social Media: including Twitter and Facebook. 
 

  

Page 124



 

5 

 

6. COMMUNICATION AND FEEDBACK 

6.1  The online consultation and dedicated webpage will be the primary tool for consultation, 
communication and feeding back information and progress to stakeholders throughout the 
development of the strategy and action plan. 

6.2  To publicise the consultation and raise awareness of how to take part, it is intended to do 
the following within the resources available and timescales: 

• Letter/email – inviting identified stakeholders to take part in the consultation.  This 
group will include those people and organisations that have already fed their comments 
into the development of the needs assessment or attended the kick start launch.  They 
will also include officers and leads who will have a strategic or operational role in 
activities which will help to address child poverty. They will be invited to provide their 
views on the draft Strategy and their organisations contribution to the Action Plan. 

• Attendance at identified partnership meetings – informing those partnerships about the 
consultation and inviting their members to take part. 

• Press releases – to inform the wider public about the consultation and inviting them to 
take part.  This will include local newspapers as well as our pages on Twitter and 
Facebook to inform the wider public about the consultation and inviting them to take 
part. 

• Direct engagement with the public (face to face) 

• Displays/exhibitions – set up in Civic offices and public settings – to inform the wider 
public about the consultation and inviting them to take part. 

• PCC website/Staffroom/Schoolroom – to inform all PCC staff and the wider public 
about the consultation and inviting them to take part. 

• Posters/leaflets – distributed to Civic offices, libraries, housing offices – to inform the 
wider public about the consultation and inviting them to take part. 

• Newsletter articles – public, health, schools, voluntary and community sector journals 
may be used to insert articles promoting the consultation and inviting readers to take 
part. 

• Neighbourhood meetings – information including posters and leaflets will be shared 
with NLOs whose neighbourhood meetings coincide with the consultation period.  
This can be shared with attendees of the meeting to encourage them to take part. 

• Schools/nurseries/governors/head teacher associations – information will be sent to 
key contacts to distribute on our behalf to all schools, nurseries and educational 
establishments. 

• Voluntary and community sector – information will be sent to key contacts to 
distribute to voluntary and community groups on our behalf. 

6.3  Consistent branding will be used throughout the consultation and the eventual strategy in 
order to provide a consistent message. 

  

Page 125



 

6 

 

7. KEY MILESTONES 
 

Milestone Date 

Draft strategy to Cabinet to initiate 
consultation 

11th December 2012 

Launch of consultation  12th December 2012 

Consultation deadline reminder 14th January 2013 

Final strategy and action plan to Cabinet  2nd April 2013 

Final strategy and action plan to Full 
Council 

22nd April 2013 

 

8. RISK MANAGEMENT 
 

Risk Description Likelihood Impact Risk Rating  Mitigation 

Low response by 
stakeholders to 
consultation 

3 5 15 Use wide variety of methods to 
consult with stakeholders.  
Allow time in the plan for 
frequent reminders / additional 
consultation events to be 
carried out. 

Negative response 
to Strategy by 
press which could 
bias stakeholder 
response 

3 4 12 Manage media relations to 
ensure a positive message is 
promoted.   

Negative response 
to Strategy by 
stakeholders 

3 3 9 Key stakeholders have already 
been involved in the 
development of the needs 
assessment. 

 

9. EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
9.1  An Equality Impact Assessment will also be carried out to identify if the strategy or action 

plan will have any negative impact on any of the protected characteristics, if this is found 
to be the case then further work will need to be carried out to mitigate as far as possible 
the issues identified. The assessment will take place once the documents have been 
published for public consultation. 

 

 

Page 126



 

Version 1, 23rd October 2012 Not protectively marked  

FINANCE MONTHLY 
REPORT – CONTENT AND 
TIMETABLE 

 

1. INTRODUCTION 
1.1 Prior to financial year 2011/12, finance and performance departments produced a bi-monthly 

Joint Finance and Performance Report.  

1.2 This report was approved by CMT and then Cabinet, with Council approval where 
appropriate (for new capital programme schemes for example). 

1.3 From financial year 2011/12 the reporting cycle became a full Joint Performance and Finance 
Report (Capital and Revenue) produced for each quarter. This report was approved by CMT 
and then Cabinet, with Council approval where appropriate. 

1.4 To supplement these public reports, a monthly (internal) monitoring statement was 
presented to CMT. This report gave the headlines for finance, performance and HR. 

1.5 The New Administration has advised Full Council that a monthly stand-alone finance 
statement will be available for the Overview and Scrutiny Management Board, following 
discussion at CMT and with Cabinet members.  

 

2 CURRENT REPORTING CONTEXT 
2.1 Finance together with Policy, Performance and Partnership colleagues have worked very 

closely to ensure the current quarterly Joint Performance & Finance (Capital and Revenue) 
Monitoring Report reflects the “joined up” working of the two departments. 

2.2 The report recognises the benefit of monitoring both functions in the same report, as both 
have an impact on each other. 

2.3 A detailed timetable has been established which allows for full debate of each area of the 
report at each relevant DMT, prior to sign off by CMT. These sessions need to continue, 
with the existing DMT reports. 

2.4 This report was approved by CMT and then Cabinet, with Council approval where 
appropriate (for new capital programme schemes for example). 

2.5 Starting with the first report under the New Administration, covering the quarter to June 
2012, the contents of the report have been slimmed down. This is to make it more reader-
friendly, and more of a decision making document. 

2.6 Starting with the second report for 2012/13, covering the quarter to September 2012, the 
report will be a Finance (Capital and Revenue) Monitoring Report only. Performance will not 
be included in this report. 

2.7 The full Joint Performance and Finance (Capital and Revenue) Monitoring Report will be 
produced twice per year. It is proposed this will be the quarter ending December, to feed 
into the January budget scrutiny sessions, and the quarter ending June which will allow the 
new financial year targets to have bedded in.   

 

Agenda Item 11Page 127



 

 

3 NEW REPORTING PROCESS 
3.1 DMT reports, covering finance, performance and HR will continue to be produced. 

3.2 The formal quarterly reports will now consist of two joint performance and finance, and two 
stand-alone finance reports. 

3.3 As now, these reports will be signed off by Cabinet and Council as required. 

3.4 In addition, Finance will produce a monthly stand-alone high level report. It will cover the 
monitoring position by directorate; a summary of delivery plan progress; a summary of the 
capital programme. 

3.5 The report will set out the financial position and the management actions to address any 
overspends and non-delivery against budget delivery plans. 

3.6 It will be produced for sign off by CMT at the meeting as near to the 15th of the following 
month as possible. The earliest CMT date will be 13th of any month. 

3.7 With CMT sign off, the report will then be sent by email to cabinet members the same day. 
Where the CMT date coincides with a briefing for Cabinet Members, the report will be 
tabled and discussed as required. 

3.8 The report will then be published with the Overview and Scrutiny Management Board for 
consideration at their meetings which are scheduled for dates around the middle of the 
following month. 

3.9 As the report is for noting only, with no decisions required, the OSMB agenda pack will be 
used to make the report public. 

3.10 Where a monthly report is produced in tandem with a full quarterly report, the monthly 
report will not be published to OSMB, as the full report will be. 

3.11 The intention is that this new report does not require additional input from finance, but uses 
information that is already available. 

3.12 CMT must adopt the proposed timetable, and work with their finance leads to ensure DMT 
and portfolio holders are able to approve the wording for any of their actions ahead of 
publication to CMT. 

3.13 Where there is no briefing for Cabinet Members to coincide with the CMT sign off date, the 
report will be sent by email to Cabinet Members that day, ahead of their next scheduled 
meeting. 

3.14 The lead Finance Officer will need to schedule review meetings with ADs before the DMT 
meetings to allow time to prepare the document for DMT discussion. 

3.15 These meetings need to be diarised and substitutes found when key personnel are not 
available. 

3.16 The reporting timetable is as follows. I have included the key dates for the full quarterly 
reports as a guide. 

3.17 The March 13 monthly report is scheduled later in the month than the other monthly 
reports as it is the indicative outturn position for the year. 

3.18 The full March quarter report, the outturn report, is also shown as an indicative date at this 
stage as it is the final outturn position. 

 

 

 

Page 128



 

 

 

 

  
REPORT 
PERIOD 

AD review 
with Lead 
Finance 
Officer 

DMT 
Review 

Final 
Report 
Complete 

Head of 
Finance Sign 
Off / Publish to 

CMT 

CMT 
Sign Off 

Cabinet 
Planning OSMB 

 Mon Wed Thurs Fri Tue Tue Wed 

Oct 12 5th Nov 7th Nov 8th Nov 9th Nov 13th Nov 20th Nov 12th Dec 

Nov 12 10th Dec 12th Dec 13th Dec 14th Dec 18th Dec 18th Dec 30th Jan 

Dec 12 7th Jan 9th Jan 10th Jan 11th Jan 15th Jan 22nd Jan N/A 

Dec 12 
1/4ly 

report 
   25th Jan 29th Jan 29th Jan Cabinet 12th 

Feb 

Jan 13 11th Feb 13th Feb 14th Feb 15th Feb 19th Feb 19th Feb 13th Mar 

Feb 13 11th Mar 13th Mar 14th Mar 15th Mar 19th Mar 19th Mar 27th Mar 

Mar 13 15th Apr 17th Apr 18th Apr 26th Apr 30th Apr 14th May N/A 

Mar 13 
1/4ly 

report 
   7th Jun 11th Jun 18th Jun Cabinet 2nd 

Jul 

 

Page 129



Page 130

This page is intentionally left blank



 

CITY OF PLYMOUTH 
  
Subject: Finance – Capital and Revenue Monitoring Report (including 

additions to the capital programme to be approved at 

Council) 

Committee:    Cabinet 

Date:    13 November 2012 

Cabinet Member: Councillor Lowry 

CMT Member:   CMT 

Author: David Northey, Head of Finance 

  

Contact:    Tel:  01752 305428 
    e-mail: david.northey@plymouth.gov.uk 

Ref:    fin/ 

Key Decision:   No 

Part: I    
 
Purpose of the Report: 
  
This report is the second quarterly monitoring report for 2012/13 and outlines the finance 
monitoring position of the Council as at the end of September 2012.  
 
The primary purpose of this report is to detail how the Council is delivering against its financial 
measures using its capital and revenue resources, and to approve relevant revenue and capital 
budget variations and virements, and the inclusion of new schemes to the capital programme 
where required. 
 
The estimated revenue overspend is now showing as £3.221m, an increase of £1.432m in this 
quarter. The current estimated position shows an overspend of £3.215m across the People 
Directorate; an overspend of £0.863m in the Place Directorate; an overspend of £0.253m across 
the Corporate Services Directorate. These overspends are offset in part by a small saving within 
the Chief Executive Office of £0.010m and £1.1m of savings from Corporate Items. Full details 
are contained within the report.  
 
The main reasons for the overspend within the People Directorate are pressures totalling 
£3.151m in Adult Social Care (ASC) linked to demographic changes, increased demand for 
supported living and reduced income from a number of sources. Plymouth is not alone in facing 
these additional budget pressures. Adult Social Care services across the country are facing 
severe funding shortages as demand increases due to the aging population, with people living 
longer with disabilities or illness. 
 
Recommendations within this report include further actions to be taken by Directors and 
Portfolio Holders to address overspends within their areas, together with initiatives engaging all 
staff across all areas to reduce the projected overspend and try to deliver a balanced budget 
position by the end of March.    
 
In line with their manifesto, the New Administration continues to be ambitious for the 
investment and growth of the city of Plymouth, with the capital programme for the current year 

Agenda Item 12Page 131



 

standing at over £60m, rising to £132m by 2015/16. There are a number of new capital schemes 
detailed in this report either for noting or approval. These include a solar panel scheme to 
improve energy efficiency of council buildings, investment in buildings to increase capacity needed 
for 2 year old nursery places, investment in increased primary school places (funding from 
Government’s free school allocation) and investment in council vehicles and plant to improve 
service and reduce costs.  
 
Finance summary - Revenue 
 
The Council is currently forecasting a revenue over spend at year end of £3.221m against a net 
revenue budget of £203.766m. This equates to a net spend of £206.987m which is a variance of 
1.6%. This includes corrective actions where identified to date, officers are still tasked with 
working with the relevant portfolio holders to identify further options for delivering a balanced 
budget 
 
Table 1 End of year revenue forecast 
 
 Latest 

Approved 
Budget £000 

 
Forecast Outturn 

£000 

 
Variance 
 £000 

Total General Fund Budget 203,766 206,987 3,221 

 
Finance summary – Revenue Delivery Plans 
 
Work continues to progress the revenue delivery plans set out for 2012/13, with details within 
each directorate section of the report. The £3.221m forecast overspend includes recognition 
that at this stage there are some delivery plans (RAG rated red in the delivery plan sections) that 
are unlikely to be achieved.  
 
Finance summary - Capital 
 
In the budget report taken to full Council in Feb 2012, the 2012/13 Capital Programme stood at 
£51.121m.  Following approval of new schemes, re-profiling and variations, the capital 
programme for 2012/13 was £60.481m following September Council. The latest forecast at the 
end of September 2012, is now £57.390m, which assumes approval of the recommendations for 
new schemes etc on this report and considered in other reports on the 13 November Cabinet 
agenda. Full details are contained in Appendix B.  Cabinet will be asked to recommend to Full 
Council the new capital schemes over £0.500m for investment as detailed in Table 14 amounting 
to £11.772m (in the period 2012/13 – 2015/16) 
      
 
Corporate Plan 2012-2015:   
 
This quarterly report is fundamentally linked to delivering the priorities within the Council’s 
Corporate Plan.  Allocating limited resources to key priorities will maximise the benefits to the 
residents of Plymouth. 
          
 
 
 
 
 

Page 132



 

 
 
Implications for Medium Term Financial Plan and Resource Implications:     
Including finance, human, IT and land 
 
Robust and accurate financial monitoring underpins the Council’s Medium Term Financial Plan. 
The Council’s Medium Term Financial Forecast is updated regularly based on on-going 
monitoring information. 
   
 
 
Other Implications: e.g. Child Poverty, Community Safety, Health and Safety, Risk 
Management and Equality, Diversity and Community Cohesion: 
 
 
The reducing revenue and capital resources across the public sector has been identified as a key 
risk within our Strategic Risk register. Equality Impact Assessments have been undertaken on the 
Delivery Plans that underpin the 2012/13 budget. 
 

 
 
Recommendations & Reasons for recommended action: 
 
That Cabinet:- 
 

1. Note the forecasted overspend for the year against budget of £3.221m, and ensure 
Portfolio Holders and Officers continue to work closely together to take corrective 
action to deliver a balanced budget position by March. 
 

2. Note that, in light of the emerging pressure in ASC, the new Chief Executive has 
commissioned a full review of all demographic pressures across the council. 
 

3. Approve the revenue budget virements as detailed in table 11 of the report. 
 

4. Approve the re-profiling and variations (reductions) of (£5.097m) in 2012/13 and £3.422m 
for future years to capital spend as detailed in Appendix B. 

 
5. Recommend to Full Council the new capital schemes over £0.500m for investment as 

detailed in Table 14 amounting to £11.772m. 

 
Alternative options considered and reasons for recommended action: 
 
Actions are recommended in response to specific variances in finances identifed throughout the 
report. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 133



 

 
 
Background papers: 
 
 

• 2012 Plymouth City Council Corporate Plan 
http://www.plymouth.gov.uk/corporate_plan.pdf 

• 2012/13 Budget Setting papers published in December 2011 
http://www.plymouth.gov.uk/mgInternet/documents/s33811/2012.13%20Indicative%20Bud
get%20Revenue%20and%20Capital%20allocated%20to%20corporate%20priorities.pdf 

• 2012/13 Revenue & Capital Budget – February 2012 
http://www.plymouth.gov.uk/mgInternet/documents/s36493/Updated%20report%20on%2
0Corporate%20Plan%202012-
15,%20revenue%20and%20capital%20budget%202012.13%20and%20proposed%20Council
%20tax%20levels.pdf 

• 1st Quarter Joint Performance and Finance Report – September 2012 
http://www.plymouth.gov.uk/mgInternet/documents/s41185/CABINET%20MINUTE%2060
%20OF%2011%20SEPTEMBER%202012.pdf 

 
 

 
Sign off:   

 
Fin MC121

3.005 
 

Leg 
 

16007/ 
DVS 

HR n/a Corp 
Prop 

n/a IT n/a Strat 
Proc 

n/a 

Originating SMT Member M Coe 

Page 134



 

 
SECTION A – REVENUE MONITORING 

 
1. General Fund Revenue Budget  

 
1.1 Council approved a net revenue budget of £203.766m for 2012/13 at its meeting on 27 

February 2012. At the end of the second quarter, to the end of September 2012, we are 
reporting an over spend of £3.221m. Table 2 below shows the forecast year end position 
across directorates.  

 
 Table 2 End of year revenue forecasts 
 
 

DIRECTORATE 

Council 
Approved 
Budget Feb 

'12 

Budget 
Virements                  

Latest 
Approved 
Budget            

Forecast 
Outturn 

Monitoring 
Variation to 
30 September 

2012         
  £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

                            
PEOPLE 122,620 1,543 124,162 127,377 3,215 

                                
PLACE 42,460 606 43,066 43,929 863 

                       
CORPORATE SERVICES 30,296 41 30,337 30,590 253 
   CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 

OFFICE 1,901 514 2,415 2,405 (10) 
                         

CORPORATE ITEMS 6,489 (2,704) 3,786 2,686 (1,100) 
TOTAL NET 
BUDGET 203,766 0 203,766 206,987 3,221 

 
 
 
1.2  Further details of the variations are outlined in the individual Directors reports in Section 

B of this report.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1.3 Delivery Plans 
 

In setting the budget for 2012/13, departmental delivery plans were agreed in order to 
achieve a balanced budget. Overall, progress has been made across the majority of these 
plans. The Red / Amber / Green (RAG) rating applied in this report have been robustly 
challenged. 
 

Recommendation 
 
1. Cabinet note the forecasted overspend for the year against budget of £3.221m,  

and ensure Portfolio Holders and Officers continue to work closely together to 
take corrective action to deliver a balanced budget position. 

 

Page 135



 

Inevitably, throughout the year, original Delivery Plans will change due to changes in 
circumstances. Where such variations occur, initially it is the responsibility of the 
sponsoring department to develop and implement alternative budget delivery plans and 
actions. Only where there is no planned remedial action to address a non performing 
delivery plan will a forecasted overspend be reported.  
 
Major variations to delivery plans will be reported within individual departmental sections. 
It is imperative that Cabinet Members continue to challenge all Directors. 

 
2. People Directorate  
 
2.1   Finance General Fund Revenue Forecast is an overspend £3.215m   
 

  Responsible Officers: Maggie Carter / Pam Marsden / John Searson / Dave 
Simpkins / Stuart Palmer / Tony Hopwood 

2.2 The revenue position is shown in the table below with the detail shown in Appendix A. 
Headline explanations then follow. The current year end forecast overspend is £3.215m 
(2.6%) 

 

Table 3 End of year revenue forecasts by department 

 

Service 

Latest 
Approved 
Budget 

Forecast 
Year End 
Position 

Variation at 
Sept 2012 

£000 £000 £000 
Children’s Social Care 27,003 27,332 0,329 
Joint Commissioning  & Adult 
Health and Social Care 67,874 71,025 3,151 
Education, Learning & Family 
Support 15,942 15,856 (86) 

Homes & Communities 9,602 9,423 (179) 

Programmes Director Projects 3,394 3,394 - 

Management and Support 347 347 - 

Total 124,162 127,377 3,215 

 

2.3 Children’s Social Care 

 Children’s Social Care is projecting a year end adverse variation of £0.329m. The Service 
continues to drive down the projected overspend with an improved variation of 
(£0.191m) in the quarter. A full review of all expenditure has taken place by the Acting 
Assistant Director in order to drive out savings. The current overspend on Independent 
Sector Placements is being offset by savings within the In-House Foster Care Service, the 
increased placement cost of £0.614m in the quarter is due to the complexity of the 
specific young people placed. Delivery Plans are in place to reduce the Children in Care 
Service dependency on the Independent Sector as the number of In-House carers grows.  

Delivery Plans are under constant review and the Division has achieved £0.820m of the 
£1.284m target within this quarter, with plans in place for the remaining £0.464m to be 
realised by year end. 

 

Page 136



 

2.4 Joint Commissioning & Adult Health and Social Care 

The department is divided into 3 distinct areas:   

§ Strategic Commissioning and contracting of a wide range of universal services, 
including information, advice, advocacy, early intervention and prevention for people 
who use services and their carers, and for residential care and housing related 
support. 

§ Direct service provision for vulnerable people eligible for Council support. 

§ Assessment and Care Management including statutory functions carried out through 
assessment and support planning services for individuals 

 

The transformation programme covers everything we do and 2012/13 is a critical stage of 
implementation and is the transition year from the old system to the new operating 
model. The Assessment and Care Management Service completed the full implementation 
of the new personalised operating system in July which has involved a complete 
management restructure, introduction of a new IT system including the “paperless” office 
and mobile working for all front line staff; plus a new, free, up-front offer for all clients of 
a short term period of reablement to delay or avoid entry into long term care.  The new 
systems offers personal budgets for all people eligible for on- going Council support.   

The service continues to operate with an underlying level of risk around potential service 
pressures, linked to demographic and demand pressures plus the loss of national funding. 
Implementation of the new care management system is on track and we will continue to 
shift commissioned services to personal budgets, allocating resources based on needs not 
the cost of services. However, there are still pressures in the system linked to 
demographic changes, increased demand for supported living and reduces income from a 
number of sources.  

2.5 The mid-year point was always going to be critical in determining the likely year end 
position and based on the current expenditure trends it is now forecast for an overspend 
of £3.151m in the current year. The direction of travel of increasing personal budgets and 
reducing residential and nursing costs continues. In addition, further reviews of service 
spending will continue in order to limit the impact of any further financial pressure within 
the year.    

 

2.6 Education, Learning and Family Support 

Education, Learning and Family Support is projecting a year end favourable variance of 
£0.087m. Pressures identified on the catering budget in relation to the increased cost and 
usage of food has been offset by additional vacancy savings and the maximisation of grants.  

 

2.7 Homes & Communities 

Homes & Communities reported quarterly underspend (£0.179m). We will continue to 
seek further efficiencies through to the end of the year, however some budgets i.e. 
homelessness temporary accommodation costs are volatile but remain under scrutiny.   

Delivery Plans have been put in place in order achieve the target of £0.067m.  Close 
monitoring of the high risk areas such as Bed & Breakfast payments and changes to 
income levels from Service Level Agreements to spot purchasing arrangements within the 
‘Family Intervention Service’.  

 

 

Page 137



 

2.8 Programme Director Projects and Management & Support  

 There are no financial variations to report.  

  

2.9 Delivery Plans 

  
The People Directorate Delivery Plans total £7.044m for 2012/13. The following table 
shows the summary position by Red Amber and Green rating (RAG).   

 
 
Table 4 People Directorate Delivery Plans 2012/13 
 
 

  £000 £000 000 £000 

Ro Service w Labels RED AMBER GREEN Grand 
Total 

Adult Health & Social Care 3,151  1,450 4,601 

Children Social Care  237 227 820 1,284 

Education, Learning & Family Support   125 868 993 
Homes & Communities - Safer 
Communities  27 27 

Homes & Communities - Strategic 
Housing  39 39 

Other 100 100 

Grand Total 3,488 352 3,204 7,044 
 
 
2.10 The value of the red delivery plans totalling £3.488m, shown in the table, has now been 

included in the overall monitoring position for the directorate of £3.215m.  
 

2.11 The Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) position is reported to the Schools Forum each time 
that they meet. The latest forecast shows a projected monitoring underspend of £0.597m 
for DSG funded activities. The projected underspend can be broken down into £0.469m 
on Direct School Expenditure and £0.128m on Central Expenditure.  

 

2.12 Risks and issues 

 
1. Adult Social Care demographics, high cost packages and the increasing cost of care within 

the Nursing and Residential Sectors 
2. Transformation of Adult Social Care operating model in a transitional year which will 

need careful financial management 
3. Timing of redundancies relating to the delegation of funding to schools and the potential 

discontinuation of some services 
4. Looked after children numbers increasing could result in higher costs of care if the early 

intervention and prevention strategy does not deliver change 
 
 
 

Page 138



 

5. Home Office transfer of financial responsibility for young offenders remanded to the local 
authority will have an impact on resources particularly around social worker and 
independent reviewing officer time. 

6. Increasing cost pressures based on increasing demand and volume of people who are at 
risk of homeless or have significant housing needs  

7. Utility costs relating to the Life Centre may be more than budgeted for and under the 
Leisure Management contract the Council would need to review performance. 

8. Impact of Welfare reform on the ability to place homeless families is already starting to 
occur  

9. Grants within the department need careful management to plan for potential reductions 
in future government spending reviews  

 
2.13 Medium Term Issues 
 

1. Reducing resources against increasing expectations, demands and costs 
2. Changes to schools formula funding and the delegation of centrally held resources to 

schools 
3. The impact of Welfare reform 
4. Level of grants and other sources of funding available 
5. The ability to transform services 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.  Place Directorate 
 
3.1      Finance General Fund Revenue Forecast is an overspend £0.863m   
 

  Responsible Officers: Jayne Donovan / David Draffan / Paul Barnard / Clive 
Perkin 

 
3.2 This report sets out the Finance position for the Place Directorate, forecasting the year 

end position as at September 2012. 
 
3.3  The revenue position is shown in the table below with the current year end forecast of 

£0.863m overspend (2.0% of net budget) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Recommendation 
 
2. Note that, in light of the emerging pressure in ASC, the new Chief Executive has   

commissioned a full review of all demographic pressures across the council. 
 

Page 139



 

 

Table 5 End of year revenue forecasts by department 

 

Service 

Latest 
Approved 
Budget 

Forecast 
Year End 
Position 

Variation at 
Sept 2012 

£000 £000 £000 
Economic Development 2,266 2,368 102 

Planning 1,752 1,860 108 

Transport & Infrastructure 14,079 14,379 300 

Environmental Services 24,812 25,095 283 

Strategic Waste 305 275 (30) 

Business Support (626) (626) - 

Management and Support 578 578 - 

Place Budget Savings (100) - 100 

Total 43,066 43,929 863 

 

3.4 Economic Development - £0.102m adverse variation 

 
 Commercial rent income has reduced, due to vacating tenants and empty properties 
around city centre shops (Includes city centre ground rent pressures). There are further 
pressures from costs associated with Commercial Activities at Derriford with various 
legal and professional fees relating to this work. Museums have not reported any major 
issues and are currently working to budget. 

 

3.5 Planning - £0.108m adverse variation 
 
About £0.150m relates to professional and legal costs associated with Public Inquiries.  In 
addition, a shortfall of fees against budget of about £0.115m is currently projected given 
the continuation of the adverse economic climate, the impact of which is reduced by 
projected savings elsewhere. However favourable variations in relation to salaries and 
general office costs have been also achieved through vacancy savings and efficiencies 
which offset some of the above pressures. 
 

3.6 Transport & Infrastructure - £0.300m adverse variation 

The first six months has seen a number of increasing budget pressures, which include 
£0.150m from increased highway maintenance on pot hole repairs (additional DfT monies 
not forthcoming), £0.150m from rising street lighting energy costs, The period has also 
seen a drop in anticipated income from Parking of £0.100m due to poor economic 
climate and bad weather, although this is being offset from road safety income. The 
department is projecting other potential risks that are currently being reviewed to analyse 
the value of this impact. 

 

 

Page 140



 

3.7 Environmental Services - £0.283m adverse variation 

There is a £0.280m reported pressure from a reduction in income from recycling 
materials due to a considerable fall in market rates in the last month, and it is not clear 
how long this will continue. There are further pressures in disposal costs due to 
increased tonnage. These pressures are being partly offset by staff vacancy savings. 

 

3.8 Delivery Plans 2012/13   
 

The Place Directorate Delivery Plan totals £1.4m for 2012/13. The following table shows 
the summary position by Red Amber and Green rating (RAG). 

 
Table 6 Place Directorate Delivery Plans 2012/13 

 
  
 £ 000's £ 000's £ 000's £ 000's 

R Service  RED AMBER GREEN Grand 
Total 

Transport & infrastructure   300 300 

Other 100 1,000 1,100 

Grand Total 100 0 1,300 1,400 
 

 
3.9 The following issues are assumed within the Delivery plan. 
 

• The £1.000m green rated delivery plans against other refers to the 
Accommodation Strategy Phase 1 that includes Civic Centre. The Introduction of 
Phase 2 has reduced part of the pressure from the delivery plan. The Council has 
set aside an accommodation reserve to cover maintenance issues around the Civic 
Centre and any pressures on the Accommodation Strategy project. This will need 
to be utilised to address at least some of this pressure. 

• The £0.100m red rated delivery plan refers to a new action to review Customer 
Contact Centre. 

 
3.10 Risks and Issues 

 
• The department is currently facing risks from achieving consistent levels of External 

Income from Car Parking, Planning Fee Income and commercial Rent. This is impacting on 
Service Delivery.  

 

• There are also pressures from the Public Enquiry linked to North West Quadrant. 
 

• Environmental Services are currently proposing replacement mini-bus replacements and 
any delay in this could have a consequential effect on the amount of savings anticipated to 
achieve service delivery plans for the current year.  
 

3.11 Medium Term Issues 
 

The economic climate provides continuing challenges to Income targets for the 
departments within Place, in order for it to achieve future commitments. Rising energy 
prices will continue to add pressures for street lighting, whilst premises costs continue to 
rise. Increasing waste disposal costs have been projected for the next few years as the 
cost of tonnage increases. 
 

Page 141



 

 
4. Corporate Services 

 
4.1      Finance General Fund Revenue Forecast is an overspend £0.253m   
 

  Responsible Officers: Malcolm Coe / Dave Saunders / Mark Grimley / Tim 
Howes 

 
4.2 This report sets out the Finance position for the Corporate Services Directorate, 

forecasting the year end position as at September 2012. 
 
4.3  The revenue position is shown in the table below with the current year end forecast of 

£0.253m overspend (0.8% of net budget) 
 

Table 7 End of year revenue forecasts by department 

 

Service 

Latest 
Approved 
Budget 

Forecast 
Year End 
Position 

Variation at 
September 

2012 
£000 £000 £000 

Finance, Efficiencies, Technology & 
Assets 18,931 18,781 (150) 

Democracy & Governance 5,078 5,124 46 

Customer Services 4,759 4,759 - 
Human Resources & 
Organisational Development 3,232 3.327 95 

Departmental Management 270 270 - 

Corporate Services Budget Savings (1,933) (1,670) 263 

Total 30,337 30,590 253 

 

4.4 Finance, Efficiencies, Technology & Assets 

Overall the department is forecasting an under spend against budget for the year, and 
actions will continue looking at delivering further savings.  

4.5 Democracy & Governance 

 Overall the department is within 1% tolerance level to achieve target budget. Various 
pressures have been offset by reported savings elsewhere.  

4.6 Human Resources and Organisational Development 

 The delays in the implementation of the SAP replacement have reduced the costs of 
borrowing to the service for 2012/13, however at this stage the remaining costs will still 
result in a pressure of £0.095m until the system is implemented and any savings from 
business process changes can be realised to offset them. 

4.7 Customer Services 

 
Savings from libraries on purchase of materials and vacancy savings along with staff savings 
in customer services are being used to offset the £0.200m delivery plan for customer 
contact centre  

Page 142



 

4.8 Delivery Plans 2012/13   
 

The Corporate Services Directorate Delivery Plan totals £3.257m for 2012/13. The 
following table shows the summary position by Red Amber and Green rating (RAG). 
 
 

Table 8 Corporate Services Directorate Delivery Plans 2012/13 
 

 
  £ 000's £ 000's £ 000's £ 000's 

Service Row Labels RED AMBER GREEN Grand 
Total 

Finance, Efficiencies, Technology & Assets   1,450 1,450 

Customer Services    480 480 

HR & OD    627 300 927 

Change Office / Cross Cutting 100  300 400 

Grand Total 100 627 2,530 3,257 
 

4.9 The following significant risks are assumed within the Delivery plan. 
 

• The £0.527m amber rated delivery plan against 3rd and 4th Tier Management 
Restructure is subject to clear costings and implementation across Directorates. 
At this stage Corporate Management Team anticipate that some of this delivery 
plan will be achieved through restructures by the year end. The delivery plan will 
be achieved for future years, and officers are reviewing the level of vacancies that 
could offset this delivery plan in the current year, at this point 50% achievement 
has been estimated.  

• The £0.100m red rated delivery plan against business support is not being 
achieved and will form part of the customer transformation project 

 
4.10 Risks and Issues 

 
• Welfare reforms 
• Procurement delivery plans 

 
4.11 Medium Term Issues 

 
• Welfare reforms 
• Changes to business rates and housing benefit administration 
• Realisation of benefits from IT/Customer project 

 
 

5.  Chief Executive’s Office 
 
5.1 Finance General Fund Revenue Forecast is a forecast underspend of (£0.010m)  
 

  Responsible Officers: Giles Perritt / Richard Longford 
 
5.2 This report sets out the Finance position for the Chief Executive’s Office, forecasting the 

year end position as at September 2012. 
 

Page 143



 

5.3  The revenue position is shown in the table below with the current year end forecast of 
(£0.010m) underspend (0.4%). 

 

Table 9 End of year revenue forecasts by department 

 

Service 

Latest 
Approved 
Budget 

Forecast 
Year End 
Position 

Variation at 
September 

2012 
£000 £000 £000 

Policy Performance and 
Partnerships 1,303 1,299 (4) 

Corporate Communications 568 584                 16 

Departmental Management 644 622 (22) 

Delivery Plans (100) (100) - 

Total 2,415 2,405 (10) 

 

5.4 Executive Office Context  
 
The rationalisation of Policy, Performance and Partnerships is now completed and the 
service is now at full establishment. There are minor underspends in staffing, supplies and 
services, and training which are offsetting reduced income from the design team. 
 
 The Executive Office continues to drive reductions in cross cutting costs such as 
consultations, print, publicity and advertising and the production of corporate 
publications.   

 

5.5 Delivery Plans 2012/13   
 

The Executive Office Delivery Plan of £0.100m for 2012/13 is current rated Amber. 
 
 

Table 10 Chief Executive’s Office Delivery Plans 2012/13 
 

 
  £ 000's £ 000's £ 000's £ 000's 

Ro Service w Labels RED AMBER GREEN Grand 
Total 

Executive Office (Rationalise Printing, 
Publicity and Advertising) 0 100 0 100 

Grand Total 0 100 0 100 

 
 
5.6 Risks and Issues 

 
• Legacy commitments (particularly to Adult Social Care and Children’s Services) 

continue to dominate our resource allocation 
• No audit of statutory requirements for policies leaves PCC exposed for 

inspections 

Page 144



 

• Poor quality assurance and concerns about the accuracy of data undermine the 
confidence stakeholders have in reports 

• Technology fails to automate manual data manipulation 
 
 
6. Corporate Items and Cross Cutting Issues 
 
6.1  Revenue budget forecasted out-turn – forecast underspend of (£1.100m) 
 
  For this second quarter report, we are reporting a (£1.100m) underspend against the 

budget for the year. This includes releasing the £0.5m contingency to offset some of the 
overall financial pressures, a reduced payment relating to a prior year estimate for carbon 
allowances of £0.1m and releasing accrued savings from treasury management activities of 
£0.5m. 

 
6.2      Capital Financing Budget /Treasury Management 
 
 The Treasury Management Board continues to meet regularly to discuss the actions in 

respect of borrowing and investments in accordance with the approved strategy.  
 

• Debt Rescheduling & Investments 
 
Council Officers and Arlingclose will continue to monitor credit conditions and further 
deposits and debt rescheduling will be made in line with the Council’s Treasury 
Management strategy when conditions are appropriate for such action. 

 
• Icelandic Bank Update    

 
 Glitnir - received £5,033,247.31 (principal £4,742,018.12 and interest £291,229.19) 

amounting to 79.03% of our agreed claim leaving a balance yet to be recovered of 
£1,335,240.36. 
 
Landsbanki – received £1,993,537.27(principal £1,887,758.90 and interest £105,778.37) 
amounting to 47.19% of our agreed claim. The amount received includes £246,162.37 
received in 12/13 (Oct) leaving a balance yet to be recovered of £2,230,598.07. 
 
Heritable – received £2,350,910.81 (principal £2,236,861.87 and interest £114,048.94) 
amounting to 74.56% of our claim. This includes £209,365.25 received in 12-13 (April and 
July) made up of principal of £199,208.37 and interest of £10,156.88 leaving a balance of 
£802,047.56 yet to be recovered. 
 

6.3 Budget Virements 
 

6.4 The Council’s net budget requirement was set by Council at its meeting on 27 February 
2012 at £203.766m. Amendments to this overall budget can only be made by Full Council. 
During the year there will be several movements in budget allocations across 
services/departments as part of the delivery of the day to day business of the Council. 
Movements in the budget are continually tracked and an audit trail held for budget 
control purposes. In addition, Financial Regulations require all budget virements in excess 
of £100,000 to be approved by Cabinet.   

 
 
 
 

Page 145



 

6.5   Cabinet are now requested to approve the budget virements detailed in Table 11. All of 
these virements balance to zero with the overall council net revenue budget remaining at 
£203.766m 

 
 
Table 11 – Virements over £100,000 for Cabinet Approval 
 
 

Virements over £100,000 £000's 

DIRECTORATE 

Revenue 
Grant Carry 
Forward/ 
Allocations 

Budget 
transfers re 
restructures 

Total 
virements 
>£100k 

PEOPLE  446 (118) 328 

PLACE 70 108 178 

CORPORATE SERVICES 0 (288) 288 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S OFFICE (151) 298 147 

CORPORATE ITEMS (365) 0 (365) 

TOTAL 0 0 0 
 
A brief explanation of these virements is as follows: 
 

6.6 Revenue Grant Carry Forward / Allocations 
    Revenue Grant Carry-Forwards as agreed by CMT including the Performance Reward 

Grant £0.151m, Pooled Budget for Youth Offending Service £0.189m, LSSG grant for 
extended rights to free travel £0.176m. 

 
6.7 Other Budgets Transfers 

Centralisation of PA support following rationalisation £0.298m, transfer of project 
resources for IT shared services £0.110m, transfer of capital strategy team and resources 
£0.407m to economic development, reallocation of business support activities and plans 
within childrens social care and education £0.220m, restructure of corporate real estate 
surveyors under economic development from Corporate Services £0.200m 
 

6.8 Virements per Table 2 
 The total virements shown in Table 2 of this report, although still netting to zero, include 

virements done during the first quarter of the financial year already approved at 
September 2012 cabinet and those adjustments which individually are <£100k and 
therefore do not require cabinet approval.  

Recommendation 
 
3.  Cabinet approve the budget virements as detailed in Table 11. 
 

Page 146



 

 
 

SECTION B – CAPITAL MONITORING 
 
7.   Capital Programme 
 
7.1  In the budget report taken to full Council in September 2012, the 2012/13 Capital 

Programme stood at £59.943m.  At the same meeting, two further reports were tabled 
that recommended additions to the capital programme which took the 2012/13 capital 
programme to £60.481m (see table 12 below).  The estimate for the 2012/13 capital 
programme is now £57.390m and how this is made up is shown in table 15 below.   

 
Table 12 – Approved Capital Spend at September 2012 Council Meeting  
 

 2012/13 
£000 

2013/14 
£000 

2014/15 
£000 

2015/16 
£000 

Total 
£000 

Q1 Capital Monitoring 59,943 36,355 16,153 2,832 115,283 

Theatre Royal Report 538 1,457 0 0 1,995 
Investment in Customer 
Transformation Report 0 1,500 0 0 1,500 

Revised Capital 
Programme 

Approved Sept 2012 
60,481 39,312 16,153 2,832 118,778 

 
 
7.2 Due to timing around the delivery of capital spend, and variations due to project slippage, 

changes in priorities, contractor performance, ability to achieve capital receipt etc. we are 
now reporting the following changes to the timing of capital spend over the next four 
financial years. It should also be noted that schemes are often included in the capital 
programme at early stages in project development when detailed estimates and feasibility 
work has not been completed to determine the detailed cashflow forecasts. The largest 
single re-profile was for the value of £1.9m which was due to re-profiling to allow the 
project programme to align building phases to the term time decants of a school. 
 
 
Table 13 – Recommended Re-profiling and Variations to Capital Spend  
 
 
2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 Re-Profiling / Other Variations 
£000 £000 £000 £000  

     

(5,212) 4,026 1,314 (128) See Appendix B for details of reprofiling 
115 (740) (300) (750) See Appendix B for details of variations 

(5,097) 3,286 1,014 (878) Total Re-Profiling / Other Variations 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 147



 

Table 14 – New Scheme to Capital Programme 
 

 
* These schemes have been subject to verbal discussions in principal at capital delivery board and 
detailed governance paperwork will be considered in future 
  
7.3 The following table shows the movement in estimated capital expenditure for 2012/13 

from the approved programme at September 12 Council, and reflects the 
recommendations in this report. 

 
Table 15 – Movement in 12/13 programme  
  

              £000 

Programme following approvals at Full Council 
September 12 

        60,481 

Re-profiling for approval  (Appendix B)  
 

(5,212) 

Variations / Virements for approval (Appendix B) 115 
New Schemes to be considered on this report 
recommending approval at 3 December Council (Table 14) 

708 

New Schemes considered in other reports at 13 November Cabinet 
recommended for approval at 3 December Council 

1,104 

New schemes already approved through delegated powers 194 
Revised (Latest Forecast)      57,390 
 
 

£000 £000 £000 £000  12/13 13/14 14/15 15/16 
26 0 0 0 Purchase of dog fouling cleaning equipment 

168 0 0 0 Solar PV 

 194    0    0    0 Schemes already approved through delegated powers 
     

87 700 963 0 2 Year Old Nursery Places * 

121 872 334 0 
Coastal Communities – funding bid in place that 
includes an element that would need to be spent 
in 2012/13 * 

0 0 0 4,829 Estimated figure for LTP funding added based on 
2014/15 allocation * included for consistency 

500 3,366 0 0 Marine Academy Primary Free School Places *  

708 4,938 1,297 4,829 
Schemes to be recommended through 
this report for approval at 3 December 
2012 Council 

250 0 0 0 Royal William Yard Steps  
854 853 0 0 Plant & Equipment Replacement  

0 810 170 0 Minibus Replacement  

1,104 1,663 170 0 

Schemes being considered by other 
reports on this cabinet agenda (projects 
more than £0.5m will go forward for 
approval at 3 December 2012 Council) 

     

2,006 6,601 1,467 4,829 Total of new Schemes  

Page 148



 

 
 

 
Capital Expenditure to Date 

 
7.4  To date, we have accrued actual spend of £17.176m which equates to 30% spend against 

the revised estimated annual spend of £57.390m.  Departments are confident that they 
will be able to deliver the vast majority of the approved capital programme in year 
however further amendments will be considered by the Capital Delivery Board, 
submitted to Cabinet and recommended to Full Council, as appropriate. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
Capital Receipts 
 
7.5 There has been pressure on the council’s ability to generate capital receipts over the last 

couple of years due to falling property and land prices.  The capital programme review 
that has been undertaken during the summer of 2012 identified a number of schemes 
which were no longer a priority or required and these are shown in the variations in 
Appendix B. They have been replaced with other schemes of a higher priority or where 
pressures were identified. The assumed requirement for capital receipts linked to these 
deleted schemes has not been transferred to fund these new or increased schemes due 
to the growing gap between receipt requirements and estimated receipts. It is felt more 
prudent to fund them by a mixture of reallocated grants and unsupported borrowing.   

 
 
7.6 The current Medium Term capital programme assumes generation of £15.625m receipts 

up to, and including, 2015/16, which is a reduction of approximately £1m.  The estimated 
capital receipts now available to fund the programme (RAG rated) from the disposal of 
land and buildings are as follows: 

 
 
Disposal of Land / Buildings 

 
£000 
 

2011/12 B/fwd  2,176 
2012/13 Estimated Receipts 4,875 
2013/14 Estimated Receipts 4,110 
2014/15 Estimated Receipts 1,628 
2015/16 Estimated Receipts 39 
  
Total 12,828 

 
 
 
 
 

Recommendations:  
 
4. Cabinet approve the re-profiling and variations to capital spend as detailed in  

Appendix B totalling (£5.097m) in 2012/13 and £3.421m in future years. 
 

5. Cabinet recommend to Full Council the new capital schemes for investment over 
£0.500m as detailed in Table 6 totalling £11.772m. 

Page 149



 

7.7 The Council uses capital receipts as part of its funding streams however the timing of 
when the capital receipts are paid into the Council does not always match up with when 
we wish to apply them to schemes. This mismatch on timing between capital receipts 
generated and capital receipts requirement has been flagged up consistently in previous 
reports.  As such, any temporary shortfall of required capital receipts will need to be 
funded by short-term unsupported borrowing that would be financed from the Capital 
Finance Reserve or the working balance, until such time as additional capital receipts are 
generated. Officers will be reviewing this position as part of the 2013/14 budget setting 
process to determine whether this is the best use of resources, or whether longer term 
borrowing would be more beneficial. 

 
Capital Medium Term Forecast 

 
7.8 Projecting forward the above changes across the next three financial years provides an 

initial capital programme as detailed in Table 16.  This is the programme based on known 
projects and funding streams. The council will remain proactive at optimising external 
grant funding wherever possible in order to continue significant capital investment in the 
city. The Council has adopted a four year Capital MTFF aligning it with the number of 
years over which the revenue MTFF is based. . The programme includes estimates of un-
ring-fenced grant so is in part a projected programme of the councils affordable position 
of capital investments, However the programme does not include potential funds which 
are to be bid for. The programme may therefore grow in future years when the council is 
successful in accessing other funding streams. 

 
 

Table 16 – Capital Medium Term Forecast & Funding 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                        
Funding Source  

2012/13 
£000 

2013/14 
£000 

2014/15 
£000 

2015/16 
£000 

Total 
£000 

Capital Receipts 7,645 6,480 1,500 0 15,625 
Unsupported Borrowing 6,898 6,708 2,310 485 16,401 
Supported Borrowing 107 0 0 0 107 
Grants & Contributions 38,404 34,409 13,735 6,298 92,846 
S106 / Tariff 1,169 173 750 0 2,092 
Revenue & Funds 3167 1430 337 0 4934 
Total 57,390 49,200 18,632 6,783 132,005 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

2012/13 
Revised 
£000 

2013/14 
Revised 
£000 

2014/15 
Revised 
£000 

2015/16 
Revised 
£000 

Total 
£000 

People 35,666 30,343 8,861 1,369 76,239
Place 14,416 15,891 8,344 4,929 43,580
Corporate Services  7,308 2,966 1,427 485 12,186

  57,390 49,200 18,632 6,783 132,005

Page 150



 

 
SECTION C - CONCLUDING REMARKS 

 
 

8.1 With diminishing financial resources, it is fundamentally important that the Council 
maintains a clear focus on delivering progress against the identified corporate and city 
priorities, and the new administration pledges. 

 
8.2 This budget monitoring report, which sets out the Council’s budget position at the end  

of the second quarter of the financial year, with a projected overspend of £3.221m. 
Departments will continue to address this overspend as we continue to target an on-
budget outturn in March 2013. 

 
8.3 The biggest element of the predicted overspend is due to demographic pressures and 

demand for Adult Social Care services. Other pressures include children’s social care, 
particularly the rise in costs of children in care with complex needs. 

 
8.4 We are now reporting for year two of our three year budget, in which we set out our 

plans to achieve budget savings of £30m by 2013/14. The shortfall identified in the 
Cabinet report is on top of the Council’s three year £30m savings target. 

 
8.5 All areas of the Council departments need to keep delivering tough budget saving delivery 

plans to reduce this serious overspend.   
 
8.6 In light of the emerging pressure in ASC, the new Chief Executive has commissioned a full 

review of all demographic pressures across the council. 
 
 

Page 151



 

 

 

A
p
p
en
d
ix A

 

P
age 152



 

 
Appendix B 
 

Recommended Re-profiling and Variations to Capital Programme  
 
2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 Re-Profiling / Other Variations 
£000 £000 £000 £000  

    Re-profiling 
(374) 374 0 0 Saltram Countryside Park 

0 (300) 300 0 Plymouth Natural Networks 
(124) 124 0 0 Various Traffic Schemes 
(200) 200 0 0 MRF upgrade project 
387 207 (466) (128) Schools - Basic Need Schemes 

(1,923) 1,764 159 0 All Saints Academy Plymouth 
(179) 179 0 0 University Technical College 
(713) 104 594 15 Broadley Park – Traveller Site 
(107) 107 0 0 Devolved Formula capital 
(458) 458 0 0 Other School Projects  
300 (300) 0 0 Data Centre Fit-out 

(800) 138 677 (15) Customer Transformation 
(1,053) 1,003 50 0 Accommodation Strategy 

32 (32) 0 0 Other Reprofiling 
(5,212) 4,026 1,314 ( 128) Total Reprofiling 

     
    Other Variations 

  140 0 0 0 Additional aiming high / short breaks 
grant 

(37) 0 0 0 Savings on refuse vehicle replacement  

(289) (900) (300) (750) 

Capital Programme review – 
reallocation of budgets from LTP, 
Accom Strategy, ICT, Condition works 
and Data Centre 

250 0 0 0 
Road re-surfacing and pothole repair – 
part of Capital Programme review 
reallocation 

0 200 0 0 
Corporate Support Transformation 
(HR & OD) – part of Capital 
Programme review reallocation 

43 0 0 0 Accommodation Strategy 
8 (40) 0 0 Other Variations 

 115 
 

( 740) ( 300) ( 750) Total Variations 

     
(5,097) 3,286 1,014 ( 878) Total Re-Profiling / Other 

Variations 
  

 
 
 

Page 153



Page 154

This page is intentionally left blank



FOR INFORMATION ONLY 
 
 

Plymouth Health and Adult Social Care Overview and Scrutiny Panel 
 

Recommendations from the Meeting Held on 26 September 2012 
NHS Regional Pay 

 
The Panel has agreed to recommend – 
 
 

1. to Plymouth Hospitals NHS Trust (PHNT) that all staff are fully engaged in the 
consultation of any changes that affect them and their views demonstrably taken into 
account; 
 

2. that PHNT formally considers the impact of any local pay scheme on the 
recruitment and retention of staff, particularly those with specialist skills; 

 
3. that PHNT formally considers the impact of any local scheme on the city and sub-

regional economy; 
 

4. that the South West Pay, Terms and Conditions Consortium formally seeks the 
views of other key public sector employers in Plymouth and the sub-region as part of 
the wider consultation process; 

 
5. that the South West Pay, Terms and Conditions Consortium and PHNT formally 

considers improved productivity, management and service redesign as an alternative 
to altering pay and conditions; 

 
6. that PHNT ensures the existing appraisal and supervision arrangements are carried 

out with 100% of staff; 
 

7. the panel notes the expenditure of seven million pounds on sickness absence within 
PHNT and requests the trust to produce an effective sickness/absence management 
strategy; 

 
8. that PHNT formulates and publishes a response to the challenges raised in the staff 

survey; 
 

9. that PHNT return to a future meeting of the panel to discuss progress against the 
above recommendations. 

 

Agenda Item 13Page 155



Page 156

This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
 

Customers and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Panel 
 

Work Programme 2012/13 
 
 

 
Work Programme 

 
J J A S O N D J F M A 

Task and Finish            

 
Library Modernisation 
 

           

 
Social Fund Replacement (part of 
Welfare Reform) 
 

   24 2 & 
8 7      

 
Compact 
 

      tbc     

Updates            

 
Plymouth Life Centre / Leisure 
Management Contract  
 

     7      

 
Police Crime Panels/Commissioner 
 

   12  7     3 

 
Noise Nuisance 
 

        6   

 
Government Policy Changes 
 

           

 
 
N.B – items will be automatically deleted from the work programme once they have been considered by the 
Panel 

Agenda Item 14Page 157



Page 158

This page is intentionally left blank



Growth and Prosperity Overview and Scrutiny 

Draft Work Programme 2012/13 

 

 

Work programme 
 J J A S O N D J F M A 

General  items              

Departmental verbal updates (as required)  4          

Update on Government Policy changes  4 1 19  21   20 1  

Local Economic Partnerships – Heart of the 
South West    19        

Economic Development            

Minutes of the Growth Board   1         

Events and Visitor Plan      21      

Youth Unemployment Update / Plan for Jobs      21      

Connectivity: Broadband    19     20   

Commercial Assets Strategy            

Welfare Reform Pooling of Business Rates            

Inward Investment      21      

Transport & Highways            

Community Events and Road Closure Policy 
Update (Briefing Paper on policy) 

 

   19 
 
 
 
 

  
 
 
 
 

   

Evaluation of Gydnia Way Changes  

 

  1         

Page 159



 
 

 

Work programme 
 J J A S O N D J F M A 

Connectivity: Rail Franchise            

Highways Maintenance (inc. cycle tracks and 
Transport and Highways Partnerships)    19        

On street parking review (briefing paper and 
presentation)   1         

On Street Trading            

*Road Safety Awareness            

*Street Naming and Numbering      21      

Planning Services 
 
 

  
 

 
 

  
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
Local Development Framework Annual 
Monitoring Data (web based presentation) 
 

   
 

 
 

 
 

 
20 

  

Private sector Housing Stock Condition 
(briefing paper) 

   
 

 
21 

 
 

   

Housing Delivery Plan 
   

 
 

21 
 

 
 
20 

  

Guidance on use of resources in connection 
with planning applications 

   
19 

 
 

 
 

   

Plymouth Plan – update 
    

 

 
  

 
 

 
May 

Market Recovery Scheme 
   

19 
 

21 
 

 
 
20 

  

*Government proposals on Planning system 
   

 
 

21 
 

 
   

City and Council Priorities 

   

 

 

 

 

 

   

Page 160



 
 

 

Work programme 
 J J A S O N D J F M A 

• Delivering Growth            

• Raising Aspiration 
           

• Reducing Inequalities            

• Value for Communities 
   

 
 

 
 

 
   

Other Topics  
   

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

  

Joint Finance and Performance Monitoring 
including LAA Performance Monitoring 
(subject to the Overview and Scrutiny 
Management Board referring issues to the 
Panel) 

   

 

 

 

 

 

   

Bi-annual Scrutiny Report 
   

 
 

 
 
  

  
 

 

Task and Finish Groups 
   

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 

Subsidised bus routes/cross 
ticketing/patronage/accessibility  

 

   

 

 

 

 

 

   

Youth Unemployment (young people with 
special educational needs and disabilities) (Joint 
T&F Group) 

   

 

 

 

 

 

   

 
Key 
* New item 
 
N.B – items will be automatically deleted from the work programme once they have been considered 
by the Panel. 

Page 161



Page 162

This page is intentionally left blank



Health and Adult Social Care Overview and Scrutiny Panel 

Work Programme 2012/13 

 
Topics 

 

J J A S O N D J F M A 
13 
/14 

Health Integration Programme 
 

 
Healthwatch 
 

 19          
 

Health and Wellbeing Board / Joint Strategic 
Needs Assessment (JSNA) / Joint Health 
and Wellbeing Strategy (JHWBS) 

   13     28   

 

Government Policy Changes (updated as 
announced)             

 

Public Health Transition    13    24    
 

Joint Priorities 
 

Alcohol Strategy (Task and Finish)      X      
 

Dementia Strategy  19      24    
 

Safeguarding Vulnerable People (review of 
recommendations)        24    

 

NHS Devon Cluster Primary Care Trust 
 

NEW Devon, Clinical Commissioning Group (Western Locality) 
 

Commissioning Intentions 
  

 
 

 
 
 22 

 
 

 
 

  

Plymouth NHS Hospitals Trust 
 

Hospital Discharge Process (TBC) 
   

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
  

Winter Planning 
   

 
 

22 
 

 
 

 
  

Car Parking 
   

 
 

22 
 

 
 

 
  

Foundation Trust Business Case (Date TBC 
by PHNT) 

  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  

Page 163



 
 

 
Topics 

 

J J A S O N D J F M A 
13 
/14 

Plymouth City Council – Adult Social Care 
 

Social Care Transformation Programme        24    
 

Plymouth Community Healthcare 
 

Capital Investment in Glenbourne Unit    13       11 
 
X 

Recovery Pathways (Mental Health Service)  19    22      
 

Performance Monitoring 
 

Adult Social Care        24    
 

Quality Accounts           11 
 

Referred by Local Involvement Network 
 

Services for Gypsies and Travellers (TBC)            
 

 

Page 164



Support Services Overview and Scrutiny Panel 

Work Programme 2012 - 2013 

 
 

Proposed work programme 
 

J J A S O N D J F M A 

 
Finance, Efficiencies, Technology and Assets 
 
Shared Services Programme Review   6    19      

Carbon Management update      1       

Civic Centre update (Accommodation 
Strategy)     1       

ICT improvements update    6         

 
Customer Services 
Revenues and Benefits Monthly Position 
Statement 
 

    1       

 
Human Resources and Organisational Development 

School Academy Transfer update   6   19      
Review other authorities’ occupational health 
services and sickness (referred by Audit 
Committee on 16.12.11) 

 2          

Human Resources Workforce Update            

Sickness Policy Review   6         

Interim Staff Survey      19      

 
Democracy and Governance 
             

 
Corporate Communications 

Social Networking Review       19      

 
Policy, Performance and Partnerships 
 
Community Engagement update             

 
Other Issues 

Page 165



 
 

 
Proposed work programme 

 
J J A S O N D J F M A 

Government Policy Changes     1 19   11  8 

 
City and Council Priorities 

Value for Communities        
 

   
 

 

 
Task and Finish Groups 

Council Tax Scheme review (Welfare Reform)            
Shared Services (DELT ICT Shared Services)            

 
Key 
 
* New item 
 
N.B – items will be automatically deleted from the work programme once they have been considered 
by the Panel. 

 

Page 166



 

Overview and Scrutiny Management Board 

Work Programme 2012/13 

 

Topics J J A S O N D J F M A M 

 
Budget Scrutiny  
 

  

     

9, 
14 
& 
16 

    

Cabinet response to budget 
scrutiny recommendations 

  
    12      

Budget Scrutiny Process Review 
(Min 84 (2) refers) 

  
          

Medium Term Financial Strategy             

Scrutiny Bi-Annual / Annual 
Scrutiny Report  

 
          

Leader and Chief Executive 13 
 

   14   13    

*Cabinet Members  
 

    12      

Review 2011 Interim Staff Survey 
Results (Minute (70 (8) refers) 

     
 

      

Welfare Reform 
  

25 
  

5 
 

 
 

 
12 

     

Police and Crime Panel 
     

 
      

Finance and Performance 
Reporting 

     
 14 

      

Child Poverty Strategy 
     

14 
   

13 
   

Government Policy Changes 
     

 
      

Finance – Capital and Revenue 
Monitoring Report 

     
3 14 

 
12 

     

MPs Meeting 
    

21 
 
  

 
 

  
 

   

*Plymouth Plan 
     

 
      

Youth Unemployment (how 
successful young people with 
special educational needs and 
disabilities are in gaining 
employment) 
 

     

 

   
 

   

Page 167



 
 
 

*  - indicates new a new item 
 
NB – items will be automatically deleted from the work programme once they have been 
considered by the Board. 

Page 168



   

REQUEST FOR SCRUTINY 
WORK PROGRAMME ITEM 

      
 

 
 

 Title of Work 
Programme Item 
 

The Compact and relationship between PCC and the 
Voluntary and Community Sector 

2 Responsible Director 
(s)  

Carole Burgoyne (Director of People) 

3 Responsible Officer 
 
 
 
 
Tel No.   
 

TBC 
 
 
 

307782 
 

4 Relevant Cabinet 
Member(s) 

Cllr Chris Penberthy (Portfolio holder for Cooperatives and 
Community Development) 

 
5 Objectives To advise on how best to further develop our relationship with 

the Voluntary and Community Sector (VCS) taking into account 
the principles of a Co-operative Council and commissioning of 
infrastructure and volunteering services   

6 Who will benefit? 
 
 
 

PCC in developing stronger ties with the VCS. 
 
The VCS in enabling them to have more of an influence on the 
direction and delivery of city priorities and PCC services. 

7 Criteria for Choosing 
Topics (see table at 
end of document) 
 

• High budgetary commitment 
• New government guidance or legislation 
• Issue consistently identified by Members as key through 

constituency activity  
• Public interest issue covered in local media 

 
8 What will happen if we 

don’t do this review? 
 

The review of our relationship with the VCS would still happen, 
but without the benefit of an independent scrutiny    

9 What are we going to 
do? 

Task and finish group. 
 

10 How are we going to 
do it? (witnesses, site 
visits, background 
information etc.) 
 

Background information 
Scrutiny reports supplied by officers 
Witnesses. 

11 What we won’t do. N/A 
12 Timetable & Key 

Dates 
31.12.12 Notification of decision on renewal of current relevant 
contracts  
31.3.12 Relevant contracts cease.  

Version and date  Not protectively marked 
 

Agenda Item 15Page 169



13 Links to other projects 
or initiatives / plans 

The VCS is an essential partner in assisting PCC to meet its 
core priorities and manifesto pledges.  

14 Relevant Overview and 
Scrutiny Panel / 
Membership if Task 
and Finish Group (to 
be decided by OSP 
before submission to 
OMB 

TBC 

15 Where will the report 
go?  Who will make 
the final decision 
 

The report will go to the Portfolio holder for Cooperatives and 
Community Development to enable him to work with the VCS 
on our developing healthy productive relationship.  
 

16 Resources (staffing, 
research, experts, sites 
visits and so on) 
 

Staffing from across several departments 
Scrutiny reports supplied by officers 
Witnesses from the CVS. 

 
17 Is this part of a 

statutory responsibility 
on the panel? 

N/A 

18 Should any other panel 
be involved in this 
review?  If so who and 
why? 

N/A 

19 Will the task and finish 
group benefit from co-
opting any person(s) 
onto the panel. 

Yes – Co-opted person to be decided. 

20 How does this link to 
corporate priorities? 

Our relationship with the VCS is an essential ingredient in 
assisting PCC to meet its Core priorities and manifesto pledges. 
 
 

 

 

Page 170


	Agenda
	3 MINUTES
	5 TRACKING DECISIONS
	7 URGENT EXECUTIVE DECISIONS
	8 NOTICE OF FORTHCOMING KEY EXECUTIVE DECISIONS AND PRIVATE BUSINESS
	10 CHILD POVERTY STRATEGY - PROGRESS UPDATE
	Appendix 1 feedback from consultation on needs assessment
	Appendix 2 Child Poverty Needs Assessment document OSMB FINAL
	Appendix 3Engagement and consultation for OSMB

	11 FINANCE AND PERFORMANCE REPORTING
	12 FINANCE - CAPITAL AND REVENUE MONITORING REPORT (INCLUDING ADDITIONS TO THE CAPITAL PROGRAMME TO BE APPROVED AT COUNCIL)
	13 RECOMMENDATIONS
	14 WORK PROGRAMMES
	C  GPOSP Work Programme  21 November 2012
	Health and Adult Social Care Work Programme
	D Work Programme November
	MB work programme 14.11.12

	15 PROJECT INITIATION DOCUMENTS (PIDS)

